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The 1995 purchase of the  

construction aggregates  

business of Dravo Corporation 

established Martin Marietta 

as the nation’s second largest 

aggregates producer and laid 

the foundation for the most 

extensive distribution  

network in the industry.
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F I N A N C I A L  H I G H L I G H T S

1 Net sales exclude freight and delivery revenues; such revenues are included in total revenues in accordance with EITF 00-10, Accounting for Shipping 
and Handling Fees and Costs, on the Consolidated Statements of Earnings on page 13.

 
2 Earnings per common share exclude the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle.  In 2003, the Corporation recorded a $0.14 per  

basic and diluted share charge as the cumulative effect of adopting Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 143, Accounting for Asset 
Retirement Obligations. 

 
3 The Corporation calculates its debt-to-total capitalization ratio as total debt, net of available cash and the effect of interest rate swaps, divided by 

the sum of total debt, net of available cash and the effect of interest rate swaps, plus shareholders’ equity. Total debt, net of available cash and 
the effect of interest rate swaps, is calculated by subtracting from debt (i) the impact of interest rate swaps included in the debt balance; (ii) cash 
in banks; and (iii) cash held in escrow. The Corporation’s calculation of debt-to-total capitalization is included on its Web site at 

 www.martinmarietta.com

  2004  2003____________________________________________________________________________________________________

Total revenues $ 1,759,613 $ 1,684,548

Net sales1 $ 1,551,327 $ 1,476,146

Earnings from operations $ 226,592 $ 195,455

Earnings before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle $ 129,163 $ 100,497

Net earnings $ 129,163 $ 93,623 

Basic earnings per common share2 $ 2.68 $ 2.05

Diluted earnings per common share2 $ 2.66 $ 2.05

Cash dividends per common share $ 0.76 $ 0.69

Debt-to-total capitalization ratio3  32%  34%

Common shares outstanding at year end  47,306,000  48,670,000

Earnings from

Operations

‘00 ‘01 ‘02 ‘03 ‘04

(in millions)

Net Sales1

‘00 ‘01 ‘02 ‘03 ‘04

(in millions)

Net Earnings

‘00 ‘01 ‘02 ‘03 ‘04

(in millions)
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L E T T E R  T O  S H A R E H O L D E R S

2004 was a very good year as we built on the momentum of the economic recovery begun in the second half of 
2003. Our focus on cost and efficiency improvement enabled us to achieve record net income of $129.2 million, 
an increase of 29% over the prior year. Net sales of $1.551 billion were up 5% as we reduced our vertical integra-
tion by divesting underperforming operations in asphalt, ready mixed concrete and construction, while investing 
in key aggregates production and distribution facilities.

Cash generation, which is a point of focus, continued to be excellent with EBITDA (earnings before interest, 
taxes, depreciation and amortization) reaching a record $364 million, up 12% from the prior year. During 
the year, we increased dividends to shareholders by 11%, repurchased over 1.5 million shares of our com-
mon stock for $75 million, made a $51 million voluntary contribution into our pension plans and increased 
capital investment in our businesses by $43 million over the prior year. We believe that these actions were 
beneficial to both our shareholders and our employees.

While we are extremely proud of our financial accomplishments, the key achievement of 2004 was record 
safety performance. In the past few years, we have implemented a decision-based safety program, focused 
on creating carefully considered, safer decisions by our employees. We have seen significant results from this 
program, which translate into a safer workplace and lower workers’ compensation and liability costs. Last 
year, we experienced a 21% reduction in injuries from the prior year with the incidence rate at a record low, 
reflecting our best safety performance as a public company.

During the year, we continued to see the benefits of our Best Practices Program on our aggregates plants’ 
production costs. In a year in which energy, steel and manganese, and health and medical costs climbed 
sharply throughout the economy, we were able to offset virtually all of these increases, plus absorb the impact 
of normal wage increases with less than a 1% change in unit production cost. We expect this program to 
continue to contribute to positive results in the coming years.

We also made some important strategic moves in our aggregates business during the year. Capacity at our Nova 
Scotia granite operation was increased from 3.2 million tons annually to 4.8 million tons, which will enable us 
to increase our market penetration along the southeast coast and in the Gulf of Mexico coastal markets via 
deepwater ship delivery.  In Charleston, South Carolina, we secured a large-scale port facility, enabling us to 
increase our presence in this high-growth area. We sold three of our Houston, Texas asphalt plants to a large, 
privately held contractor who will operate these facilities from their locations on our rail distribution yards. In 
turn, we are expanding our aggregates distribution network in Houston and South Texas to meet increasing 
demand. We also completed construction of a new plant in Pinesburg, Maryland, near Richmond, Virginia, 
which increased capacity by a much needed 30%. At the end of the year, we formed a 50/50 joint venture 
with Hunt Midwest Enterprises to operate the quarries of both companies in the greater Kansas City area.  
Martin Marietta is the managing partner for the new company, Hunt Martin Materials. This new enterprise is 
the largest aggregates producer in the area, with annual shipments of approximately 7.5 million tons and a 
combined cost structure that will capture operating and administrative synergies.

Our efforts to restructure the Magnesia Specialties business and operate with a more focused, cost-effective 
business model paid excellent dividends during 2004. Revenue of $106 million increased 23% over the 
prior year, while operating earnings of $17.1 million more than tripled from the prior year earnings of $5.5 
million. At our dolomitic lime facility in Woodville, Ohio, we experienced strong demand from the steel 
industry, which supported solid price increases and cost-effective production despite rising energy costs. Our 
magnesia chemicals facility at Manistee, Michigan, which, like Woodville, Ohio, is also the largest of its kind 
in North America, ramped up production sharply to support increased sales of magnesium hydroxide slurry 
for use in wastewater treatment and flue gas scrubbing at power plants. We also had positive results from 
our long-term agreement to supply by-product calcium chloride brine to Dow Chemical at their Ludington, 
Michigan plant. This agreement has produced a sustainable revenue and earnings component for our mag-
nesia chemicals business.

Our focus 
on cost and 
efficiency 
improvement 
enabled us to 
achieve record 
net income.

Stephen P. Zelnak, Jr.
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The only area in which we did not meet or exceed our objectives for the year was in our fledgling Structural Composites 
business.  We encountered about six months of unexpected delays in getting our new manufacturing facility on line to 
produce truck and trailer components, bridge decks and flat panel products.  The delays slowed our marketing effort, 
which, given the unique characteristics of our composite products, is built around product trials.  Late in 2004, we signed 
a product development agreement with a major company related to recreational vehicles.  In early 2005, we signed an 
exclusive agreement with the Greenbriar Companies related to the use of our technology in their manufacture of insulated 
rail cars.  During the year, we completed an agreement to manufacture trailer bodies for a document shredding company 
and signed an agreement with a distributor for our flat panel products.  We expect these and other initiatives to create more 
opportunity in the Structural Composites business in 2005.

As a company, and as individuals, we continue to focus on ethical behavior. We initiated a formal ethics program for 
all employees two decades ago and believe that our focus on ethical behavior is a key underpinning to the culture and 
success of Martin Marietta Materials. We will continue to provide ethics training to all employees, and we continue to 
demand adherence to the highest standards of honesty and integrity in our business practices.

As we look ahead, we are excited about our prospects in 2005 and beyond. Over the past ten years, we have built an 
aggregates distribution network that is second-to-none in our industry. With that job basically behind us, we are in the 
early stages of capitalizing on what we see as above average growth and a tight supply of aggregates in many coastal 
areas of the Southeast and Gulf Coast states. We are also well positioned with an array of truck-served quarries in major 
growth markets in the Southeast and Southwest. Our focus on plant modernization and our Best Practices Program cre-
ates continuing opportunity for cost effectiveness.

In our Magnesia Specialties business, we introduced our Cellguard™ product for use in paper mills and have licensed 
the rights to Thioguard™ for use in sewage systems in certain areas of the Midwest. We have also increased our 
capacity to produce magnesium hydroxide powder for applications in plastic, rubber and other materials. Our lime 
production capacity is increasing in 2005, and we are evaluating a larger scale expansion later in the year.

In our Structural Composites business, we have passed the initial development and testing hurdles for a wide array of 
transportation, construction and military products. Our objective is to build a revenue base in 2005 that will move this 
business forward into an important growth opportunity for Martin Marietta Materials.

A few years ago, we successfully completed the installation of new enterprise software to operate our information systems.  
We are now leveraging that effort to create better management information tools and more useful customer service appli-
cations. These efforts have been recognized by our selection to the InformationWeek 500 for the past three years.

During the year, we focused on implementing the requirements for internal control over financial reporting as required by 
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. These requirements are tedious and detailed, requiring considerable effort, staffing and 
additional cost. However, we approached the exercise as an opportunity to find ways to streamline our processes, to elimi-
nate opportunities for error and to improve cost effectiveness. We believe that we have done this well and will continue to 
reap the benefits in the coming years.

As we move into the new year, I would like to thank our 5,600 employees for their exemplary efforts, which led to our 
record year in 2004. They are the reason for our success.

During 2004, two members of our Board of Directors, Richard G. Adamson and Bobby F. Leonard, reached mandatory 
retirement age.  Both of these gentlemen served from the 1994 inception of Martin Marietta Materials as a public 
company. They were valued Board members who served with distinction, and they will be missed.

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I thank our shareholders for their support as we move our business forward.   
We will continue to strive to deliver above average returns to those who invest in our Company.

Respectfully,

Stephen P. Zelnak, Jr. 
Chairman, Board of Directors
President and Chief Executive Officer

February 21, 2005

We believe  
that our focus 
on ethical  
behavior is a key 
underpinning to 
the success of 
Martin Marietta 
Materials.



Generations of 
innovation.

 
Woodleaf Quarry, North Carolina – safety presentation

Modernization of production facilities adds 
efficiency and serves the growing demand 
for materials.

A network of more than 300 locations furnishes stone 
for America’s bridges, highways, schools and churches. 
Products from Martin Marietta Materials locations 
build the world around you.

1940 



It’s not just what we make,  
    it’s what we make possible®.
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Helping Build America for More Than 65 Years. From highways, bridges and airports to hospitals, schools 
and shopping centers, Martin Marietta Materials has supplied products to build the world around you for 
more than 65 years. Through heritage quarries that furnished stone for America’s building blocks — including  
railroads, the Interstate system and even the Alaska Highway — to today’s network of more than 300 operations 
in the United States, Canada and the Bahamas, Martin Marietta is an industry leader committed to providing 
quality products that meet the needs of a growing economy.

As Martin Marietta celebrates its tenth anniversary as a public company, it looks back at a proud legacy and 
forward with a vision for an even better tomorrow.

The Beginnings. The success of today was built upon the determination and foresight of aggregates industry 
pioneers. In the Southeast, Superior Stone Company incorporated in the summer of 1939 to supply ballast stone 
from its Red Hill, Virginia quarry for the Southern Railway Company to build a main line rail from Washington, 
D.C., to Charlotte, North Carolina. As a transportation focal point — featuring major Interstates and rail service 
— Charlotte has since become one of the most prosperous cities, and the second largest banking center, in 
the United States. From that first successful operation, Superior Stone quickly grew into one of the largest 
producers of crushed stone, sand and gravel throughout Virginia, the Carolinas and Georgia.

In 1908, a small producer in Iowa began mining aggregates for what would become Concrete Materials and 
Construction Company. From these heritage midwest operations, crushed stone streamed north for construction 
of the Alaska Highway. Built from March to October 1942 by the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, this vital national 
defense project created a 1,523-mile overland route through the Canadian wilderness to Fairbanks, Alaska.

The predecessor to today’s Martin Marietta Magnesia Specialties was founded in 1888 as the Standard 
Lime and Stone Company in Maryland. By 1914, Standard Lime had expanded and built a lime plant near 
Woodville, Ohio, for agricultural, chemical and masonry products. In 1945, Martin Marietta opened a mag-
nesia facility in Manistee, Michigan, to supply refractory products to the steel mills that would take America 

 
Kings Mountain Quarry, North Carolina – second operation opened by Superior Stone Salisbury Shop, North Carolina – repair shop employees

c.1960 1967 



through the post-war boom of the 1950s. These operations would grow to become one of the world’s leading 
magnesia chemical producers and the largest dolomitic lime facility in North America. 

Together, these companies form the keystone for today’s Martin Marietta Materials.

Disciplined Growth. Martin Marietta Materials, Inc., began 1994 by completing the initial public offering of 
its stock. The newly public company ended the year by finalizing the acquisition of the construction aggregates 
business of Dravo Corporation. This transaction established Martin Marietta Materials as the second largest 
aggregates producer in the United States, solidified the Company goal of disciplined growth and provided a 
foundation for what would become the most extensive aggregates distribution network in the industry.

In 1997, a major consolidation step was accomplished when the Company completed its largest single acquisition 
to date through the purchase of the common stock of American Aggregates Company. This established Martin 
Marietta as a leading supplier in Indiana and Ohio and further expanded its platform for growth. 

A strong balance sheet and positive cash generation enabled Martin Marietta to continue to capitalize on 
key acquisition and growth opportunities, including two significant events in 1998. The Company purchased 
Redland Stone Products, the largest aggregates producer in Texas, and invested in one of the top aggregates 
producers in the United States, Meridian Aggregates Company. 

These transactions added more than 40 million tons of annual aggregates capacity, moved Martin Marietta 
Materials into a leading position in the southwestern United States and significantly enhanced the Company’s 
rail distribution network.

Since its initial public offering, Martin Marietta Materials has been among the fastest growing major aggregates 
companies in the country and a driving force in industry consolidation.

People Make It Happen. While acquisitions, distribution networks and forward-thinking initiatives are 
essential to success, people still make the difference at Martin Marietta. Only through their hard work has 
the Company emerged as an industry leader within the past 10 years. Each year, the Company honors out-
standing efforts through a series of recognition rewards and events, which celebrate all that these employees 
embody — the core values of Martin Marietta. 

As ambassadors for the Company, employees are expected to uphold the highest ethical and professional 
standards in a demanding operating environment. Martin Marietta conducts business with fairness, honesty 
and integrity. Doing the job the right way is always the best way.

Martin Marietta Materials, Inc. and Consolidated Subsidiaries        page eight

Magnesia Specialties, Woodville, Ohio – Standard Lime & Stone Company
 
New Bern Quarry, North Carolina – scale house
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Tomorrow and Beyond. Martin Marietta has been there for much more than just the past decade. The 
Company was there when interstate highways revolutionized commercial shipping and private transportation 
in the United States. Martin Marietta was there when aggregates were needed to build infrastructure critical to 
national defense. Martin Marietta was there when schools, hospitals, shopping centers, airports and firehouses 
emerged across a growing nation.

Today, Martin Marietta Aggregates is here to build the places where you work, live, learn and play. Martin 
Marietta Magnesia Specialties is here to provide products that enhance everyday items from ceramics to 
sugar. Martin Marietta Composites is here as a leader in developing polymer technology — among the most 
advanced structural materials available. 

Through strategic acquisitions, Martin Marietta Materials spread from southeastern and midwestern roots to 
locations throughout the United States, Canada and the Bahamas, serving as a model for strategic growth, 
innovative product development and ethical business practices. As a nation grew, Martin Marietta was there. 
Over the past 10 years, the Company has expanded, modernized and diversified, but the story is just begin-
ning. The Company that helped lay the foundation for a strong economy is committed to meeting the chal-
lenges and opportunities of tomorrow. At Martin Marietta Materials, it’s what we make possible.

A decade of 
possibility.
Martin Marietta Materials —  
Celebrating 10 years.

 
New Bern Quarry, North Carolina – scale house

  
Portable Plant, Iowa

Martin Marietta has the most  
extensive distribution network in  
the aggregates industry.

1940 
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Shareholders 

Martin Marietta Materials, Inc.

The management of Martin Marietta Materials, Inc., is responsible for the consolidated financial statements, the related financial 
information contained in this 2004 Annual Report and the establishment and maintenance of adequate internal control over 
financial reporting. The consolidated balance sheets for Martin Marietta Materials, Inc., at December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the 
related consolidated statements of earnings, shareholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended 
December 31, 2004, include amounts based on estimates and judgments and have been prepared in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States applied on a consistent basis.

A system of internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance, in a cost-effective manner, that 
assets are safeguarded, transactions are executed and recorded in accordance with management’s authorization, accountability for 
assets is maintained and financial statements are prepared and presented fairly in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States.  Internal control systems over financial reporting have inherent limitations and may not prevent or 
detect misstatements. Therefore, even those systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect 
to financial statement preparation and presentation.  

The Corporation operates in an environment that establishes an appropriate system of internal control over financial reporting and 
ensures that the system is maintained, assessed and monitored on a periodic basis.  This internal control system includes examinations 
by internal audit staff and oversight by the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors.  

The Corporation’s management recognizes its responsibility to foster a strong ethical climate. Management has issued written 
policy statements that document the Corporation’s business code of ethics.  The importance of ethical behavior is regularly com-
municated to all employees through the distribution of the Code of Ethics and Standards of Conduct booklet and through ongoing 
education and review programs designed to create a strong commitment to ethical business practices.

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, which consists of six independent, nonemployee directors, meets periodically 
and separately with management, the independent auditors and the internal auditors to review the activities of each. The Audit 
Committee meets standards established by the Securities and Exchange Commission and the New York Stock Exchange as they 
relate to the composition and practices of audit committees.

Management of Martin Marietta Materials, Inc., assessed the effectiveness of the Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting 
as of December 31, 2004. In making this assessment, management used the criteria set forth in Internal Control — Integrated 
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Based on management’s 
assessment under the framework in Internal Control — Integrated Framework, management concluded that the Corporation’s inter-
nal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2004. 

The consolidated financial statements and management’s assertion regarding its assessment of internal control over financial 
reporting have been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, whose reports appear on 
the following pages.

Stephen P. Zelnak, Jr. 
Chairman, Board of Directors 
President and Chief Executive Officer

February 21, 2005

S T A T E M E N T  O F  F I N A N C I A L  R E S P O N S I B I L I T Y

Janice K. Henry 
Senior Vice President
Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
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R E P O R T  O F  I N D E P E N D E N T  R E G I S T E R E D  P U B L I C  A C C O U N T I N G  F I R M

Board of Directors and Shareholders  

Martin Marietta Materials, Inc.

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Statement of Financial Responsibility, that Martin 
Marietta Materials, Inc., maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on criteria 
established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission (the COSO criteria). Martin Marietta Materials, Inc.’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal 
control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility 
is to express an opinion on management’s assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s internal control over 
financial reporting based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). 
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control 
over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control 
over financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of 
internal control, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit 
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability 
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain 
to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets 
of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial 
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are 
being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable 
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that 
could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.  Also, projections 
of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes 
in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that Martin Marietta Materials, Inc., maintained effective internal control over financial 
reporting as of December 31, 2004, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the COSO criteria. Also, in our opinion, Martin 
Marietta Materials, Inc., maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 
2004, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consoli-
dated balance sheets of Martin Marietta Materials, Inc., and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the related consolidated 
statements of earnings, shareholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2004 of Martin 
Marietta Materials, Inc., and subsidiaries and our report dated February 21, 2005 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Raleigh, North Carolina

February 21, 2005
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R E P O R T  O F  I N D E P E N D E N T  R E G I S T E R E D  P U B L I C  A C C O U N T I N G  F I R M

Board of Directors and Shareholders   

Martin Marietta Materials, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Martin Marietta Materials, Inc., and subsidiaries at December 
31, 2004 and 2003, and the related consolidated statements of earnings, shareholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three 
years in the period ended December 31, 2004. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Corporation’s management.  
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). 
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 
are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable 
basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position 
of Martin Marietta Materials, Inc., and subsidiaries at December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the consolidated results of their operations 
and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2004, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted 
accounting principles.

As discussed in Note N to the consolidated financial statements, in 2003 the Corporation adopted Statement of Financial Accounting 
Standards No. 143, Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations, and changed its method of accounting for asset retirement obligations. As 
discussed in Note B to the consolidated financial statements, in 2002 the Corporation adopted Statement of Financial Accounting 
Standards No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, and changed its method of accounting for intangible assets. 

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the 
effectiveness of Martin Marietta Materials, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, based 
on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the 
Treadway Commission and our report dated February 21, 2005 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon. 

Raleigh, North Carolina

February 21, 2005
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C O N S O L I D A T E D  S T A T E M E N T S  O F  E A R N I N G S  for years ended December 31

(add 000, except per share)  2004  2003  2002_____________________________________________________________________________________________________
Net Sales $ 1,551,327 $ 1,476,146   $ 1,400,386
Freight and delivery revenues  208,286  208,402  188,167     ________________________________________________
Total revenues  1,759,613  1,684,548  1,588,553 _____________________________________________________________________________________________________
Cost of sales  1,209,137  1,166,617  1,112,935
Freight and delivery costs  208,286     208,402  188,167     ________________________________________________
Total cost of revenues  1,417,423  1,375,019  1,301,102_____________________________________________________________________________________________________
Gross Profit  342,190  309,529  287,451
Selling, general and administrative expenses  127,676  120,540  113,300
Research and development  891  612  369
Other operating (income) and expenses, net    (12,969)  (7,078)  (4,709)_____________________________________________________________________________________________________
Earnings from Operations  226,592  195,455  178,491
Interest expense   42,954  42,587  44,028
Other nonoperating (income) and expenses, net  (1,084)  429  11,476_____________________________________________________________________________________________________
Earnings from continuing operations before taxes on income   
   and cumulative effect of change in accounting principle  184,722  152,439  122,987
Taxes on income  56,543  45,198  32,161_____________________________________________________________________________________________________
Earnings from Continuing Operations before Cumulative  
   Effect of Change in Accounting Principle  128,179  107,241  90,826
Gain (Loss) on discontinued operations, net of related tax
   effect of $2,113, $(2,693) and $14,294, respectively      984  (6,744)  6,989_____________________________________________________________________________________________________
Earnings before Cumulative Effect of Change 
   in Accounting Principle  129,163  100,497  97,815
Cumulative effect of change in accounting for asset retirement
   obligations, net of related tax benefit of $4,498  ––  (6,874)  ––
Cumulative effect of change in accounting 
   for intangible assets          ––  ––  (11,510)_____________________________________________________________________________________________________
Net Earnings $ 129,163 $ 93,623 $ 86,305____________________________________
Net Earnings Per Common Share
 – Basic from continuing operations before cumulative 
       effect of change in accounting principle  $ 2.66 $ 2.19 $ 1.87
 – Discontinued operations   0.02  (0.14)  0.14 _________________________________________________ 
 – Basic before cumulative effect of change
  in accounting principle   2.68  2.05  2.01
 – Cumulative effect of change in 
   accounting principle            ––  (0.14)   (0.24) _________________________________________________ 
 $ 2.68 $ 1.91 $ 1.77 __________________
 – Diluted from continuing operations before cumulative 
       effect of change in accounting principle $ 2.64 $ 2.19 $ 1.86
 – Discontinued operations  0.02  (0.14)  0.14 _________________________________________________ 
 – Diluted before cumulative effect of change
       in accounting principle  2.66  2.05  2.00
 – Cumulative effect of change in 
       accounting principle            ––  (0.14)  (0.23) _________________________________________________ 
 $ 2.66 $ 1.91 $ 1.77____________________________________
Weighted-Average Common Shares Outstanding
 – Basic  48,142  48,905  47,727
 – Diluted  48,534  49,136  48,858____________________________________
Cash Dividends Per Common Share $ 0.76 $ 0.69 $        0.58____________________________________
The notes on pages 17 to 33 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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C O N S O L I D A T E D  B A L A N C E  S H E E T S  at December 31

Assets (add 000)    2004  2003_____________________________________________________________________________________________________
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 161,620 $ 125,133
Accounts receivable, net    219,589  231,514
Inventories, net    209,309  213,843
Current portion of notes receivable    4,655  3,064
Current deferred income tax benefits    5,750  21,603
Other current assets    23,330  15,494_____________________________________________________________________________________________________
Total Current Assets    624,253  610,651_____________________________________________________________________________________________________

Property, plant and equipment, net    1,065,215  1,042,432
Goodwill     567,495  577,586
Other intangibles, net    18,642  25,142
Noncurrent notes receivable    26,501  17,668
Other noncurrent assets    53,746  45,746_____________________________________________________________________________________________________
Total Assets   $ 2,355,852 $ 2,319,225____________________________________
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity (add 000, except parenthetical share data)_____________________________________________________________________________________________________
Current Liabilities:
Bank overdraft   $ 9,527 $ 11,264
Accounts payable    89,949  76,576
Accrued salaries, benefits and payroll taxes    22,710  29,287
Pension and postretirement benefits    4,199  36,176
Accrued insurance and other taxes    35,904  37,927
Income taxes    10,697  2,833
Current maturities of long-term debt    970  1,068
Other current liabilities    29,857  27,620_____________________________________________________________________________________________________
Total Current Liabilities    203,813  222,751_____________________________________________________________________________________________________

Long-term debt     713,661  717,073
Pension, postretirement and postemployment benefits    88,241  76,917
Noncurrent deferred income taxes    139,179  116,647
Other noncurrent liabilities    57,531  55,990_____________________________________________________________________________________________________
Total Liabilities    1,202,425  1,189,378_____________________________________________________________________________________________________

Shareholders’ Equity:
Common stock ($0.01 par value; 100,000,000 shares authorized; 47,306,000 and
   48,670,000 shares outstanding at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively)   472  486
Preferred stock ($0.01 par value; 10,000,000 shares authorized; no shares outstanding)  ––  ––
Additional paid-in capital    366,626  435,412
Accumulated other comprehensive loss           (8,970)  (8,694)
Retained earnings    795,299  702,643_____________________________________________________________________________________________________
Total Shareholders’ Equity    1,153,427  1,129,847_____________________________________________________________________________________________________
Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity   $ 2,355,852 $ 2,319,225____________________________________
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C O N S O L I D A T E D  S T A T E M E N T S  O F  C A S H  F L O W S  for years ended December 31

(add 000)  2004  2003  2002_____________________________________________________________________________________________________
Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Net earnings $ 129,163 $ 93,623 $ 86,305
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle  ––  6,874  11,510           ____________________________________________
Earnings before cumulative effect of change 
    in accounting principle  129,163  100,497  97,815

Adjustments to reconcile earnings to cash provided by
    operating activities:
Depreciation, depletion and amortization  132,859  139,606  138,696
Gains on divestitures and sales of assets  (17,126)  (4,399)  (24,155)
Deferred income taxes  38,544  16,651  23,816
Other items, net  (913)  (299)  1,124
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects of
    acquisitions and divestitures:
          Accounts receivable, net  11,926  (1,887)  (15,178)
           Inventories, net  786  18,039  (14,329)
           Accounts payable  13,374  4,047  (7,531)
          Other assets and liabilities, net  (41,772)  4,914  3,302_____________________________________________________________________________________________________
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities  266,841  277,169  203,560

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Additions to property, plant and equipment  (163,445)  (120,638)  (152,680)
Acquisitions, net  (5,567)  (8,618)  (47,970)
Proceeds from divestitures and sales of assets  45,687  29,478  97,731_____________________________________________________________________________________________________
Net Cash Used for Investing Activities  (123,325)  (99,778)  (102,919)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities:
Repayments of long-term debt  (1,065)  (4,156)  (5,399)
Repayments of commercial paper and line of credit, net  ––  (25,713)  (69,287)
Change in bank overdraft  (1,737)  (3,538)  (7,416)
Termination of interest rate swaps  ––  12,581  ––
Dividends paid  (36,507)  (33,714)  (28,278)
Repurchases of common stock  (71,507)  (13,253)  ––
Issuances of common stock  3,787  1,037  640_____________________________________________________________________________________________________
Net Cash Used for Financing Activities  (107,029)  (66,756)  (109,740)____________________________________
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents  36,487  110,635  (9,099)
Cash and Cash Equivalents, beginning of year  125,133  14,498  23,597____________________________________
Cash and Cash Equivalents, end of year $ 161,620 $    125,133 $    14,498____________________________________
The notes on pages 17 to 33 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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C O N S O L I D A T E D  S T A T E M E N T S  O F  S H A R E H O L D E R S ’  E Q U I T Y

 Shares of   Accumulated Other  Total
 Common Common Additional Comprehensive Retained Shareholders’
(add 000) Stock Stock Paid-In Capital Loss Earnings Equity ___________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

Balance at December 31, 2001  48,549 $ 485 $ 437,020 $ –– $ 584,707 $ 1,022,212
    Net earnings  ––  ––  ––  ––  86,305  86,305
    Minimum pension liability, net of tax  ––  ––  ––  (7,365)  ––  (7,365)                                      ________
    Comprehensive earnings            78,940
    Dividends declared  ––  ––  ––  ––  (28,278)  (28,278)      
    Issuances of common stock            
      for acquisitions      244  2  8,132  ––  ––  8,134
    Issuances of common stock            
      for stock award plans      49  1  2,001  ––  ––  2,002___________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
Balance at December 31, 2002  48,842  488  447,153  (7,365)  642,734  1,083,010
    Net earnings  ––  ––  ––  ––  93,623  93,623
    Minimum pension liability, net of tax  ––  ––  ––  (1,329)  ––  (1,329)                                      ________
    Comprehensive earnings            92,294
    Dividends declared  ––  ––  ––  ––  (33,714)  (33,714)      
    Issuances of common stock            
      for stock award plans       159  1  3,273  ––  ––  3,274
    Repurchases of common stock      (331)  (3)  (15,014)  ––  ––  (15,017)___________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
Balance at December 31, 2003  48,670  486  435,412  (8,694)  702,643  1,129,847
    Net earnings  ––  ––  ––  ––  129,163  129,163
    Minimum pension liability, net of tax ––  ––  ––  (276)  ––  (276)                                      ________
    Comprehensive earnings            128,887
    Dividends declared  ––  ––  ––  ––  (36,507)  (36,507)      
    Issuances of common stock            
      for stock award plans       158  1  5,923  ––  ––  5,924
    Repurchases of common stock      (1,522)  (15)  (74,709)  ––  ––  (74,724)_________________________________________
Balance at December 31, 2004  47,306 $ 472  $ 366,626 $ (8,970) $ 795,299 $ 1,153,427_________________________________________

The notes on pages 17 to 33 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Note A: Accounting Policies
Organization.  Martin Marietta Materials, Inc. (the 
“Corporation”) is engaged principally in the construction 
aggregates business. Aggregates products are used primar-
ily for construction of highways and other infrastructure 
projects, and in the domestic commercial and residential 
construction industries. The Corporation’s aggregates, 
asphalt products and ready mixed concrete are sold and 
shipped from a network of 325 quarries, distribution facili-
ties and plants to customers in 32 states, Canada and the 
Caribbean. Texas, North Carolina, Georgia, Iowa and 
Indiana account for approximately 57% of total 2004 
net sales.  In addition, the Corporation has a Specialty 
Products segment that produces magnesia-based chemi-
cals products used in industrial, agricultural and envi-
ronmental applications; dolomitic lime sold primarily to 
customers in the steel industry; and structural composite 
products used in a wide variety of industries.

Basis of Consolidation.  The consolidated financial state-
ments include the accounts of the Corporation and its 
wholly owned and majority-owned subsidiaries. Partially 
owned affiliates are either consolidated in accordance with 
Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation No. 
46, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities (“FIN 46”), 
or accounted for at cost or as equity investments depend-
ing on the level of ownership interest or the Corporation’s 
ability to exercise control over the affiliates’ operations.  
Intercompany balances and transactions have been elimi-
nated in consolidation. 

The Corporation is a minority member of a limited liability 
company whereby the majority member is paid a preferred 
annual return. The Corporation has the ability to redeem 
the majority member’s interest after the lapse of a specified 
number of years. The Corporation consolidates the limited 
liability company in its consolidated financial statements.

Use of Estimates.  The preparation of the Corporation’s 
consolidated financial statements in conformity with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States requires management to make certain estimates 
and assumptions. Such judgments affect the reported 
amounts in the consolidated financial statements and 
accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from 
those estimates.

Revenue Recognition.  Revenues for product sales are rec-
ognized when finished products are shipped to unaffiliated 
customers. Revenues derived from the road paving business 
are recognized using the percentage completion method. 
Total revenues include sales of materials and services provided 
to customers, net of discounts or allowances, if any, and 
include freight and delivery charges billed to customers. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents.  Cash equivalents are com-
prised of highly liquid instruments with original maturities of 
three months or less from the date of purchase. Additionally, 
at December 31, 2004 and 2003, cash of $7,520,000 and 
$10,440,000, respectively, was held in an unrestricted 
escrow account on behalf of the Corporation. These cash 
balances are reported in other noncurrent assets.

Customer Receivables.  Customer receivables are stated 
at cost. The Corporation does not charge interest on cus-
tomer accounts receivable. The Corporation records an 
allowance for doubtful accounts, which includes a general 
reserve based on historical write offs and a specific reserve 
for accounts greater than $50,000 deemed at risk.

Inventories Valuation. Inventories are stated at the lower 
of cost or market. Cost for finished products and in process 
inventories is determined by the first-in, first-out method.

Notes Receivable. Notes receivable are stated at cost.  
The Corporation records an allowance for notes receiv-
able deemed uncollectible. At December 31, 2004 and 
2003, the allowance for uncollectible notes receivable was 
$737,000 and $602,000, respectively.

Properties and Depreciation. Property, plant and equip-
ment are stated at cost. The estimated service lives for 
property, plant and equipment are as follow:

Class of Assets Range of Service Lives
Buildings    1 to 50 years
Machinery & Equipment   1 to 30 years
Land Improvements   2 to 30 years

The Corporation begins capitalizing quarry development 
costs at a point when reserves are determined as proven 
and probable, economically mineable by the Corporation’s 
geological and operational staff and when demand supports 
investment in the market. Quarry development costs are 
included in mineral reserves.
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Mineral reserves are valued at the present value of roy-
alty payments, using a prevailing market royalty rate that 
would have been incurred if the Corporation had leased 
the reserves as opposed to fee-ownership for the life of the 
reserves, not to exceed twenty years.

Depreciation is computed over estimated service lives, 
principally by the straight-line method. Depletion of 
mineral deposits is calculated over proven and probable 
reserves by the units-of-production method on a quarry-
by-quarry basis. 

Repair and Maintenance Costs.  Repair and main-
tenance costs that do not substantially extend the life of 
the Corporation’s plant and equipment are expensed as 
incurred.

Intangible Assets.  Goodwill represents the excess pur-
chase price paid for acquired businesses over the estimated 
fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities. The carrying 
value of goodwill is reviewed annually, as of October 1, for 
impairment in accordance with the provisions of Statement 
of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, Goodwill and 
Other Intangible Assets (“FAS 142”).  An interim review is per-
formed between annual tests if facts or circumstances indi-
cate potential impairment. If an impairment review indicates 
that the carrying value is impaired, a charge is recorded.

The Corporation’s reporting units, which represent the 
level at which goodwill is tested for impairment under 
FAS 142, are based on its geographic regions.  Goodwill 
is allocated to the reporting units based on the location of 
acquisitions and divestitures at the time of consummation. 

In accordance with FAS 142, leased mineral rights acquired 
in a business combination that have a royalty rate less than 
a prevailing market rate are recognized as other intangible 
assets. The leased mineral rights are valued at the present 
value of the difference between the market royalty rate 
and the contractual royalty rate over the lesser of the life 
of the lease, not to exceed thirty years, or the amount of 
mineable reserves.

Other intangibles represent amounts assigned principally 
to contractual agreements and are amortized ratably over 
periods based on related contractual terms.  The carry-
ing value of other intangibles is reviewed if facts and cir-
cumstances indicate potential impairment.  If this review 
determines that the carrying value is impaired, a charge 
is recorded.

Derivatives.  The Corporation recognizes derivatives as 
either assets or liabilities in its consolidated balance 
sheets and measures those instruments at fair value. The 
Corporation’s derivatives are interest rate swaps, which 
represent fair value hedges. The Corporation’s objective 
for holding these derivatives is to balance its exposure to 
the fixed and variable interest rate markets. In accordance 
with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 
133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging 
Activities (“FAS 133”), these hedges are considered per-
fectly effective, and no net gain or loss is recorded for 
changes in the fair value of the interest rate swaps or the 
related debt.

Stock-Based Compensation. The Corporation has stock-
based compensation plans for employees and directors, 
which are described more fully in Note K. The Corporation 
accounts for those plans under the intrinsic value meth-
od prescribed by APB Opinion No. 25, Accounting for 
Stock Issued to Employees (“APB No. 25”) and related 
Interpretations. For options granted under those plans 
with an exercise price equal to the market value of the 
stock on the date of grant, no compensation cost is rec-
ognized in net earnings as reported in the consolidated 
statements of earnings. Compensation cost is recognized 
in net earnings for awards granted under those plans 
with an exercise price less than the market value of the 
underlying common stock on the date of grant. Such 
costs are recognized ratably over the vesting period. The 
following table illustrates the effect on net earnings and 
earnings per share if the Corporation had applied the 
fair value recognition provisions of Statement of Financial 
Accounting Standards No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based 
Compensation (“FAS 123”):
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years ended December 31
(add 000, except per share) 2004    2003      2002__________________________________________________
Net earnings, as reported $ 129,163 $ 93,623 $ 86,305
Add: Stock-based
 compensation expense
 included in reported net
 earnings, net of related 
 tax effects 1,244 1,396 152
Deduct: Stock-based
 compensation expense 
 determined under fair 
 value for all awards,  
 net of related tax effects (5,185) (5,847) (6,755)__________________________________________________
Pro forma net earnings $ 125,222 $ 89,172 $  79,702_______________________
Earnings per share:
 Basic-as reported $    2.68 $ 1.91 $ 1.77_______________________
 Basic-pro forma $ 2.60 $ 1.82 $ 1.64_______________________
 Diluted-as reported $ 2.66 $ 1.91 $ 1.77_______________________
 Diluted-pro forma $ 2.58 $ 1.81 $ 1.63_______________________
In 2004, the Corporation changed the model used for 
valuing stock options for options granted under the 
Corporation’s stock-based compensation plans. The fair 
value of the 2004 option awards was determined using 
a lattice valuation model as opposed to the Black-Scholes 
valuation model used in prior years. The lattice model 
takes into account employees’ exercise patterns based 
on changes in the Corporation’s stock price and other 
variables and is considered to result in a better valuation 
of employee stock options.  The Corporation assumed 
that all participants would exercise their vested options 
once the options reach 150% of their exercise price or 
at termination, retirement or death, if earlier. Other key 
assumptions used in determining the fair value of the 
stock options awarded in 2004 were a dividend yield of 
1.68% and a volatility factor of 26.1%.  For the 2004 
option grant, the fair value calculated using the lattice 
model was $733,000 lower than the fair value calculated 
using the Black-Scholes model. 

For awards granted in 2003 and prior years, the fair 
value was estimated as of the date of grant using a Black-
Scholes valuation model with the following weighted-
average assumptions:
   2003      2002__________________________________________________
Risk-free interest rate  4.00% 4.00%
Dividend yield  1.60% 1.30%
Volatility factor  26.40% 31.70%
Expected life  7 years 7 years

Based on the assumptions, the weighted-average fair 
value of each award granted was $11.00, $11.47 and 
$12.90 for 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Environmental Matters.  The Corporation accounts for 
asset retirement obligations in accordance with Statement 
of Financial Accounting Standards No. 143, Accounting 
for Asset Retirement Obligations (“FAS 143”). In accordance 
with FAS 143, a liability for an asset retirement obligation is 
recorded at fair value in the period in which it is incurred (see 
Note N). The asset retirement obligation is recorded at the 
acquisition date of a long-lived tangible asset if the fair value 
can be reasonably estimated.  A corresponding amount is 
capitalized as part of the asset’s carrying amount.
  
Further, the Corporation records an accrual for other envi-
ronmental remediation liabilities in the period in which 
it is probable that a liability has been incurred and the 
appropriate amounts can be estimated reasonably. Such 
accruals are adjusted as further information develops or cir-
cumstances change. These costs are not discounted to their 
present value or offset for potential insurance or other claims 
or potential gains from future alternative uses for a site.

Income Taxes.  Deferred income tax assets and liabilities 
on the consolidated balance sheets reflect the net tax 
effects of temporary differences between the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting 
purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes, 
net of valuation allowances.

Research and Development Costs.  Research and devel-
opment costs are charged to operations as incurred.  

Start-Up Costs.  Preoperating costs and noncapital start-
up costs for new facilities and products are charged to 
operations as incurred. 

Comprehensive Earnings.  Comprehensive earnings for the 
Corporation consists of net earnings and, for 2004 and 2003, 
respectively, $276,000 and $1,329,000 for the increase in the  
minimum pension liability, which is net of income tax benefits 
of $181,000 and  $870,000, respectively.

Earnings Per Common Share. Basic earnings per com-
mon share are based on the weighted-average number 
of common shares outstanding during the year. Diluted 
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earnings per common share are computed assuming 
that the weighted-average number of common shares 
is increased by the conversion, using the treasury stock 
method, of awards to be issued to employees and nonem-
ployee members of the Corporation’s Board of Directors 
under certain stock-based compensation arrangements. 
The diluted per-share computations reflect a change in 
the number of common shares outstanding (the “denomi-
nator”) to include the number of additional shares that 
would have been outstanding if the potentially dilutive 
common shares had been issued. In each year presented, 
the net earnings available to common shareholders (the 
“numerator”) is the same for both basic and dilutive per-
share computations. The following table sets forth a rec-
onciliation of the denominators for the basic and diluted 
earnings per share computations for each of the years 
ended December 31:

(add 000) 2004    2003 2002___________________________________________________
Basic Earnings per Common Share:  
 Weighted-average
     number of shares 48,142 48,905 48,727_______________________
Effect of Dilutive Securities:
   Employee and Director awards 392 231 131_______________________
Diluted Earnings per Common Share:
   Weighted-average number of
      shares and assumed conversions 48,534 49,136 48,858_______________________
Accounting Changes. In January 2003, the Financial 
Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued FIN 46  
which requires a new approach in determining if a report-
ing entity consolidates certain legal entities referred to as 
variable interest entities (“VIEs”), including joint ventures, 
limited liability companies and equity investments, in 
which it has invested. Under FIN 46, consolidation of a 
VIE is required by the investor that absorbs a majority of 
the entity’s expected losses or receives a majority of the 
entity’s residual returns, or both.  FIN 46 was effective as 
of March 31, 2004 for the Corporation.  The adoption 
of FIN 46 was not material to the Corporation’s financial 
position or results of operations.

In May 2004, the FASB issued Staff Position FAS 106-2, 
Accounting and Disclosure Requirements Related to the 
Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization 
Act of 2003 (“FSP FAS 106-2”), which provides guid-
ance on how companies should account for the impact 
of the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and 
Modernization Act of 2003 (the “Act”) on its postretire-
ment health care plans. To encourage employers to retain 
or provide postretirement drug benefits, beginning in 
2006, the federal government will provide non-taxable 
subsidy payments to employers that sponsor prescription 
drug benefits to retirees that are “actuarially equivalent” 
to the Medicare benefit. The Corporation has determined 
that its postretirement health care plans’ prescription drug 
benefits are actuarially equivalent to Medicare Part D ben-
efits to be provided under the Act. Effective July 1, 2004, 
the Corporation adopted the accounting guidance of FSP 
FAS 106-2, which reduced its postretirement health care 
plans’ accumulated postretirement benefit obligation by 
$3,003,000 and 2004 annual expense by $174,000.

In December 2004, the FASB issued Statement of Financial 
Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised 2004), Share-
Based Payment (“FAS 123(R)”), which is a revision of FAS 
123. FAS 123(R) supercedes APB No. 25 and amends 
FASB Statement No. 95, Statement of Cash Flows, and 
requires all forms of share-based payments to employees, 
including employee stock options, to be recognized as 
compensation expense. The compensation expense of 
the awards is measured at fair value at the grant date. FAS 
123(R) is effective July 1, 2005 for the Corporation. The 
Corporation expects to adopt the provisions of the state-
ment using the modified prospective transition method, 
which would recognize stock option awards as compensa-
tion expense for unvested awards as of July 1, 2005 and 
awards subsequent to that date. The 2005 impact of the 
adoption of FAS 123(R) on the Corporation’s results of 
operations will depend on the levels of share-based pay-
ments granted in 2005. If the Corporation had adopted 
FAS 123(R) in prior periods, net earnings would have been 
reduced by approximately $3,900,000, $4,500,000 and 
$6,600,000 in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively (see 
Note A – Stock-Based Compensation).
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In November 2004, the FASB issued Statement of Financial 
Accounting Standards No. 151, Inventory Costs, an amend-
ment of ARB No. 43, Chapter 4 (“FAS 151”). The amend-
ments made by FAS 151 clarify that abnormal amounts of 
idle facility expense, freight, handling costs and wasted 
materials should be recognized as current-period charges 
and require the allocation of fixed production overhead 
to inventory to be based on the normal capacity of the 
underlying production facilities. FAS 151 is effective for 
fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2005.  The adoption 
of FAS 151 is not expected to have a material impact on 
the Corporation’s net earnings or financial position.

In December 2004, the FASB issued Statement of Financial 
Accounting Standards No. 153, Exchanges of Nonmonetary 
Assets, an amendment of APB Opinion No. 29, Accounting 
for Nonmonetary Transactions (“FAS 153”). The amend-
ments made by FAS 153 require that exchanges of non-
monetary assets should be measured based on the fair 
value of the assets exchanged. Further, the amendments 
eliminate the exception for nonmonetary exchanges of 
similar productive assets and replace it with a broader 
exception for exchanges of nonmonetary assets that do 
not have commercial substance. Currently, the accounting 
for an exchange of a productive asset for a similar produc-
tive asset is based on the recorded amount of the asset 
relinquished. FAS 153 is effective for fiscal periods begin-
ning after June 15, 2005. The adoption of FAS 153 is not 
expected to have a material impact on the Corporation’s 
net earnings or financial position.

Reclassifications.  Certain 2003 and 2002 amounts have 
been reclassed to conform to the 2004 presentation. The 
reclassifications had no impact on previously reported net 
earnings or financial position.

Note B:  Intangible Assets
The following shows the changes in goodwill, all of which 
relate to the Aggregates segment, for the years ended 
December 31:

(add 000) 2004 2003__________________________________________________
Balance at beginning of period $577,586 $577,449
Acquisitions 4,384 5,242
Adjustments to purchase price allocations  902 (495)
Amounts allocated to divestitures (15,377) (4,610)__________________________________________________
Balance at end of period $567,495 $577,586________________________

In 2002, the Corporation recorded an impairment charge 
of $11,510,000, which represented the cumulative effect of 
adopting FAS 142 and related to the road paving business 
reporting unit. This business was acquired as supplemental 
operations to larger acquisitions, does not represent a stra-
tegic business of the Corporation and has incurred operat-
ing losses since acquisition. The fair value of this reporting 
unit was determined using a discounted cash flow model.  
At January 1, 2002, the carrying value of the reporting unit 
exceeded its fair value. The impairment charge represented 
all of the goodwill related to this reporting unit.

Intangible assets subject to amortization consist of the 
following at December 31:

(add 000)___________________________________________________
                                  2004                          ___________________________________
 Gross  Accumulated 
 Amount Amortization Net Balance___________________________________________________
Noncompetition
   agreements $ 26,790 $ (18,861) $ 7,929
Trade names  4,331  (2,206)  2,125
Supply agreements  900  (706)  194
Use rights and other  16,026  (7,832)  8,194___________________________________________________
Total $ 48,047 $ (29,605) $ 18,442_______________________
                                  2003                          ___________________________________
 Gross  Accumulated 
 Amount Amortization Net Balance___________________________________________________
Noncompetition
   agreements $ 30,410 $ (18,605) $ 11,805
Trade names  6,067  (2,091)  3,976
Supply agreements  900  (623)  277
Use rights and other  15,921  (7,037)  8,884___________________________________________________
Total $ 53,298 $ (28,356) $ 24,942________________________
At December 31, 2004 and 2003, the Corporation had 
water use rights of $200,000 that are deemed to have an 
indefinite life and are not being amortized.  

During 2004 and 2003, the Corporation acquired 
$350,000 and $2,029,000, respectively, of other intan-
gibles, consisting of licensing agreements, that are subject 
to amortization. The weighted-average amortization peri-
od for these licensing agreements is 10.0 and 5.4 years in 
2004 and 2003, respectively.  

Total amortization expense for intangible assets for the 
years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 was 
$4,677,000, $5,840,000 and $6,102,000, respectively. 
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The following presents the estimated amortization expense 
for intangible assets for each of the next five years and 
thereafter:

(add 000)___________________________________________________
2005  $    3,846
2006  3,217
2007  2,252
2008  1,437
2009  1,051
Thereafter  6,639___________________________________________________
Total       $   18,442     ________________________
Note C:  Business Combinations and Divestitures
In 2004, the Corporation disposed of various nonstrate-
gic operations in its Aggregates segment in markets in 
Tennessee, Louisiana, Washington, Oklahoma, California 
and Alabama. These divestitures represent discontinued 
operations, and, therefore, the results of their operations 
through the dates of disposal and any gain or loss on 
disposals are included in discontinued operations on the 
consolidated statements of earnings.  

The discontinued operations included the following net 
sales, pretax loss on operations, pretax gain on disposals, 
income tax expense or benefit and net gain or loss: 

years ended December 31
(add 000) 2004    2003 2002___________________________________________________
Net sales $15,790 $ 61,723 $97,794_______________________
Pretax loss on operations $ (3,630) $(11,231) $   (338)
Pretax gain on disposals   6,727    1,794 21,621___________________________________________________
Pretax gain (loss)     3,097   (9,437) 21,283
Income tax expense (benefit)     2,113   (2,693) 14,294___________________________________________________
Net gain (loss)   $     984 $  (6,744) $  6,989_______________________
On October 29, 2004, the Corporation divested locations 
comprising approximately 70% of its sales of asphalt in 
the Houston, Texas area for consideration that included 
a note receivable with final payment due September 30, 
2008. In connection with the divestiture, the Corporation 
entered into a supply agreement to sell aggregates to 
the buyer at market rates. The divestiture is included in 
continuing operations because of the Corporation’s con-
tinuing financial interest in the Houston asphalt market, as 
well as the related financing.

During 2004, the Corporation acquired the remaining inter-
est in an LLC from a majority member for $5,567,000.

Note D: Accounts Receivable, Net
December 31
(add 000)   2004   2003___________________________________________________
Customer receivables $ 221,954 $ 230,841
Other current receivables  4,140  5,267___________________________________________________
  226,094  236,108
Less allowances  (6,505)  (4,594)___________________________________________________
Total $ 219,589 $ 231,514________________________
Bad debt expense was $3,574,000, $623,000 and 
$3,018,000 in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively, and is 
recorded in other operating income and expenses, net, on 
the consolidated statements of earnings.

During 2004, the Corporation increased its allowance for 
doubtful accounts. The change in allowance decreased net 
earnings by approximately $1,200,000, or $0.02 per diluted 
share. During 2003, the Corporation decreased its allowance 
for doubtful accounts. The change in allowance increased 
net earnings by approximately $1,900,000, or $0.04 per 
diluted share. These changes in estimates, which are record-
ed in bad debt expense, primarily resulted from changes in 
the level of specific accounts deemed at risk.

Note E: Inventories, Net
December 31
(add 000)  2004  2003___________________________________________________
Finished products $ 173,013 $ 183,479
Products in process and
   raw materials  17,412  12,535
Supplies and expendable parts  24,347  23,819___________________________________________________
  214,772  219,833
Less allowances  (5,463)  (5,990)___________________________________________________
Total $ 209,309 $ 213,843_______________________
Note F: Property, Plant and Equipment, Net
December 31
(add 000)  2004  2003___________________________________________________
Land and improvements $ 299,729 $ 280,926
Mineral reserves  190,247  184,955
Buildings  85,075  80,571
Machinery and equipment  1,674,476  1,611,403
Construction in progress  60,010  47,610___________________________________________________
  2,309,537  2,205,465
Less allowances for
   depreciation and depletion (1,244,322) (1,163,033)___________________________________________________
Total $ 1,065,215 $ 1,042,432_______________________
At December 31, 2004 and 2003, the net carrying value 
of mineral reserves was $143,992,000 and $144,415,000, 
respectively.
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Depreciation and depletion expense was $127,496,000, 
$133,090,000 and $131,926,000 for the years ended 
December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Interest cost of $1,101,000, $1,875,000 and $3,788,000 
was capitalized during 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.  

At December 31, 2004 and 2003, $76,030,000 and 
$76,435,000, respectively, of the Corporation’s fixed 
assets were located in foreign countries, principally the 
Bahamas and Canada.

Note G: Long-Term Debt
December 31
(add 000)  2004  2003___________________________________________________
6.875% Notes, due 2011 $ 249,773 $ 249,773
5.875% Notes, due 2008  209,761  212,251
6.9% Notes, due 2007  124,982  124,976
7% Debentures, due 2025  124,279  124,265
Acquisition notes, interest rates 
   ranging from 2.11% to 9.00%  4,725  5,916
Other notes  1,111  960___________________________________________________
Total  714,631  718,141
Less current maturities  (970)  (1,068)___________________________________________________
Long-term debt $ 713,661 $ 717,073________________________
The 6.875% Notes were offered and sold by the 
Corporation, through a private offering, in March 2001 
at 99.85% of their principal amount of $250,000,000. In 
July 2001, the Corporation exchanged $249,650,000 of 
the Notes for publicly registered notes with substantially 
identical terms. The effective interest rate on these securi-
ties is 6.98%. The Notes mature on April 1, 2011.

The 5.875% Notes were offered and sold by the 
Corporation, through a private placement, in December 
1998 at 99.5% of their principal amount of $200,000,000.  
The Corporation exchanged the Notes for publicly regis-
tered notes with substantially identical terms. The effec-
tive interest rate on these securities is 6.03%. The Notes 
mature on December 1, 2008.  

During August 1997, the Corporation offered and sold 
the 6.9% Notes at 99.7% of their principal amount of 
$125,000,000. The effective interest rate on these secu-
rities is 7.00%. The Notes, which are publicly traded, 
mature on August 15, 2007.

The 7% Debentures were sold at 99.3% of their principal 
amount of $125,000,000 in December 1995. The effective 

interest rate on these securities is 7.12%. The Debentures, 
which are publicly traded, mature on December 1, 2025.

These Notes and Debentures are carried net of original 
issue discount, which is being amortized by the effec-
tive interest method over the life of the issue. None are 
redeemable prior to their respective maturity dates.

In May 2002, the Corporation entered into interest rate 
swap agreements related to $100 million of the Notes due 
in 2008. The swaps were with four separate financial institu-
tions, each agreement covering $25 million of the Notes.  
The Corporation received a 5.875% fixed annual interest rate 
and paid a floating annual rate equal to six-month London 
Interbank Offer Rate (“LIBOR”) plus an average of 0.235%.  
The terms of the swaps and the related Notes match, and 
other necessary conditions of FAS 133 were met. Therefore, 
the hedges were considered perfectly effective and qualified 
for the shortcut method of accounting.  

In May 2003, the Corporation terminated its interest 
rate swap agreements and received a cash payment of 
$12,581,000, which represented the fair value of the 
swaps on the date of termination. The Corporation also 
received accrued interest of $2,152,000, which represent-
ed the difference between the fixed interest rate received 
and the variable interest paid from the previous interest 
payment date to the termination date. In accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles, the carrying 
amount of the related Notes on the date of termination, 
which includes adjustments for changes in the fair value of 
the debt while the swaps were in effect, will be accreted 
back to its par value over the remaining life of the Notes.  
The accretion will decrease annual interest expense by 
approximately $2,000,000 until the maturity of the Notes 
in 2008. At December 31, 2004 and 2003, the unamor-
tized value of the terminated swaps was $9,281,000 and 
$11,393,000, respectively.

In August 2003, the Corporation entered into new interest 
rate swap agreements related to $100 million of the Notes 
due in 2008. The swaps are with four separate financial 
institutions, each agreement covering $25 million of the 
Notes. The Corporation receives a 5.875% fixed annual 
interest rate and pays a floating annual rate equal to six-
month LIBOR plus 1.50%. The terms of the swaps and 
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the related Notes match and other necessary conditions 
of FAS 133 have been met. Therefore, the hedges are 
considered perfectly effective and qualify for the shortcut 
method of accounting. The Corporation is required to 
record the fair value of the swaps and the corresponding 
change in the fair value of the related Notes in its con-
solidated financial statements.  At December 31, 2004 
and 2003, the fair value of these interest rate swaps was 
$954,000 and $1,437,000, respectively.  A correspond-
ing amount is included in other noncurrent assets on the 
consolidated balance sheets.

The Corporation has a $275,000,000 five-year revolving 
credit agreement (the “Credit Agreement”), which is syn-
dicated with a group of domestic and foreign commercial 
banks and expires in August 2006. Borrowings under 
the Credit Agreement are unsecured and bear interest, 
at the Corporation’s option, at rates based upon: (i) the 
Euro-Dollar rate (as defined on the basis of a LIBOR) plus 
basis points related to a pricing grid; (ii) a bank base rate 
(as defined on the basis of a published prime rate or the 
Federal Funds Rate plus 1/2 of 1%); or (iii) a competitively 
determined rate (as defined on the basis of a bidding pro-
cess). The Credit Agreement contains restrictive covenants 
relating to the Corporation’s debt-to-total capitalization 
ratio, requirements for limitations on encumbrances and 
provisions that relate to certain changes in control. The 
Corporation pays an annual loan commitment fee to the 
bank group. No borrowings were outstanding under the 
Credit Agreement at December 31, 2004 and 2003.  

The Credit Agreement supports a $275,000,000 com-
mercial paper program, none of which was outstanding 
at December 31, 2004 or 2003.    

Excluding interest rate swaps, the Corporation’s long-term 
debt maturities for the five years following December 31, 
2004, and thereafter are: 

(add 000)___________________________________________________
2005   $ 970
2006    1,035
2007    125,782
2008    200,105
2009    497
Thereafter     376,007___________________________________________________
Total        $ 704,396     ________________________

Note H: Financial Instruments
In addition to interest rate swaps and publicly registered 
long-term notes and debentures, the Corporation’s finan-
cial instruments include temporary cash investments, 
accounts receivable, notes receivable, bank overdraft, 
commercial paper and other borrowings.  

Temporary cash investments are placed with creditworthy 
financial institutions, primarily in money market funds and 
Euro-time deposits. The Corporation’s cash equivalents 
have maturities of less than three months. Due to the 
short maturity of these investments, they are carried on 
the consolidated balance sheets at cost, which approxi-
mates fair value.

Customer receivables are due from a large number of 
customers who are dispersed across wide geographic and 
economic regions. However, customer receivables are 
more heavily concentrated in certain states (see Note A).  
The estimated fair values of customer receivables approxi-
mate their carrying amounts.  

Notes receivable are primarily related to divestitures. At 
December 31, 2004, the Corporation had notes receivable 
related to a divestiture with a carrying value of $12,943,000.  
At December 31, 2003, the Corporation had no significant 
concentrations of credit risk. The notes receivable are not 
publicly traded. However, using current market interest 
rates, but excluding adjustments for credit worthiness, if 
any, management estimates that the fair value of notes 
receivable approximates its carrying amount.

The bank overdraft represents the float of outstanding 
checks. The estimated fair value of the bank overdraft 
approximates its carrying value.  

The estimated fair value of the Corporation’s publicly reg-
istered long-term notes and debentures at December 31, 
2004 was approximately $765,450,000 compared with a 
carrying amount of $698,560,000 on the consolidated bal-
ance sheet. The estimated fair value and carrying amount 
exclude the impact of interest rate swaps. The fair value of 
this long-term debt was estimated based on quoted market 
prices for those instruments publicly traded. The estimated 
fair value of other borrowings of $5,836,000 at December 
31, 2004 approximates its carrying amount.
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The carrying values and fair values of the Corporation’s 
financial instruments at December 31 are as follow:

 2004                                  ______________________________ 
(add 000) Carrying Value Fair Value___________________________________________________
Cash and cash equivalents $ 161,620 $ 161,620
Accounts receivable, net $ 219,589  $ 219,589
Notes receivable $ 31,156 $ 31,156
Bank overdraft $ 9,527 $ 9,527
Long-term debt, excluding 
   interest rate swaps $ 704,396 $ 771,286
Interest rate swaps in effect $ 954 $ 954

 2003                                  ______________________________ 
(add 000) Carrying Value Fair Value___________________________________________________
Cash and cash equivalents $ 125,133 $ 125,133
Accounts receivable, net $ 231,514 $ 231,514
Notes receivable $ 20,732 $ 20,732
Bank overdraft $ 11,264 $ 11,264
Long-term debt, excluding 
   interest rate swaps $ 705,311 $ 785,754
Interest rate swaps in effect $ 1,437 $ 1,437

Note I: Income Taxes 
The components of the Corporation’s tax expense on 
income from continuing operations are as follow:

years ended December 31
(add 000) 2004 2003    2002___________________________________________________
Federal income taxes:
   Current $ 9,472 $18,011 $  5,544
   Deferred 35,752 19,436 20,546___________________________________________________
   Total federal income taxes 45,224 37,447 26,090___________________________________________________
State income taxes:
   Current 7,828 1,595 734
   Deferred 1,815 4,997 4,376___________________________________________________
   Total state income taxes 9,643 6,592 5,110___________________________________________________
Foreign income taxes:
   Current 992 1,159 961
   Deferred 684 __ _____________________________________________________
   Total foreign income taxes 1,676 1,159 961___________________________________________________
Total provision $56,543 $45,198 $32,161_______________________
 

The Corporation’s effective income tax rate on continuing 
operations varied from the statutory United States income tax 
rate because of the following permanent tax differences:

years ended December 31 2004 2003 2002___________________________________________________
Statutory tax rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
Increase (reduction)
 resulting from:
Effect of statutory depletion (8.2) (9.8) (14.4)
State income taxes 0.3 2.8 2.7
Valuation allowance for state
 loss carryforwards                  3.1    —    —
Goodwill write offs                  1.2    —    —
Effect of foreign operations           — 0.6 2.1
Other items (0.8) 1.0 0.7___________________________________________________
Effective tax rate 30.6% 29.6% 26.1%_______________________

The principal components of the Corporation’s deferred 
tax assets and liabilities at December 31 are as follow:
     Deferred
                     Assets (Liabilities)          ___________________
(add 000) 2004 2003___________________________________________________
Property, plant and equipment $(185,835) $(143,833)
Goodwill and other intangibles (15,544) (21,044)
Employee benefits 39,112 34,923
Valuation and other reserves 12,030 16,885
Inventories 6,792 6,308
Net operating loss carryforwards 6,939 __
Valuation allowance on 
   deferred tax assets (5,711) __
Other items, net 2,919 6,029___________________________________________________
Total $(139,298) $ (100,732)_______________________
Additionally, the Corporation had a deferred tax asset of 
$5,869,000 and $5,688,000 at December 31, 2004 and 
2003, respectively, related to its minimum pension liability.  

Deferred tax liabilities for property, plant and equipment 
result from accelerated depreciation methods being used 
for income tax purposes as compared to the straight-line 
method for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities related to goodwill and other intan-
gibles reflect the cessation of goodwill amortization for 
financial reporting purposes pursuant to FAS 142. 

Deferred tax assets for employee benefits result from the 
timing differences of the deductions for pension and post-
retirement obligations. For financial reporting purposes, 
such amounts are expensed in accordance with Statement 
of Financial Accounting Standards No. 87, Employers’ 
Accounting for Pensions (“FAS 87”). For income tax pur-
poses, such amounts are deductible as funded.  

The Corporation had net operating loss carryforwards of 
$103,196,000 at December 31, 2004, primarily related 
to state income taxes and which have varying expira-
tion dates. The Corporation had deferred tax assets of 
$6,939,000 for the net operating loss carryforwards and a 
related valuation allowance of $5,711,000 at December 31, 
2004, all of which was established in 2004.

The Corporation has established $14,191,000 and 
$13,455,000 of reserves for taxes at December 31, 2004 
and 2003, respectively, that may become payable in future 
years as a result of an examination by tax authorities. The 
reserves, which are included in current income taxes pay-
able on the consolidated balance sheets, primarily relate to 
federal tax treatment of percentage depletion deductions, 
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acquisition and legal entity transaction structuring and trans-
fer pricing, and state tax treatment of federal bonus deprecia-
tion deductions and certain transaction gains.  The reserves 
are calculated based on probable exposures to additional tax 
payments to federal and state tax authorities.  Tax reserves are 
reversed as a discrete event if an examination of applicable tax 
returns is not begun by a federal or state tax authority within 
the statute of limitations or upon completion of an audit by 
federal or state tax authorities.

Note J: Retirement Plans, Postretirement and 
Postemployment Benefits
The Corporation sponsors defined benefit retirement 
plans that cover substantially all employees. Additionally, 
the Corporation provides other postretirement benefits for 
certain employees, including medical benefits for retirees 
and their spouses (and Medicare Part B reimbursement) 
and retiree life insurance. The Corporation also provides 
certain benefits to former or inactive employees after 
employment but before retirement, such as workers’ com-
pensation and disability benefits.

The measurement date for the Corporation’s defined bene-
fit plans, postretirement benefit plans and postemployment 
benefit plans is November 30 for 2004 and December 31 
for 2003. In 2004, the Corporation accelerated the date for 
actuarial measurement of its obligation from December 31 
to November 30. The Corporation believes the one-month 
acceleration of the measurement date is a preferred change 
as it improves internal control procedures by allowing more 
time to review the completeness and accuracy of the actu-
arial benefit obligation measurements. The effect of the 
change in measurement date on the respective obligations 
and assets of the plans did not have a material cumulative 
effect on annual expense or accrued benefit costs. 

Defined Benefit Retirement Plans. The assets of the 
Corporation’s retirement plans are held in the Corporation’s 
Master Retirement Trust and are invested in listed stocks, 
bonds and cash equivalents. Defined retirement benefits 
for salaried employees are based on each employee’s 
years of service and average compensation for a specified 
period of time before retirement. Defined retirement ben-
efits for hourly employees are generally stated amounts 
for specified periods of service.

The Corporation sponsors a Supplemental Excess Retirement 
Plan (“SERP”) that generally provides for the payment of 
retirement benefits in excess of allowable Internal Revenue 
Code limits. In 2004, the SERP provided for a lump sum 
payment of vested benefits provided by the SERP unless the 
participant chooses to receive the benefits in the same man-
ner that benefits are paid under the Corporation’s defined 
benefit retirement plans.

The Corporation’s defined benefit retirement plans com-
ply with three principal standards: the Employee Retirement 
Income Security Act of 1974, as amended (ERISA), which, 
in conjunction with the Internal Revenue Code, determines 
legal minimum and maximum deductible funding require-
ments; FAS 87; and Statement of Financial Accounting 
Standards No. 132, Employers’ Disclosures About Pensions and 
Other Postretirement Benefits, as revised, which establishes 
rules for financial reporting. FAS 87 specifies that certain key 
actuarial assumptions be adjusted annually to reflect current, 
rather than long-term, trends in the economy.  
 
The net periodic retirement benefit cost of defined benefit 
plans included the following components:  

years ended December 31
(add 000) 2004 2003 2002___________________________________________________
Components of net periodic
   benefit cost:
Service cost  $  10,434 $  9,073 $  9,352
Interest cost 15,513 14,437 13,463
Expected return on assets (16,377) (10,648) (12,826)
Amortization of:
    Prior service cost 599 605 617
    Actuarial loss  1,309 1,634 48
    Transition (asset) obligation (1) 1 (14)___________________________________________________
Net periodic benefit cost $  11,477 $ 15,102 $ 10,640_______________________
 
The defined benefit plans’ change in benefit obligation, 
change in plan assets, funded status and amounts recog-
nized in the Corporation’s consolidated balance sheets are 
as follow:

years ended December 31
(add 000)    2004    2003___________________________________________________
Change in benefit obligation:
Net benefit obligation at 
   beginning of year $249,159 $207,512
Service cost 10,434 9,073
Interest cost 15,513 14,437
Actuarial (gain) loss (728) 26,806
Plan amendments 1,625 —
Gross benefits paid (8,507) (8,669)___________________________________________________
Net benefit obligation at end of year $267,496 $249,159_______________________
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years ended December 31
(add 000)   2004    2003___________________________________________________
Change in plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets 
   at beginning of year $165,570 $126,091
Actual return on plan assets, net 11,119 27,090
Employer contributions 51,220 21,058
Gross benefits paid (8,507) (8,669)___________________________________________________
Fair value of plan assets at end of year $219,402 $165,570_______________________
December 31
(add 000) 2004    2003___________________________________________________
Funded status of the plan
   at end of year $(48,094) $(83,589) 
Unrecognized net actuarial loss 54,675 51,452 
Unrecognized prior service cost 4,023 2,997 
Unrecognized net transition asset (19) (20) 
Minimum pension liability (18,844) (17,359)___________________________________________________
Net accrued benefit cost $  (8,259) $(46,519)_______________________
December 31
(add 000) 2004 2003___________________________________________________
Amounts recognized in the consolidated 
    balance sheets consist of: 
Prepaid benefit cost $ 17,331 $      207 
Accrued benefit cost (6,746) (29,367) 
Accrued minimum pension liability (18,844) (17,359)___________________________________________________
Net amount recognized
   at end of year $ (8,259) $(46,519)_______________________ 

The Corporation recorded an intangible asset of 
$4,004,000 and $2,977,000 and accumulated other com-
prehensive loss, net of applicable taxes, of $8,970,000 
and $8,694,000 at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respec-
tively, related to the minimum pension liability. The intan-
gible asset is included in other noncurrent assets.

The accumulated benefit obligation for all defined benefit 
pension plans was $227,691,000 and $212,079,000 at 
December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

The projected benefit obligation, accumulated benefit obli-
gation and fair value of plan assets for pension plans with 
accumulated benefit obligations in excess of plan assets were 
$266,920,000, $227,296,000 and $218,816,000, respective-
ly, at December 31, 2004, and $248,638,000, $211,746,000 
and $165,020,000, respectively, as of December 31, 2003.

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine benefit 
obligations as of December 31 are:
 2004    2003___________________________________________________
Discount rate 6.00% 6.25%
Rate of increase in future
  compensation levels 5.00% 5.00%

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine net periodic 
retirement benefit cost for years ended December 31 are:

 2004    2003___________________________________________________
Discount rate 6.25% 6.75%
Rate of increase in future
  compensation levels 5.00% 5.00%
Expected long-term rate 
  of return on assets 8.25% 8.25%

The Corporation’s expected long-term rate of return on 
assets is based on historical rates of return for a similar mix 
of invested assets.

The pension plan asset allocation at December 31, 2004 
and 2003 and target allocation for 2005 by asset category 
are as follow:
 Percent of Plan Assets                                  ______________________________ 
  December 31                                                         _______________
 Target
Asset Category Allocation 2004 2003___________________________________________________
Equity securities 60% 62% 63%
Debt securities 39% 37% 37%
Cash 1% 1% –___________________________________________________
Total  100% 100% 100%_______________________
The Corporation’s investment strategy for pension plan 
assets is for approximately two-thirds of the equity invest-
ments to be invested in large capitalization funds. The 
remaining third of the equity investments is invested in 
small capitalization and international funds. Fixed income 
investments are invested in funds with the objective of 
matching the return of the Lehman Brothers Aggregate 
Bond Index.

The Corporation made contributions of $51,220,000 
and $21,058,000 to its pension plan in 2004 and 2003, 
respectively. The Corporation does not expect to make 
any pension plan contributions in 2005.

The expected benefit payments to be paid from plan 
assets for each of the next five years and the five-year 
period thereafter are as follow:

(add 000)___________________________________________________
2005   $ 9,242
2006   $ 9,806
2007   $ 10,513
2008   $ 11,408
2009   $ 12,396
Years 2010-2014   $ 83,055
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Postretirement Benefits. The net periodic postretirement 
benefit cost of postretirement plans included the follow-
ing components:

years ended December 31
(add 000)  2004  2003  2002___________________________________________________
Components of net periodic
   benefit cost:
Service cost  $ 656 $ 687 $ 675
Interest cost  3,528  4,068  3,582
Amortization of:
   Prior service cost  (1,294)  (720)  (569)
   Actuarial loss (gain)  320  212  (263)___________________________________________________
Total net periodic benefit cost $ 3,210 $ 4,247 $ 3,425______________________
The postretirement health care plans’ change in benefit  
obligation, change in plan assets, funded status and amounts 
recognized in the Corporation’s consolidated balance sheets 
are as follow:

years ended December 31
(add 000)     2004     2003 ___________________________________________________
Change in benefit obligation:
Net benefit obligation at 
   beginning of year $ 60,410 $ 63,370
Service cost  656  687
Interest cost  3,528  4,068
Participants’ contributions  534  578
Actuarial (gain) loss  (2,761)  4,777
Plan amendments  ––  (8,878)
Gross benefits paid  (3,471)  (4,192)___________________________________________________
Net benefit obligation at end of year $ 58,896 $ 60,410_______________________
years ended December 31
(add 000)     2004    2003___________________________________________________
Change in plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets  
  at beginning of year $ 0 $ 0
Employer contributions  2,937  3,614
Participants’ contributions  534  578
Gross benefits paid  (3,471)  (4,192)___________________________________________________
Fair value of plan assets at end of year $ 0 $ 0_______________________
December 31
(add 000)     2004     2003___________________________________________________
Funded status of the plan at end of year $ (58,896) $ (60,410) 
Unrecognized net actuarial loss  7,544  10,623 
Unrecognized prior service cost  (13,617)  (14,910)___________________________________________________
Accrued benefit cost $ (64,969) $ (64,697)_______________________
December 31
(add 000)     2004     2003___________________________________________________
Amounts recognized in the consolidated
  balance sheets consist of: 
Accrued benefit cost $ (64,969) $ (64,697)_______________________
Net amount recognized at end of year $ (64,969) $ (64,697)_______________________

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine the 
postretirement benefit obligations as of December 31 are:

    2004    2003___________________________________________________
Discount rate 6.00% 6.25%

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine net post-
retirement benefit cost for years ended December 31 are:

    2004    2003___________________________________________________
Discount rate 6.25% 6.75%

Assumed health care cost trend rates at December 31 are:

    2004    2003___________________________________________________
Health care cost trend rate
   assumed for next year 10.0% 11.0%
Rate to which the cost trend rate
   gradually declines  5.0% 5.0%
Year the rate reaches the ultimate rate 2010 2010
 
Assumed health care cost trend rates have a significant 
effect on the amounts reported for the health care plans.  
A one percentage-point change in assumed health care 
cost trend rates would have the following effects:    

    One Percentage Point                                                       _______________________
(add 000) Increase   (Decrease)___________________________________________________
Total service and interest cost 
   components $   221 $   (190)
Postretirement benefit obligation $3,599 $(3,096)

The Corporation’s estimate of its contributions to its 
postretirement health care plans in 2005 is approximately 
$3,100,000.  

The expected benefit payments for each of the next five 
years and the five-year period thereafter are as follow:

(add 000)___________________________________________________
2005   $ 3,858
2006   $ 3,894
2007   $ 4,086
2008   $ 4,193
2009   $ 4,312
Years 2010-2014   $ 22,597

Effective July 1, 2004, the Corporation adopted the account-
ing guidance of FSP FAS 106-2, which reduced its postretire-
ment health care plans’ accumulated postretirement benefit 
obligation by $3,003,000 and 2004 expense by $174,000.
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Defined Contribution Plans.  The Corporation main-
tains three defined contribution plans that cover sub-
stantially all employees.  These plans, intended to be 
qualified under Section 401(a) of the Internal Revenue 
Code, are retirement savings and investment plans for the 
Corporation’s salaried and hourly employees. Under cer-
tain provisions of these plans, the Corporation, at estab-
lished rates, matches employees’ eligible contributions.  
The Corporation’s matching obligations were $4,649,000 
in 2004, $4,516,000 in 2003 and $4,705,000 in 2002.  

Postemployment Benefits.   The Corporation has accrued 
postemployment benefits of $1,881,000 and $1,877,000 
at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Note K: Stock Options and Award Plans
The shareholders approved, on May 8, 1998, the Martin 
Marietta Materials, Inc. Stock-Based Award Plan, as amended 
from time to time (along with the Amended Omnibus 
Securities Award Plan, originally approved in 1994, the 
“Plans”). In connection with the Plans, as of December 31, 
2004, the Corporation was authorized to repurchase up to 
3,800,000 shares of the Corporation’s common stock for 
issuance under the Plans.

Under the Plans, the Corporation grants options to 
employees to purchase its common stock at a price equal 
to the market value at the date of grant. These options 
become exercisable in three equal annual installments 
beginning one year after date of grant and expire ten 
years from such date. The Plans allow the Corporation 
to provide for financing of purchases, subject to certain 
conditions, by interest-bearing notes payable to the 
Corporation. However, the Corporation has provided no 
such financing.

The Plans provide that each nonemployee director 
receives 3,000 non-qualified stock options annually. The 
Corporation grants the nonemployee directors options to 
purchase its common stock at a price equal to the market 
value at the date of grant. These options vest immediately 
upon grant and expire ten years from such date.

The following table includes summary information for 
stock options for employees and nonemployee director 
awards:

 Number of  Weighted-
  Options Average
 Outstanding Exercise Price__________________________________________________
Balance at December 31, 2001 2,286,424  $41.61
Granted 552,000 $36.55
Exercised (30,167) $25.74
Terminated (55,751) $46.22_________________________________
Balance at December 31, 2002 2,752,506  $40.68
Granted 532,750 $38.32
Exercised (52,799) $24.73
Terminated (52,584) $41.15_________________________________
Balance at December 31, 2003 3,179,873  $40.80
Granted 516,000 $42.38
Exercised (146,470) $30.96
Terminated (52,754) $43.99_________________________________
Balance at December 31, 2004 3,496,649 $41.16_______________________
 
Exercise prices for options outstanding as of December 31, 
2004 ranged from $20.00 to $63.44. The weighted-aver-
age remaining contractual life of those options is 6.4 years.  
Approximately 2,511,000, 2,171,000 and 1,738,000 out-
standing options were exercisable at December 31, 2004, 
2003 and 2002, respectively. The weighted-average exer-
cise price of outstanding exercisable options at December 
31, 2004 is $41.60.  

The following table summarizes information for options 
outstanding and exercisable at December 31, 2004:

  Options Outstanding           __________________________________________________
   Weighted- Weighted-
 Range of Number of  Average Average
 Prices Shares Remaining Life Exercise Price__________________________________________________
$20.00-$24.25 186,518 1.2 $22.48
$32.37-$48.75 3,286,131 6.7 $42.10
$51.50-$63.44 24,000 4.8 $57.47

                                        Options Exercisable           __________________________________________________
   Weighted- Weighted-
 Range of Number of  Average Average
 Prices Shares Remaining Life Exercise Price__________________________________________________
$20.00-$24.25 186,518 1.2 $22.48
$32.37-$48.75 2,300,710 5.7 $42.98
$51.50-$63.44 24,000 4.8 $57.47

Additionally, an incentive stock plan has been adopted 
under the Plans whereby certain participants may elect to 
use up to 50% of their annual incentive compensation to 
acquire units representing shares of the Corporation’s com-
mon stock at a 20% discount to the market value on the 
date of the incentive compensation award.  Certain execu-
tive officers are required to participate in the incentive 
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stock plan at certain minimum levels. Stock unit awards 
representing 34,331, 47,680 and 38,452 shares of the 
Corporation’s common stock were awarded in 2004, 2003 
and 2002, respectively.  The weighted-average grant-
date fair value of these awards was $46.80, $28.15 and 
$43.91, respectively.  Participants earn the right to receive 
their respective shares at the discounted value generally at 
the end of a 35-month period of additional employment 
from the date of award or at retirement beginning at age 
62. All rights of ownership of the common stock convey 
to the participants upon the issuance of their respective 
shares at the end of the ownership-vesting period, with 
the exception of dividend equivalents that are paid on the 
units during the vesting period.

In 2004 and 2003, respectively, the Corporation granted 
7,478 and 192,793 restricted stock awards under the 
Plans to a group of executive officers and key person-
nel. The weighted-average grant-date fair value of these 
awards was $46.80 and $40.64 in 2004 and 2003, respec-
tively. Certain restricted stock awards are based on a spe-
cific common stock performance criteria over a specified 
period of time. In addition, certain awards were granted 
to individuals to encourage retention and motivate key 
employees.  These awards generally vest if the executive 
is continuously employed on December 1 in the year that 
is immediately preceding three or five years from the date 
of grant, upon turning age 62 or on the sixth anniversary 
from the date of grant.

At December 31, 2004, there are approximately 1,537,000 
awards available for grant under the Plans.

In 1996, the Corporation adopted the Shareholder Value 
Achievement Plan to award shares of the Corporation’s 
common stock to key senior employees based on certain 
common stock performance criteria over a long-term 
period. Under the terms of this plan, 250,000 shares of 
common stock are reserved for grant. Stock units poten-
tially representing 50,804 shares of the Corporation’s 
common stock were granted under this plan in 2000.  
Based on the performance of the Corporation’s common 
stock, the Corporation issued 9,207 shares of common 
stock in January 2003, representing stock awards granted 
in 2000. No additional awards have been granted under 
this plan after 2000.

Also, the Corporation adopted and the shareholders 
approved the Common Stock Purchase Plan for Directors in 
1996, which provides nonemployee directors the election to 
receive all or a portion of their total fees in the form of the 
Corporation’s common stock. Under the terms of this plan, 
300,000 shares of common stock were reserved for issu-
ance. Currently, directors are required to defer at least 50% 
of their retainer in the form of the Corporation’s common 
stock at a 20% discount to market value.  Directors elected 
to defer portions of their fees representing 12,007, 16,941 
and 14,080 shares of the Corporation’s common stock under 
this plan during 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.  

Note L: Leases
Total lease expense for all operating leases was   
$57,291,000, $55,665,000 and $53,950,000 for the years 
ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.  
The Corporation’s operating leases generally contain 
renewal and/or purchase options with varying terms. The 
Corporation has royalty agreements that generally require 
royalty payments based on tons produced and also con-
tain minimum payments. Total royalties, principally for 
leased properties, were $34,692,000, $33,362,000 and 
$31,155,000 for the years ended December 31, 2004, 
2003 and 2002, respectively. Future minimum lease and 
mineral and other royalty commitments for all noncancel-
able agreements as of December 31, 2004 are as follow:

(add 000)___________________________________________________
2005   $ 43,730
2006    38,258
2007    34,485
2008    25,068
2009    15,011
Thereafter     38,892___________________________________________________
Total        $ 195,444     _______________________
Note M:  Shareholders’ Equity
The authorized capital structure of the Corporation includes 
10,000,000 shares of preferred stock with par value of 
$0.01 a share. 100,000 shares of Class A Preferred Stock 
have been reserved in connection with the Corporation’s 
Shareholders Rights Plan. In addition, the capital structure 
includes 100,000,000 shares of common stock, with a par 
value of $0.01 a share. At December 31, 2004, approxi-
mately 5,800,000 common shares were reserved for 
issuance under benefit and stock-based incentive plans.  
At December 31, 2004 and 2003, there were 1,115 and 
1,215, respectively, shareholders of record.
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At December 31, 2004, approximately 3,800,000 shares 
of the Corporation’s common stock are authorized to be 
repurchased under various stock-based compensation and 
common stock purchase plans and are outstanding under the 
Board’s authorization. During 2004 and 2003, respectively, 
the Corporation repurchased 1,522,200 and 331,100 shares 
of its common stock at public market prices at various pur-
chase dates. There were no shares repurchased in 2002.

The Corporation issued 244,300 shares of common stock 
for acquisitions in 2002.

Note N: Commitments and Contingencies
The Corporation is engaged in certain legal and adminis-
trative proceedings incidental to its normal business activi-
ties.  While it is not possible to determine the ultimate 
outcome of those actions at this time, in the opinion of 
management and counsel, it is unlikely that the out-
come of such litigation and other proceedings, including 
those pertaining to environmental matters (see Note A), 
will have a material adverse effect on the results of the 
Corporation’s operations or on its financial position.

Asset Retirement Obligations.  The Corporation incurs 
reclamation costs as part of its aggregates mining process.  
Effective January 1, 2003, the Corporation adopted FAS 
143. The cumulative effect of the adoption was a charge 
of $6,874,000, or $0.l4 per diluted share, which is net of 
a $4,498,000 income tax benefit.

The estimated future reclamation obligations have been 
discounted to their present value and are being accreted 
to their projected future obligations via charges to operat-
ing expenses. Additionally, the fixed assets recorded con-
currently with the liabilities are being depreciated over the 
period until reclamation activities are expected to occur.  
Total accretion and depreciation expenses for 2004 and 
2003 were $1,710,000 and $1,692,000, respectively, and 
are included in other operating income and expenses, net, 
on the consolidated statements of earnings.

The provisions of FAS 143 require the projected estimated 
reclamation obligation to include a market risk premium 
which represents the amount an external party would 
charge for bearing the uncertainty of guaranteeing a fixed 
price today for performance in the future. However, due 
to the average remaining quarry life exceeding 50 years 

at current production rates and the nature of quarry rec-
lamation work, the Corporation believes that it is imprac-
tical for external parties to agree to a fixed price today.  
Therefore, a market risk premium has not been included 
in the estimated reclamation obligation.

The following shows the changes in the asset retirement 
obligations for the years ended December 31:

(add 000) 2004    2003 ___________________________________________________
Balance at January 1 $19,629 $18,122
Accretion expense 1,029 1,028
Liabilities incurred 239 763
Liabilities settled (1,210) (284)
Revisions in estimated cash flows 598 ––___________________________________________________
Balance at December 31 $20,285 $19,629  _______________________
The following pro forma information presents net earn-
ings, excluding the cumulative effect of the accounting 
change, and earnings per diluted share as if FAS 143 had 
been adopted on January 1, 2002:

(add 000, except per share)       2002___________________________________________________
Net earnings   $ 85,198___________________________________________________
Earnings per diluted share   $ 1.74_______________________
Other Environmental Matters. The Corporation’s opera-
tions are subject to and affected by federal, state and local 
laws and regulations relating to the environment, health 
and safety and other regulatory matters.  Certain of the 
Corporation’s operations, may, from time to time, involve 
the use of substances that are classified as toxic or hazard-
ous within the meaning of these laws and regulations.  
Environmental operating permits are, or may be, required 
for certain of the Corporation’s operations, and such per-
mits are subject to modification, renewal and revocation.  
The Corporation regularly monitors and reviews its opera-
tions, procedures and policies for compliance with these 
laws and regulations. Despite these compliance efforts, 
risk of environmental remediation liability is inherent in the 
operation of the Corporation’s businesses, as it is with other 
companies engaged in similar businesses. The Corporation 
has no material provisions for environmental remediation 
liabilities and does not believe such liabilities will have a 
material adverse effect on the Corporation in the future.

Insurance Reserves and Letters of Credit.  The Corporation 
has insurance coverage for workers’ compensation, auto-
mobile liability and general liability claims with deductibles 
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ranging from $250,000 to $1,500,000. The Corporation 
is also self-insured for health claims. During 2003, the 
Corporation decreased its accrual for incurred but not 
reported health claims based on the Corporation’s recent 
claims experience. The change in estimate increased 
net earnings by approximately $1,150,000, or $0.02 per 
diluted share. At December 31, 2004 and 2003, reserves 
of approximately $27,500,000 and $26,400,000, respec-
tively, were recorded for all such insurance claims. In con-
nection with these workers’ compensation and automobile 
and general liability insurance deductibles, the Corporation 
has entered into standby letter of credit agreements of 
$24,560,000 at December 31, 2004.

Guarantee Liability.  At December 31, 2004 and 2003, 
the Corporation recorded a liability of $4,800,000 and 
$6,000,000, respectively, for a guarantee of debt of a lim-
ited liability company of which it is a member.

Surety Bonds. In the normal course of business, at 
December 31, 2004, the Corporation was contingently 
liable for $129,751,000 in surety bonds required by 
certain states and municipalities and their related agen-
cies. The bonds are principally for certain construction 
contracts, reclamation obligations and mining permits 
guaranteeing the Corporation’s own performance. The 
Corporation has indemnified the underwriting insurance 
company against any exposure under the surety bonds.  
In the Corporation’s past experience, no material claims 
have been made against these financial instruments. Four 
of these bonds, totaling $44,141,000, or 34% of all out-
standing surety bonds, relate to specific performance for 
road construction projects currently underway.  

Purchase Commitments. The Corporation had pur-
chase commitments for property, plant and equipment 
of $19,621,000 and other purchase obligations related 
to energy and service contracts of $26,765,000 as of 
December 31, 2004.  The Corporation’s contractual 
purchase commitments as of December 31, 2004 are as 
follow:

(add 000)___________________________________________________
2005   $ 36,797
2006    4,867
2007    4,722___________________________________________________
Total        $ 46,386     ________________________
Employees. The Corporation had approximately 5,600 
employees at December 31, 2004.  Approximately 15% 
of the Corporation’s employees are represented by a labor 
union. All such employees are hourly employees.

Note O: Business Segments
The Corporation conducts its operations through two 
reportable business segments: Aggregates and Specialty 
Products. The Corporation’s evaluation of performance 
and allocation of resources are based primarily on earn-
ings from operations as compared to assets employed.  
Earnings from operations are net sales less cost of sales, 
selling, general and administrative expenses, and research 
and development expenses; include other operating 
income and expenses, and exclude interest expense, other 
nonoperating income and expenses, net, and income 
taxes. Assets employed by segment include assets directly 
identified with those operations. Corporate headquarters’ 
assets consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents, and 
property, plant and equipment for corporate operations, 
principally related to the new information systems. All 
debt and the related interest expense are held at corporate 
headquarters. Property additions include property, plant 
and equipment that has been purchased through acquisi-
tions in the amount of $667,000 in 2004; $2,913,000 in 
2003; and $23,611,000 in 2002.

The following tables display selected financial data for 
the Corporation’s reportable business segments for each 
of the three years in the period ended December 31, 
2004.  The product lines, asphalt, ready mixed concrete, 
construction and other, are combined into the Aggregates 
segment because these lines are considered internal cus-
tomers of the core aggregates business. The Specialty 
Products segment includes the Magnesia Specialties and 
Structural Composite Products businesses.
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Selected Financial Data by Business Segment

years ended December 31  
(add 000)

Total revenues  2004  2003  2002______________________________________________________ 
Aggregates $ 1,641,690 $ 1,590,135 $ 1,508,510
Specialty Products  117,923  94,413  80,043______________________________________________________ 
Total $ 1,759,613 $ 1,684,548 $ 1,588,553_______________________
Net sales  ______________________________________________________ 
Aggregates $ 1,441,233 $ 1,387,816 $ 1,324,879
Specialty Products  110,094  88,330  75,507______________________________________________________ 
Total $ 1,551,327 $ 1,476,146 $ 1,400,386_______________________
Gross profit ______________________________________________________ 
Aggregates $ 323,178 $ 299,975 $ 276,691
Specialty Products  19,012  9,554  10,760______________________________________________________ 
Total $ 342,190 $ 309,529 $ 287,451_______________________
Selling, general and administrative expenses  ______________________________________________________ 
Aggregates $ 116,601 $ 112,573 $ 105,890
Specialty Products  11,075  7,967  7,410______________________________________________________ 
Total $ 127,676 $ 120,540 $ 113,300_______________________
Earnings from operations______________________________________________________ 
Aggregates $ 220,180 $ 195,364 $ 175,841
Specialty Products  6,412  91  2,650______________________________________________________ 
Total $ 226,592 $ 195,455 $ 178,491_______________________
Assets employed ______________________________________________________ 
Aggregates $ 2,055,862 $ 2,025,945 $ 2,108,834
Specialty Products  81,032  76,805  66,128
Corporate headquarters  218,958  216,475  90,588______________________________________________________ 
Total $ 2,355,852 $ 2,319,225 $ 2,265,550_______________________
Depreciation, depletion and amortization______________________________________________________ 
Aggregates $ 119,268 $ 127,743 $ 128,078
Specialty Products  6,179  5,544  5,473
Corporate headquarters  7,412  6,319  5,145______________________________________________________ 
Total $ 132,859 $ 139,606 $ 138,696_______________________
Property additions______________________________________________________ 
Aggregates $ 147,956 $ 115,031 $ 162,116
Specialty Products  8,295  5,236  2,654
Corporate headquarters  7,861  3,284  11,521______________________________________________________ 
Total $ 164,112 $ 123,551 $ 176,291_______________________

The following table displays total revenues by product line 
for the years ended December 31: 

(add 000)  2004  2003  2002______________________________________________________ 
Aggregates $ 1,505,017 $ 1,448,044 $ 1,361,861
Asphalt  71,708  76,176  77,136
Ready mixed concrete  31,549  31,005  29,114
Road paving  23,195  24,283  30,037
Other  10,221  10,627  10,362______________________________________________________ 
Total Aggregates segment  1,641,690  1,590,135  1,508,510
Specialty Products  117,923  94,413  80,043______________________________________________________ 
Total $ 1,759,613 $ 1,684,548 $ 1,588,553_______________________
Note P: Supplemental Cash Flow and Other Information
The following presents supplemental cash flow informa-
tion for the years ended December 31:

(add 000) 2004 2003 2002___________________________________________________
Cash paid for interest $44,926 $ 46,813 $47,082
Cash paid for taxes  $13,433   $ 14,832  $25,355
Noncash investing and 
  financing activities:
  Exchange of quarries $       — $        — $10,500
  Value of common stock 
    issued in connection with 
    acquisitions $       — $        — $  9,718
  Debt assumed in connection 
    with acquisitions $       — $        — $  7,500
   Notes receivable issued in 
    connection with divestitures $12,000 $ 10,273 $ 5,645

The following presents the components of the change in other 
assets and liabilities, net, for the years ended December 31:

(add 000) 2004 2003 2002___________________________________________________
Other current and  
  noncurrent assets $   9,345 $ (8,229) $     92
Notes receivable (9,311) 3,839 1,398
Accrued salaries, benefits  
  and payroll taxes (6,563) 510 (1,584)
Accrued insurance and  
  other taxes (2,022) 5,261 246
Accrued income taxes 6,161 11,777 (1,749)
Accrued pension, postretirement 
  and postemployment benefits (39,483) (6,687) 12,071
Other current and noncurrent
  liabilities 101 (1,557) (7,172)___________________________________________________
Total  $(41,772) $  4,914 $ 3,302_______________________
The following table presents domestic and foreign total 
revenues for the years ended December 31:

(add 000) 2004 2003 2002___________________________________________________
Domestic $1,728,072 $1,657,475 $1,568,300
Foreign  31,541 27,073 20,253___________________________________________________
Total  $1,759,613 $1,684,548 $1,588,553_______________________
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C O N D I T I O N  &  R E S U L T S  O F  O P E R A T I O N S

INTRODUCTORY OVERVIEW
Martin Marietta Materials, Inc., (the “Corporation”) is 
the nation’s second largest producer of construction 
aggregates and a leading producer of magnesia-based 
chemicals.  The Corporation is also developing structural 
composite products for use in a wide variety of industries.  
The overall areas of focus for the Corporation on an ongoing 
basis include the following:

• Maximize shareholder return long-term by pursuing 
sound growth and earnings objectives;

•  Conduct business in full compliance with applicable laws, 
rules, regulations and the highest standards of ethics;

•  Provide a safe and healthy workplace for the 
Corporation’s employees; and

•  Reflect all aspects of good citizenship by being respon-
sible neighbors.

The highlights of the Corporation’s financial condition 
and operating results for 2004 include:

• Continued improvement in balance sheet strength;
• Gross margin improvement in core aggregates business 

as a result of:
 – leverage from general economic improvement; 
 – cost structure improvement from plant modernization  

   and productivity improvement initiatives; and
 – focus on expanding business in high growth  

  markets, particularly in the Southeast and Southwest.
• Continued maximization of transportation and material 

options created by the Corporation’s long-haul 
 distribution network;
• Divestiture of certain underperforming assets;
•  Realization of benefits from restructuring the Magnesia 

Specialties operations;
• Improvement in employee safety performance; and
• Successful documentation and evaluation of the system 

of internal control over financial reporting as required 
under Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

In 2005, management will focus on, among other things, 
the following initiatives:

• Profit margin improvement by maximizing pricing 
opportunities and continued focus on cost structure;

• Continued divestitures of nonstrategic assets; 
• Maximization of return on invested capital; and
• Build the revenue base of the Structural Composite 

Products business

In addition, management considers each of the following 
factors in evaluating the Corporation’s financial condition 
and operating results.

Aggregates Economic Considerations
The construction aggregates business is a commodity-type 
business that is cyclical and dependent on activity within 
the construction marketplace.  The principal end-users are 
in public infrastructure (e.g., highways, bridges, schools and 
prisons), commercial (e.g., office buildings and malls) and 
residential construction markets.  As discussed further under 
the section Aggregates Industry and Corporation Trends on 
pages 41 and 42, end-user markets respond to changing 
economic conditions in different ways.  Public infrastructure 
construction is typically more stable than commercial and 
residential construction due to funding from federal and 
state governments.  Commercial and residential construction 
levels are interest-rate sensitive and typically move in a direct 
relationship with economic cycles. 

The industry and the Corporation are focusing, in the 
near term, on the passage of a new federal highway pro-
gram.  As discussed under the section Federal and State 
Highway Appropriations on pages 45 and 46, management 
believes that a federal highway program funding bill will 
be approved at a higher level than the previous bill, which 
expired on September 30, 2003.  Since then, the highway 
program has been operating under a continuing resolution 
that currently expires on May 31, 2005.  The spending 
level for fiscal year 2005 of $34.6 billion under the cur-
rent continuing resolution is higher than previous levels.  
However, the debate on funding levels, terms and duration 
will continue in 2005, and the level of highway spending 
will continue to be uncertain until a federal highway bill is 
finalized and state construction spending priorities are set.

Residential construction spending increased in 2004 as 
compared with 2003.  Commercial construction spend-
ing, while beginning to recover in some areas of the 
United States, was still at a low level in 2004.

In 2004, the Corporation shipped 191.5 million tons 
of aggregates to customers in 32 states, Canada, the 
Bahamas and the Caribbean Islands from 308 quarries 
and distribution yards.  Additionally, the Corporation sells 
asphalt and ready mixed concrete from 17 plants.  While 
the Corporation’s aggregates operations cover a wide 



Martin Marietta Materials, Inc. and Consolidated Subsidiaries        page thirty-five

M A N A G E M E N T ’ S  D I S C U S S I O N  &  A N A L Y S I S  O F  F I N A N C I A L  
C O N D I T I O N  &  R E S U L T S  O F  O P E R A T I O N S  ( C O N T I N U E D )

geographic area, financial results depend on the strength 
of the applicable local economies because of the high cost 
of transportation relative to the price of the product.  The 
Aggregates division’s top five revenue-generating states, 
namely Texas, North Carolina, Georgia, Iowa and Indiana, 
accounted for approximately 57% of 2004 net sales by state 
of destination, while the top ten revenue-generating states 
accounted for approximately 79% of 2004 net sales.  
Management closely monitors economic conditions and 
public infrastructure spending in the market areas within 
these states where its operations are located.

Aggregates Industry Considerations
The construction aggregates business is conducted out-
doors.  Therefore, seasonal changes and other weather-
related conditions significantly affect the aggregates 
industry and can impact the Aggregates division’s produc-
tion schedules and levels of profitability. 
  
While natural aggregates sources typically occur in relatively 
homogeneous deposits throughout the United States, the 
challenge facing aggregates producers is to locate aggre-
gates deposits that are economically mineable, can be 
permitted and are in the proximity of growing markets.  
Currently, this is becoming more challenging as residen-
tial expansion and other real estate development have 
encroached on attractive quarrying locations, imposing 
regulatory constraints or otherwise making these locations 
impractical.  Management believes the Corporation con-
tinues to meet this challenge through strategic planning 
efforts to identify site locations in advance of economic 
expansion and the development of a long-haul distribution 
network.  This network moves aggregates materials from 
aggregates sources, both domestic and offshore, via rail 
and water, to markets where aggregates supply is limited.  
This emerging trend introduces risks and affects operating 
results as discussed more fully under the sections Analysis 
of Margins and Transportation Exposure on pages 39 and 40 
and pages 47 through 49, respectively.

Over the past ten years, the aggregates industry has 
been in a consolidation trend.  The Corporation actively 
participated in the consolidation of the industry.  In fact, 
approximately 49% of the Corporation’s 2004 net sales are 
derived from acquisitions that have occurred since January 
1, 1995.  When acquired, new locations generally do not 
satisfy the Corporation’s internal safety, maintenance and 

pit development standards and, therefore, require additional 
resources before the Corporation realizes the benefits of 
the acquisitions.  Management continues to integrate and 
upgrade its acquired operations.  The consolidation trend is 
slowing for the industry as the number of suitable acquisi-
tion targets in high growth markets shrinks.  As acquisition 
growth slows, the Corporation has focused on investing in 
internal expansion projects in high growth markets and on 
divesting of nonstrategic, underperforming operations.

Aggregates Financial Considerations
The production of construction-related aggregates products 
requires a significant capital investment leading to high 
fixed and semi-fixed costs, as discussed more fully under 
the section Cost Structure on page 47. Therefore, oper-
ating results and financial performance are sensitive to 
volume changes.  Management evaluates financial per-
formance in a variety of ways.  However, gross profit as 
a percentage of net sales (“gross margin”) is a significant 
measure of financial performance reviewed by manage-
ment on a quarry-by-quarry basis. The movement toward 
higher gross margin levels is a goal of management. The 
recent divestitures of nonstrategic assets, such as several 
Houston asphalt plants and the road paving business in the 
Shreveport, Louisiana market, is expected to improve overall 
gross margin prospectively.  Internally, other key perfor-
mance indicators management also reviews are changes in 
average selling prices, costs per ton produced and return 
on invested capital for the aggregates business.  While the 
change in average selling prices demonstrates economic and 
competitive conditions, changes in costs per ton produced 
are indicative of operating efficiency.

Other Business Considerations
The Corporation also produces dolomitic lime and magnesia-
based chemicals through its Magnesia Specialties busi-
ness and is developing a structural composite products 
business. These businesses are reported in the Specialty 
Products segment.

The dolomitic lime business is dependent on the highly 
cyclical steel industry, and operating results are affected 
by changes in that industry.  In the chemical products 
component, management has strategically shifted the 
focus of the business to higher margin specialty chemicals 
that can be produced at volume levels that support effi-
cient operations.  Management believes that this focus, 
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coupled with the joint venture brine pipeline with The 
Dow Chemical Company, has improved the position of 
the magnesia chemicals business.  Further, current and 
forecasted supply shortages in the dolomitic lime market 
have created an opportunity for management to con-
sider an additional capital investment in this business.  
Management will consider pricing, costs and logistical 
issues, in addition to the outlook for the steel industry, 
to determine if the additional capital investment would 
provide an acceptable internal rate of return.  A significant 
portion of the cost related to the production of dolomitic 
lime and magnesia chemical products is of a fixed or semi-
fixed nature.  In addition, the production of dolomitic lime 
and certain magnesia chemical products requires the use 
of natural gas, coal and petroleum coke, and fluctuations 
in their pricing directly affect operating results.  

The Corporation is engaged in developmental activities 
related to fiber-reinforced composite technology.  The 
Corporation’s strategic objective for Structural Composite 
Products is to create a business with characteristics that 
include high organic growth rates, low capital intensity and 
noncyclicality, based on diverse products and opportunities 
for substitution for existing structural materials.  The recent 
and near-term focus is on product trials and commercializa-
tion.  This business is approximately six months behind plan 
in the commercialization phase.  Improved performance in 
2005 is essential to continued investment in this business. 
Revenue has been insignificant to date, and, as with any 
start-up opportunity, development activities are subject 
to uncertainty and risks (see section Structural Composite 
Products Business on pages 51 and 52).

Cash Flow Considerations
The Corporation’s cash flows are generated primarily from 
operations.  Operating cash flows generally fund working 
capital needs, capital expenditures, dividends, share repur-
chases and smaller acquisitions.  Cash generation through 
debt has been related to large acquisitions.  Equity has 
been used for smaller acquisitions as appropriate.  During 
2004, the Corporation’s management continued to focus 

on increasing available cash while demonstrating its com-
mitment to shareholders and employees through share 
repurchases, increased dividends and voluntary contribu-
tions to the Corporation’s pension plan.

FINANCIAL OVERVIEW
The discussion and analysis that follow reflect manage-
ment’s assessment of the financial condition and results 
of operations of the Corporation and should be read in 
conjunction with the audited consolidated financial state-
ments on pages 10 through 33. As discussed in more 
detail herein, the Corporation’s operating results are highly 
dependent upon activity within the construction and 
steel-related marketplaces, economic cycles within the 
public and private business sectors and seasonal and other 
weather-related conditions. Accordingly, the financial 
results for a particular year, or year-to-year comparisons of 
reported results, may not be indicative of future operating 
results. The Corporation’s Aggregates division generated 
93% of net sales and 97% of the operating earnings dur-
ing 2004.  The remaining net sales and operating earnings 
are attributable to the Corporation’s Specialty Products 
division. The following comparative analysis and discus-
sion should be read in that context.  The comparative 
analysis in this Management’s Discussion and Analysis of 
Financial Condition and Results of Operations is based 
on net sales and cost of sales and is consistent with the 
basis by which management reviews the Corporation’s 
operating results.

Further, sensitivity analysis and certain other data are 
provided to enhance the reader’s understanding of 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial 
Condition and Results of Operations and is not intend-
ed to be indicative of management’s judgment of 
materiality.  
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Net Sales
Net sales by reporting segment for the years ended 
December 31 were as follows:

(add 000) 2004          2003 2002______________________________________________________ 
Aggregates $1,441,233 $1,387,816 $1,324,879
Specialty Products       110,094       88,330 75,507  _____ __________ __________
Total $1,551,327 $1,476,146 $1,400,386  _____ __________ __________  _____ __________ __________

Aggregates.  Net sales growth in the Aggregates segment 
resulted primarily from strong pricing improvement.   
Aggregates average sales price increases were as follows 
for the years ended December 31:
 2004 2003 2002______________________________________________________ 
Heritage Aggregates Operations1 3.2% 1.3% 2.4%
Aggregates Division 3.2% 1.6% 2.8%

1 For purposes of determining heritage sales price increases, the percent-
age change for the year is calculated using the then heritage aggre-
gates prices.

The average annual heritage price increase for the five 
years ended December 31, 2004 was 2.6%. Aggregates 
sales price increases in 2003 and 2002 were negatively 
affected by the recessionary construction economy 
experienced in those years.

Aggregates shipments of 191.5 million tons in 2004 
remained relatively flat as compared with 2003.  In 2003, total 
aggregates shipments increased 1.6% to 191.6 million tons as 
compared with 2002 shipments of 188.6 million tons.  

Shipments (thousands of tons) 2004          2003 2002______________________________________________________ 
Heritage Aggregates
  Operations2 190,037 187,719 179,712
Divestitures3       1,431       3,875 8,875  _____ __________ __________
Aggregates Division 191,468 191,594 188,587  _____ __________ __________  _____ __________ __________

2 Heritage aggregates operations exclude acquisitions that were not 
included in 2004 and 2003 operations for the full fiscal year.

3 Divestitures represent tons related to divested operations up to the 
date of divestiture.

Results of Operations
The Corporation’s consolidated operating results and operating results as a percentage of net sales were as follows:

years ended December 31  % of   % of   % of 
(add 000) 2004 Net Sales 2003 Net Sales 2002 Net Sales ____________________________________________________________________________________________________________
Net sales $ 1,551,327 100.0% $ 1,476,146 100.0% $ 1,400,386 100.0%
Cost of sales  1,209,137 77.9  1,166,617 79.0  1,112,935 79.5____________________________________________________________________________________________________________
Gross profit  342,190 22.1  309,529 21.0  287,451 20.5
Selling, general and 
  administrative expenses  127,676 8.2  120,540 8.2  113,300 8.1
Research and development  891 0.1  612 0.1  369 0.0
Other operating (income) and 
  expenses, net  (12,969) (0.8)  (7,078) (0.5)  (4,709) (0.3)____________________________________________________________________________________________________________
Earnings from operations  226,592 14.6  195,455 13.2  178,491 12.7
Interest expense  42,954 2.7  42,587 2.9  44,028 3.1
Other nonoperating (income) and 
  expenses, net  (1,084) (0.0)  429 0.0  11,476 0.8____________________________________________________________________________________________________________
Earnings from continuing operations
  before taxes on income and
  cumulative effect of change in
  accounting principle  184,722 11.9  152,439 10.3  122,987 8.8
Taxes on income  56,543 3.6  45,198 3.0  32,161 2.3____________________________________________________________________________________________________________
Earnings from continuing operations
  before cumulative effect of change 
  in accounting principle  128,179 8.3  107,241 7.3  90,826 6.5
Discontinued operations, net of taxes  984 0.0  (6,744) (0.5)  6,989 0.5____________________________________________________________________________________________________________
Earnings before cumulative effect of 
  change in accounting principle  129,163 8.3  100,497 6.8  97,815 7.0
Cumulative effect of change in 
  accounting principle  — —  (6,874) (0.5)  (11,510) (0.8)____________________________________________________________________________________________________________
Net earnings $ 129,163 8.3% $ 93,623 6.3% $ 86,305 6.2%_______________________________________
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Specialty Products.  Specialty Products net sales growth 
was the result of strong lime sales at increased prices 
to the steel industry and increased chemical sales to a 
variety of end users.  Net sales of $110.1 million in 2004 
increased 25% as compared with 2003, while net sales in 
2003 increased 17% over 2002.  

Cost of Sales
Cost of sales, as a percentage of net sales, decreased as 
plant and mobile fleet modernization and productivity 
improvement initiatives improved the Corporation’s cost 
structure, in spite of rising energy, steel and manganese, 
and health and welfare costs.  

The Corporation’s operating leverage can be substantial due to 
the high fixed and semi-fixed costs associated with aggregates 
production. During 2004, production at heritage locations 
increased 3.9% above 2003 levels to better match shipments.  
Aggregates inventory levels were decreased in 2003.  

Gross Profit
Gross margin is a measure of a company’s efficiency during 
the production process. The Corporation’s gross margin 
improved during 2004 as pricing improvements and pro-
ductivity gains outpaced increases in production costs.   

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
Selling, general and administrative expenses, as a percent-
age of net sales, were flat at 8.2%, 8.2% and 8.1% for the 
years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respec-
tively.  The absolute dollar increase of $7.1 million in 2004 
as compared with 2003 resulted from increased incentive 
compensation and Sarbanes-Oxley regulatory compliance 
costs.  The increase of $7.2 million in 2003 from 2002 was 
due to increased employee benefit costs.

Other Operating Income and Expenses, Net
Among other items, other operating income and expenses, 
net, include gains and losses on the sale of assets; gains and 
losses related to certain amounts receivable; rental, royalty 
and services income; and, for 2004 and 2003, the accre-
tion and depreciation expenses related to Statement of 
Financial Accounting Standards No. 143, Accounting for Asset 
Retirement Obligations (“FAS 143”).  In 2004, other operating 
income included a pretax gain of $5.0 million on the sale of 
certain asphalt plants in the Houston, Texas market where 
the Corporation has a continuing financial interest.

Earnings from Operations
Operating margin, defined as earnings from operations 
divided by net sales, measures a company’s operat-
ing profitability. The Corporation’s operating margin 
improved 140 basis points in 2004 as compared with prior 
year, the result of gross margin improvement and higher 
gains from the sales of assets.  

Interest Expense
Interest expense increased slightly as compared with 2003 
as a result of higher interest rates during the year and lower 
capitalized interest.  The 2003 decrease in interest expense 
as compared with 2002 related to lower average outstand-
ing debt partially offset by lower capitalized interest.  

Other Nonoperating Income and Expenses, Net
Other nonoperating income and expenses, net, are com-
prised generally of interest income, net equity earnings from 
nonconsolidated investments and eliminations of minority 
interests for consolidated, non-wholly owned subsidiaries. In 
2002, other nonoperating income and expenses, net, includ-
ed $7.2 million of expenses related to legal settlements and to 
reserve an investment related to microwave technologies.

Income Taxes  
Variances in the estimated effective income tax rates, when 
compared with the federal corporate tax rate of 35%, are 
due primarily to the effect of state income taxes, the impact 
of book and tax accounting differences arising from the net 
permanent benefits associated with the depletion allowances 
for mineral reserves, foreign operating earnings, and the tax 
effect of nondeductibility of goodwill related to asset sales.  

The Corporation’s estimated effective income tax rate, 
including continuing and discontinued operations, was 
31.2% in 2004, 29.7% in 2003 and 32.2% in 2002.  The 
estimated effective income tax rate for continuing opera-
tions for 2004 was 30.6%, compared with 29.6% in 2003 
and 26.1% in 2002.  

Discontinued Operations
2004 divestitures included nonstrategic operations within 
the Aggregates segment located in markets in Alabama, 
Tennessee, Oklahoma, Louisiana, California and Washington.  
2003 divestitures included nonstrategic operations within 
the Aggregates segment located in markets in Alabama, 
Ohio, Missouri, West Virginia, Louisiana and Texas.
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The results of all divested operations through the dates of 
disposal and any gains or losses on disposals are included 
in discontinued operations on the consolidated state-
ments of earnings.  The discontinued operations included 
the following net sales, pretax loss on operations, pretax 
gain on disposals, income tax expense or benefit and net 
gain or loss for the years ended December 31 (add 000):
   2004          2003 2002______________________________________________________ 
Net sales $15,790 $ 61,723 $97,794  _____ __________ __________  _____ __________ __________

Pretax loss on operations      $ (3,630)       $(11,231) $    (338)
Pretax gain on disposals      6,727       1,794 21,621  _____ __________ __________
Pretax gain (loss)  3,097  (9,437) 21,283
Income tax expense (benefit)  2,113  (2,693) 14,294  _____ __________ __________
Net gain (loss) $    984 $ (6,744) $ 6,989  _____ _____ _____  _____ _____ _____

Net Earnings and Cumulative Effect of Changes in 
Accounting Principle
2004 net earnings of $129.2 million, or $2.66 per diluted 
share, increased 29% compared with 2003 net earnings 
of $100.5 million, or $2.05 per diluted share, which 
excludes a $0.14 per diluted share loss for the cumulative 
effect of adopting FAS 143.  

The 2003 net earnings, prior to the cumulative effect of the 
accounting change, increased 3% compared with 2002 net 
earnings of $97.8 million, or $2.00 per diluted share, which 
excludes a $0.23 per diluted share loss for the cumulative effect 
of adopting Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 
142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets (“FAS 142”).  

Analysis of Margins
The Corporation achieved its objective of overall gross 
margin improvement in 2004 by maximizing pricing 
opportunities, improving its cost structure through pro-
ductivity improvement and plant modernization initiatives 
and divesting of certain nonstrategic assets.    Consolidated 
gross margin for continuing operations for the years 
ended December 31 were as follows:

 2004 22.1%
 2003 21.0%
 2002 20.5%

 
When compared with peak gross margins in the late 
1990’s, the Aggregates division’s gross margin performance 
has been negatively affected by several factors. A primary 
factor is the expansion and development of water and 
rail distribution yards.  Most of this activity is in coastal 

areas, which generally do not have an indigenous sup-
ply of aggregates and yet exhibit above average growth 
characteristics.  Development of this distribution network 
is a key component of the Corporation’s strategic growth 
plan and has already led to increased market share in 
certain areas.  However, sales from rail and water distribu-
tion locations yield lower margins as compared with sales 
directly from quarry operations. Transportation freight 
cost from the production site to the distribution terminals 
is embedded in the delivered price of aggregates products 
and reflected in the pricing structure at the distribution 
yards.   In general, a margin is not earned on the embedded 
freight component of price (see Transportation Exposure 
section on pages 47 through 49).  In 2004, approximately 
23 million tons were sold from distribution yards, and 
results from these distribution operations reduced gross 
margin for the Aggregates division by approximately 410 
basis points. Management expects that the distribution 
network currently in place will provide the Corporation a 
greater growth opportunity than many of its competitors, 
and margins should gradually improve, subject to the 
economic environment.

Other factors, including vertical integration, a large num-
ber of internal expansion and plant improvement projects, 
acquisitions, certain nonstrategic assets and the recent 
economic recession, have further affected margin.  Gross 
margins associated with vertically integrated operations, 
including asphalt, ready mixed concrete and construc-
tion operations, are lower as compared with aggregates 
operations.  Gross margins for the Corporation’s asphalt 
and ready mixed concrete businesses typically range from 
10% to 15% as compared with the Corporation’s aggre-
gates business, which generally ranges from 20% to 25%.  
The road paving business was acquired as supplemental 
operations that were part of larger acquisitions.  As such, it 
does not represent a strategic business of the Corporation.  
The margin in this business is affected by volatile factors 
including fuel costs, operating efficiencies and weather, 
and this business has typically resulted in losses that are 
not significant to the Corporation as a whole.  In 2004, 
the mix of these operations to total aggregates opera-
tions lowered gross margin by approximately 180 basis 
points. The Corporation’s gross margin will continue to be 
adversely affected by the lower margins for these vertically 
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integrated businesses and for the water and rail distribution 
network as a result of management’s strategic growth plan.  
However, the recent disposal of certain asphalt plants in 
Houston, Texas should reduce the negative impact of verti-
cal integration on the Corporation’s gross margin. 

During 2004, the Corporation better matched produc-
tion to shipments as compared with 2003 when the 
Corporation utilized inventory control measures that 
resulted in a reduction of inventories.  This factor provided 
a positive impact on the Corporation’s earnings in 2004 
when compared with 2003.  When production levels are less 
than shipments, the change in inventory results in costs that 
were capitalized in inventory in prior periods being expensed 
in the current period.  Certain of these costs are fixed in 
nature and, as a result, negatively impact earnings.  Further, 
when production levels are less than optimal, production 
cost per unit is negatively affected by these fixed costs.  

Gross margin for the Specialty Products division was 
17.3%, 10.8% and 14.3% for the years ended December 
31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.  The 2004 improve-
ment in gross margin resulted from strong lime and 
chemical sales coupled with realization of benefits from 
the restructuring of the Magnesia Specialties opera-
tions, partially offset by start-up costs from the Structural 
Composite Products business.

Business Combinations and Divestitures
The Corporation continued its planned divestiture of 
nonstrategic operations during 2004.  These divestitures 
included three asphalt plants in Texas; three quarries in 
Tennessee; a quarry in Washington; a quarry in California; 
a ready mixed concrete plant in Louisiana; an asphalt 
plant and a trucking business in Oklahoma; and an opera-
tion in Alabama.  Additionally, the Corporation completed 
the disposal of its road paving business in the Shreveport, 
Louisiana market.

The Corporation’s divestiture of three asphalt plants in 
Texas comprised approximately 70% of its net sales of 
asphalt in the Houston area.  The Corporation received 
consideration that included a note receivable with final 
payment due September 30, 2008.  Further, in connection 
with the divestiture, the Corporation entered into a supply 
agreement at market rates with the buyer.  The divestiture 

has been included in continuing operations because of the 
Corporation’s continuing financial interest in the Houston 
asphalt market, as well as the related financing.  

During 2004, the Corporation completed one acquisi-
tion for $5.6 million in cash.  In this acquisition, the 
Corporation purchased the majority member’s ownership 
interest in a limited liability company (“LLC”) in which the 
Corporation was the other member and which operates 
an aggregates business in Mississippi.  The Corporation 
made its initial investment in the LLC in 1998. 

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price paid 
for acquired businesses over the estimated fair value of 
identifiable assets and liabilities.  The carrying value of 
goodwill is reviewed annually for impairment in accor-
dance with the provisions of FAS 142.  If this review indi-
cates that the goodwill is impaired, a charge is recorded.  
During 2002, in connection with the adoption of FAS 142, 
the Corporation recorded an impairment charge of $11.5 
million as the cumulative effect of a change in accounting 
principle (see the section Application of Critical Accounting 
Policies on pages 53 through 60).  Goodwill was as follows 
at December 31: 

 Goodwill % of Total % of Shareholders’ 
 (in millions)  Assets Equity____________________________________________________
2004 $567.5 24.1% 49.2%

2003 $577.6 24.9% 51.1%

In December 2004, the Corporation announced the for-
mation of a joint venture with Hunt Midwest Enterprises 
(“Hunt Midwest”), effective January 1, 2005, to operate 
substantially all of the aggregates facilities of both compa-
nies in Kansas City and surrounding areas.  The joint ven-
ture company, Hunt Martin Materials LLC, is 50% owned 
by each party and is the leading aggregates producer in 
the area.  The joint venture, valued at approximately $75 
million, was formed by the parties contributing a total of 
15 active quarry operations with production of approxi-
mately 7.5 million tons annually.  The Corporation will 
consolidate the financial statements of the joint venture 
effective January 1, 2005 and present minority interest 
for the net assets attributable to Hunt Midwest.  In the 
Corporation’s consolidated financial statements, the assets 
contributed by Hunt Midwest are valued at fair value on 
the date of contribution to the joint venture, while assets 
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contributed by the Corporation will continue to be valued 
at historical cost.  The terms of the joint venture agree-
ment provide that the Corporation will operate as the 
managing partner and receive a management fee based 
on tons sold.  The joint venture has a term of fifty years 
with certain purchase rights provided to the Corporation 
and Hunt Midwest.

BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT
The sections on Business Environment on pages 41 through 
52, and the disclosures therein, are intended to provide the 
reader with a synopsis of the business environment trends 
and risks facing the Corporation. However, the reader 
should understand that no single trend or risk stands alone.  
The relationship between trends and risks is dynamic, and 
this discussion should be read with this understanding.

Aggregates Industry and Corporation Trends
The Corporation’s principal business serves customers in 
construction aggregates-related markets.  This business 
is strongly affected by activity within the construction 
marketplace, which is cyclical in nature.  Accordingly, 
the Corporation’s profitability is sensitive to national, 
regional and local economic conditions and particularly 
to cyclical swings in construction 
spending.  The cyclical swings in 
construction spending are further 
affected by fluctuations in inter-
est rates, changes in the levels of 
infrastructure funding by the pub-
lic sector and demographic and 
population shifts.  

The Aggregates division sells its 
products primarily to contractors 
in connection with highway and 
other public infrastructure proj-
ects, with the balance of its sales 
to contractors in commercial and 
residential construction projects.  
While construction spending in the 
public and private market sectors is 
affected by economic cycles, there has been a tendency 
for the level of spending for infrastructure projects in the 
public-sector portion of this market to be more stable than 
spending for projects in the private sector.  Governmental 

appropriations and expenditures are typically less interest-
rate sensitive than private-sector spending, and gener-
ally improved levels of funding have enabled highway 
and other infrastructure projects to improve overall as 
compared with commercial and residential construction.  
The total value of the United States construction put in 
place on highways, streets and bridges was $65 billion 
in 2004 compared with $63 billion in 2003, according 
to the U.S. Census Bureau.  Management believes public-
works projects accounted for more than 50% of the total 
annual aggregates consumption in the United States dur-
ing 2004, which has consistently been the case for each 
year since 1990.  Since public sector-related shipments 
account for approximately 46% of the Corporation’s 2004 
aggregates shipments, the Aggregates division enjoys the 
benefit of the level of public-works construction projects. 
Accordingly, the Corporation’s management believes the 
Corporation’s exposure to fluctuations in commercial 
and residential, or private sector, construction spending 
is lessened by the division’s mix of public sector-related 
shipments.  However, delays in the passage of a federal 
highway funding authorization and state budget deficits 
have resulted in pressure on infrastructure spending.

The commercial construction mar-
ket had a slight recovery in 2004 
after monthly declines experienced 
since August 2001.  As reported by 
the U.S. Census Bureau, improve-
ments in commercial construc-
tion in 2004 occurred in the retail  
sector, most likely as a result of 
the strength of consumer spending. 
However, commercial construc-
tion still remains the weakest seg-
ment of the construction market as 
office vacancy rates remain high.  
There were modest reductions 
in office vacancy rates in certain 
regions, including Charlotte, 
North Carolina and certain areas 

in Florida, during 2004, but vacancy rates are still higher 
than levels necessary for a full-fledged commercial con-
struction recovery.  Management expects commercial 
construction demand to continue to improve in 2005.
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The residential construction market increased 14% in 
2004 from 2003, according to the U.S. Census Bureau, 
buoyed by low interest rates and strong housing starts.  
Further, the Corporation experienced an increase in the 
percentage of its shipments attributable to the residential 
construction market in 2004 as compared with 2003.

The Corporation’s asphalt, ready mixed concrete and road 
paving operations generally follow construction industry 
trends.  These vertically integrated operations accounted 
for about 8% of 2004 Aggregates division’s total revenues.  
The Corporation became significantly more vertically 
integrated with the acquisition of Redland Stone Products 
Company in December 1998 and subsequent acquisitions 
in the Southwest.  Vertically integrated operations, including 
asphalt, ready mixed concrete, road paving and trucking 
businesses, are the norm in the southwestern United States.  
The Corporation divested of certain operations within these 
businesses during 2004 and concurrently entered into supply 
agreements to provide aggregates at 
market rates to several of the buyers.  

Since 1995, a greater percentage of 
the Corporation’s shipments have been 
transported by rail and water and gross 
margin has been negatively affected.  
In addition to competitive consider-
ations, the lower margins resulted from 
customers generally not paying the 
Corporation a profit associated with the 
transportation component of the selling 
price.  However, as demand increases 
in supply-constrained areas, addition-
al pricing opportunities, coupled with 
improved distribution cost, may help 
recover profitability and improve gross 
margin on transported material.

The Corporation’s management 
believes the overall long-term trend 
for the construction aggregates indus-
try continues to be one of consolida-
tion.  However, the consolidation trend is slowing as the 
number of suitable acquisition targets in attractive markets 
shrinks.  The Corporation’s Board of Directors and man-
agement continue to review and monitor the Corporation’s 

strategic long-term plans.  These plans include assessing 
business combinations and arrangements with other com-
panies engaged in similar businesses, increasing market 
share in the Corporation’s strategic businesses and pursu-
ing new technological opportunities that are related to the 
Corporation’s existing markets.

Aggregates Industry and Corporation Risks
General Economic Conditions
The general economy improved in 2004. The com-
mercial construction market improved somewhat, but 
continues to be negatively affected by high vacancy 
rates. The residential construction market, as measured 
by new housing starts, increased during the year, buoyed 
by continued low mortgage rates.  

Public-sector construction projects are funded through a 
combination of federal, state and local sources (see sec-
tion Federal and State Highway Appropriations on pages 
45 and 46).  The level of state public-works spending is 

varied across the nation and dependent 
upon individual state economies. As 
state economies deal with the recent 
recessionary environment, the level of 
state spending on public works is at 
risk.  Each state funds infrastructure 
spending from specifically allocated 
amounts collected from various taxes, 
typically gasoline taxes and vehicle fees, 
in addition to federal appropriations.  
Additionally, subject to voter approval, 
the states may pass bond programs to 
fund infrastructure spending.  Shortfalls 
in tax revenues can result in reduc-
tions in appropriations for infrastructure 
spending.  Accordingly, amounts put in 
place, or spent, may be below amounts 
awarded under legislative bills.      

The impact of the economic recovery will 
vary by market.  Additionally, profitability 
by state may not be proportionate to net 

sales by state as certain of the Corporation’s markets are more 
profitable than others. Further, while the Aggregates division’s 
operations cover a wide geographic area, because of the high 
cost of transportation relative to the price of the product, the 
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division’s and, consequently, the Corporation’s, operating per-
formance and financial results depend on the strength of local 
economies, which may differ from the economic conditions 
of the state or region. 

In 2004, as reported by economy.com, states with markets 
served by the Corporation showed an improved economic 
outlook when compared with 2003. In 2004, the econo-
mies in the states containing the Corporation’s markets 
are flat or expanding. In 2003, for comparison, 15 of the 
31 states were in a recessionary environment.

The Aggregates division’s top five revenue-generating 
states, namely Texas, North Carolina, Georgia, Iowa and 
Indiana, accounted for approximately 57% of its 2004 net 
sales by state of destination.  The top ten revenue-generating 
states, which also include South Carolina, Florida, Ohio, 
Louisiana and Arkansas, accounted for approximately 
79% of 2004 net sales by state of destination.

In Texas, the infrastructure market outlook is positive as 
the state legislature has protected infrastructure spend-
ing levels recently. Additionally, there is a proposed 
multi-use, statewide network of transportation routes, 
the Trans-Texas Corridor, which will incorporate existing 
and new highways, railways and utility right-of-ways. The 

proposal is a long-term project that will be completed in 
phases over the next 50 years.  In San Antonio, each of the 
infrastructure, commercial and residential construction 
markets remain strong, with the construction of a Toyota 

manufacturing facility spurring 
various construction projects.  
In Dallas, the construction mar-
ket should remain positive with 
consistent state Department of 
Transportation funding and 
increased Turnpike Authority 
spending. Construction activ-
ity in the Houston market is 
expected to improve in 2005.  

In North Carolina, the econo-
my is strong, led by growth in 
the services, education, health 
care and construction indus-
tries.  This growth is more than 
offsetting losses in the man-
ufacturing industry that had 
adversely affected the length 
and depth of the state’s reces-
sion.  Commercial construction 

has started to recover from the recent significant decline 
that resulted from weak demand for office and warehouse 
space.  Residential construction demand has been rela-
tively stable.  North Carolina’s spending on highways has 
been strong, particularly in the Raleigh and Greensboro 
markets, as indicated by state highway spending data 
maintained by the Federal Highway Administration, which 
indicates average spending of $2.7 billion annually dur-
ing the 5-year period ended in fiscal 2000. This stability 
continues principally due to legislation passed in 2001 
that provided funding of $170 million in fiscal 2002 and 
$150 million in each of fiscal 2003 and 2004 for asphalt 
resurfacing. Additionally, the state passed a $3.1 billion 
education bond in 2002 to fund new construction, repairs 
and renovations on the sixteen state university system 
campuses. The state also passed a $950 million road 
bond in 1996 that continues to primarily fund improve-
ments to strategic intrastate roads and the construction of 
secondary roads.  Historically, North Carolina operations 
have been above the average in profitability because of its 
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quarry locations in growing market areas and the related 
transportation advantage.

The Georgia state economy is growing, driven by the 
Atlanta market.  The state’s economic growth is expected 
to continue to exceed the national levels.  The commercial 

construction market continues to be down based on the recent 
decline in the high technology and manufacturing industries.  
The residential construction market is showing signs of 
weakness in connection with the increase in home mort-

gage rates. Overall, infrastructure construction spending 
has been strong as evidenced by the volume of highway 
work in the southern part of the state.  Furthermore, the 
portion of the northern Florida market supplied by rail 
from Georgia operations continues to remain robust.

The Iowa state economy, which is 
heavily dependent on the agriculture 
industry, is in the recovery stage. 
However, it continues to lag behind 
the national recovery.  The Farm 
Security and Rural Investment Act of 
2002 governs federal farm programs 
through 2007.  Among other provi-
sions, this legislation provides mini-
mum price supports for certain crops, 
including corn and soybeans, has 
stimulated the agricultural economy 
in Iowa and is expected to provide 
an overall benefit for the state.  To 
achieve a balanced budget for fiscal 
year 2005, the state will use one-time 
revenue sources, including reserves, 
and will also potentially eliminate 
certain state jobs.  Local economies 
have been strong in urban areas of 
the state while economies in rural 
areas remain weak.  The infrastructure 
construction market is strong, while 
the commercial construction and the 
residential construction markets have 
remained stable. 

The Indiana Department of 
Transportation’s funding level for 
fiscal 2005 was budgeted at $674 
million, down approximately $100 
million from the fiscal 2004 budget. 
Due to funding issues, construction 
spending during the last six months 
of fiscal 2005 may be limited to pres-
ervation and maintenance contacts, 

which could reduce spending to approximately $500 
million. However, within Indiana, the Corporation primar-
ily serves the greater Indianapolis market.  Management 
does not expect the reduction in state spending in 
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its primary markets to be as significant as the reduction 
for the state as a whole.  The Midfield Terminal expan-
sion project at Indianapolis International Airport is still 
progressing, with approximately $35 million of projects 
letting in fiscal 2005.  While total construction contracts 
for the project could exceed $350 million, the project 
has been affected by the overall poor performance of the 
airline industry, and the completion date may be delayed 
to 2008. Residential construction began to slow the lat-
ter half of 2004, and this trend is expected to continue. 
Commercial construction has been and is expected to 
remain steady.  

The Aggregates division is exposed to potential losses in 
customer accounts receivable in direct relation to eco-
nomic cycles with a recessionary economy increasing 
the risk of nonpayment and bankruptcy.  However, the 
Corporation’s bad debt write-offs have not been signifi-
cant, and management believes the allowance for doubt-
ful accounts was adequate at December 31, 2004.

Federal and State Highway Appropriations
The federal highway bill, which has yet to be authorized 
by Congress, is the principal source of federal funding for 
public-sector construction projects.  Congress typically 
passes multi-year surface transportation bills for federal 
highway and mass transit funding.  The Transportation 
Equity Act for the 21st Century (“TEA-21”), which expired 
by its terms on September 30, 2003, was a six-year bill.  
During its tenure, TEA-21 generated almost 45 percent of 
public dollars invested in capital construction of highways, 
roads and bridges.  Although a successor bill was not passed 
when TEA-21 expired, its provisions were extended under 
a continuing budget resolution.  The continuing resolution 
extends through May 31, 2005 and is funding the federal 
highway program at an annual level of $34.6 billion while 
Congress and the President work on a successor bill.

During the current reauthorization process, the Bush 
Administration and both the House and Senate have pro-
posed long-term, federal highway funding bills that exceed 
the level of spending under the six-year TEA-21 funding 
bill of $218 billion. Congress and the Administration con-
tinue to deliberate federal highway funding.  Management 
expects that a successor bill may not be passed until mid-
year 2005 or possibly later.

The process of passing a surface transportation act generally 
starts with the President’s administration proposing legisla-
tion to reauthorize highway and other surface transportation 
programs.  Once approved by the Office of Management 
and Budget, the bill is introduced in Congress, whereby 
committee hearings are held to allow interested organiza-
tions, citizens and members of Congress and the Executive 
branch an opportunity to express their views on the pro-
grams.  The primary congressional committees responsible 
for federal highway bills are the House Transportation and 
Infrastructure Committee and the Senate Environment and 
Public Works Committee.  After committee hearings are held, 
subcommittees in both the House and the Senate work inde-
pendently on drafting bills.  Once the Senate and the House 
pass their respective bills, a conference committee is formed 
to reconcile differences and arrive at a joint conference bill.  
When the conference bill is passed in both the Senate and 
the House, it is presented to the President for signature.

The federal highway bill provides spending authoriza-
tions, which represent maximum amounts.  Each year, an 
appropriation act is passed to establish the amount that 
can actually be used for particular programs.  The annual 
funding level is generally tied to receipts of highway user 
taxes, which are placed in the Highway Trust Fund.  TEA-
21 included a revenue-aligned budget authority provi-
sion, which was an annual review and adjustment made 
to ensure that annual funding was linked to actual and 
anticipated revenues credited to the Highway Trust Fund.  
Once the annual appropriation is passed, the funds are 
then distributed to each of the states based on formulas 
(apportionments) or other procedures (allocations).  TEA-
21 provided minimum guarantees to ensure that states 
that contribute more in highway user taxes receive a 
larger share of federal funds.  Apportioned and allocated 
funds are generally required to be spent on specific pro-
grams as outlined in the federal legislation.  

Most federal funds are available for a period of four years 
in total.  Once the federal government approves a state 
project, the funds are committed and considered spent 
regardless of when the cash is actually spent by the state 
and reimbursed by the federal government.  In fact, funds 
are generally spent over a period of years following des-
ignation, with approximately 27% in the year of funding 
authorization and 41% in the succeeding year. 
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Federal highway bills require Congress to annually 
appropriate highway funding levels, which continue to 
be subject to balanced budget and other proposals that 
may impact the funding available for the Highway Fund.  
However, investments in transportation improvements 
generally create new jobs.  
According to American Road 
and Transportation Builders 
Association (“ARTBA”), fed-
eral data indicates that every 
$1 billion in federal highway 
investment creates 47,500 
jobs.  Approximately half of 
the Corporation’s net sales 
to the infrastructure market 
results from federal fund-
ing authorizations, includ-
ing matching funds from 
the states.

States are required to match 
funds at a predetermined 
rate to receive federal funds 
for highways. Depending 
on the type of project, the 
matching level can vary.  If 
a state is unable to match 
its allocated federal funds, 
the funding is forfeited.  Any forfeitures are then reallo-
cated to states that can provide the appropriate matching 
funds.  States rarely forfeit federal highway funds, but in 
2002, Virginia became the first state in recent history to 
not meet a federal matching requirement.

Despite state highway construction programs being pri-
marily financed from highway user fees, including fuel 
taxes and vehicle registration fees, there has been a reduc-
tion in many states’ investment in highway maintenance.  
Significant increases in federal infrastructure funding typically 
will require state governments to increase highway user fees 
to match federal spending.  During the November 2004 
election cycle, ARTBA’s Special 2004 Ballot Initiatives Report 
indicated an increase in transportation funding-related ballot 
initiatives.  Voters in 21 states overwhelmingly supported tax 
increases to fund transportation improvements and required 

state governments to stop using highway user revenues to 
fund non-transportation programs or services.  

Generally, state spending on infrastructure leads to increased 
growth opportunity for the Corporation.  However, there may 
not necessarily be a direct relationship between state spend-

ing and the Corporation’s rev-
enues. The degree to which 
the Corporation could be 
affected by a reduction or 
slowdown in infrastructure 
spending varies by state.  
However, the state economies 
of the Corporation’s five larg-
est revenue-generating states 
may disproportionately affect 
performance.

The Vision 100-Century of 
Aviation Reauthorization Act 
is a four-year bill providing 
funding for airport improve-
ments throughout the United 
States.  Annual funding is $3.5 
billion in fiscal 2005 and esca-
lates $100 million each year 
until reaching $3.7 billion in 
fiscal 2007.

Geographic Exposure and Seasonality
Seasonal changes and other weather-related conditions 
can also significantly affect the aggregates industry.  
Consequently, the Aggregates division’s production and 
shipment levels coincide with general construction activ-
ity levels, most of which occur in the division’s markets, 
typically in the spring, summer and fall.  The division’s 
operations that are concentrated in the northern region 
of the United States generally experience more severe 
winter weather conditions than the division’s operations 
in the Southeast and Southwest.  Additionally, significant 
amounts of rainfall can adversely affect shipments, pro-
duction and profitability.

The Corporation’s operations in the southeastern and Gulf 
Coast regions of the United States and the Bahamas are at 
risk for hurricane activity.  During 2004, aggregates ship-
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ments in the Corporation’s southeastern and Gulf Coast 
markets were adversely affected by four hurricanes.  The 
Corporation’s Bahamas facility took two direct hits with 
limited physical damage.  However, power was down for 
five weeks after the storms, resulting in no production and 
limited shipments during that time.

Cost Structure
Due to the high fixed costs associated with aggregates 
production, the Corporation’s operating leverage can be 
substantial.  Generally, the top five categories of cost of 
sales for the Aggregates division are labor and related 
benefits; depreciation, depletion and amortization; repairs; 
freight on transported material (excluding freight billed 
directly to customers); and energy.  In 2004, these catego-
ries represented approximately 70% of 
the Aggregates division’s total cost of 
sales. The Corporation began a pro-
cess improvement program in 1999 
whereby teams consisting of personnel 
from different backgrounds completed 
reviews of operational effectiveness on 
a location-by-location basis.  Plant and 
mobile fleet modernization and sizing, 
completed as a result of these reviews, 
coupled with continuous cost improve-
ment, have contributed to an improved 
cost structure. 

Wage inflation and the resulting increase 
in labor costs may be somewhat miti-
gated by increases in productivity in 
an expanding economy.  Rising health 
care costs have increased total labor 
costs in recent years and are expected 
to continue to negatively affect labor 
costs in the near term.  The Corporation’s pension plan 
contributions and improved returns on plan assets have 
lessened the impact of rising pension costs.

Generally, when the Corporation incurs higher capital costs 
to replace facilities and equipment, increased capacity and 
productivity offset increased depreciation costs.  However, 
when aggregates demand is soft, the increased productiv-
ity and related efficiencies may not be fully realized, result-
ing in the underabsorption of fixed costs.  

The impact of inflation on the Corporation’s businesses 
has become less significant with the benefit of continued 
moderate inflation rates.  However, the Corporation has 
been negatively affected by increases in several cost areas.  
Notably, energy sector inflation affects, among other 
things, the costs of operating mobile equipment used in 
quarry operations, waterborne transportation of aggre-
gates materials and asphalt production.  Accordingly, 
increases in energy costs can have a significant negative 
impact on the Corporation’s results of operations.

Selling, general and administrative costs have increased for 
2004 due to increased incentive compensation and regu-
latory compliance costs.  In an effort to control overhead 
costs, management efficiency and cost reduction initiatives 

were implemented in the Aggregates 
division in both 2004 and 2003.

Shortfalls in federal and state revenues 
may result in increases in income and 
other taxes.

Transportation Exposure
The geological map of the United 
States prepared by the U.S. 
Department of the Interior shows the 
possible sources of indigenous surface 
rock.  The map illustrates the limited 
supply of indigenous surface rock in 
the coastal areas of the United States 
from Virginia to Texas.  

With population migration into 
the southeastern and southwestern 
United States, local crushed stone 
supplies must be supplemented, or 
in some cases, supplied from inland 

and offshore quarries.  The Corporation’s strategic focus 
includes expanding inland and offshore capacity and 
acquiring distribution terminal and port locations to 
offload transported material.  In 1994, the Corporation 
had 7 distribution terminals.  Today, with 79 distribution 
terminals, a growing percentage of the Corporation’s 
aggregates shipments are being moved by rail or water 
through this network.  The Corporation’s acquisition of the 
construction aggregates business of Dravo Corporation 
in 1995 expanded its waterborne capabilities, both by 
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barge and oceangoing ship, which were enhanced by 
the 1995 acquisition of a deepwater quarry in Nova 
Scotia, while the 1998 acquisition of Redland Stone 
Products Company and the 2001 acquisition of Meridian 
Aggregates Company increased its rail-based distribution 
network.  In 2001, the Corporation brought additional 
capacity on line at the Bahamas location, and in 2004, the 
Corporation boosted potential output at the Nova Scotia 
location from 3.2 million to 4.8 million tons annually.  As 
the Corporation continues to move more aggregates by 
rail and water, embedded freight costs have eroded profit 
margins.  The freight costs for aggregates products often 
equal or exceed the selling price of the underlying aggre-
gates products.  The Corporation administers freight costs 
principally in three ways:

Option 1: The customer supplies transportation.

Option 2: The Corporation arranges for a third party 
carrier to deliver aggregates and specifically passes the 
freight costs through to the customer.  These freight 
and delivery revenues and costs are presented in the 
Corporation’s consolidated statements of earnings as 
required by Emerging Issues Task Force Issue No. 00-10, 
Accounting For Shipping and Handling Fees and Costs.  
These freight and delivery revenues and costs were 
$208.3 million, $208.4 million and $188.2 million in 
2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Option 3: The Corporation transports, 
either by rail or water, aggregates from 
a production location to a distribution 
terminal.  The selling price at the dis-
tribution terminal includes the freight 
component to transport the product to 
the distribution location. These freight 
costs are included in costs of sales and 
were $125.8 million, $123.8 million and 
$123.2 million for 2004, 2003 and 2002, 
respectively.  Transportation costs from 
the distribution location to the customer 
are accounted for as described above in 
options 1 or 2, as applicable.  

For analytical purposes, the Corporation 
eliminates the effect of freight on margins 
with the second option.  When the third 
option is used, margins as a percentage of 
sales are negatively affected because the 

customer does not pay the Corporation a profit associated 
with the transportation component of the selling price.  For 
example, a truck customer in a local market will pick up the 
material at the quarry and pay $6.50 per ton of aggregate.  
Assuming a $1.50 gross profit per ton, the Corporation 
would recognize a 23% gross margin.  However, if a cus-
tomer purchased a ton of aggregate that was transported to 
a distribution yard by the Corporation via rail or water, the 
selling price may be $12.50 per ton, assuming a $6.00 cost 
of internal freight.  With the same $1.50 gross profit per ton 
and no profit associated with the transportation component, 
the gross margin would be reduced to 12% as a result of the 
embedded freight. 

In 1994, 93% of the Corporation’s aggregates shipments 
were moved by truck while the balance was moved by 
rail. In contrast, in 2004, the Corporation’s aggregates 
shipments moved 79% by truck, 11% by rail and 10% 
by water (see section Analysis of Margins on pages 39 
and 40).  The Corporation’s increased dependence on rail 
shipments has further exposed it to railroad performance, 
including track congestion, crew and power availability, 
and the ability to renegotiate favorable railroad shipping 
contracts.  During 2004, the Corporation experienced sig-
nificant rail transportation shortages in Texas and parts of the 
Southeast.  These shortages resulted from the downsizing of 
personnel and equipment made by certain railroads during 
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possible sources of 
indigenous surface rock 
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the recent economic downturn. Management is review-
ing alternatives to address these shortages. Further, in 
response to these issues, rail transportation providers have 
focused on increasing the volume of cars related to trans-
portation contracts and are generally enticing custom-
ers, through the freight rate structure, to accommodate 
unit train unloadings.  Certain of the Corporation’s sales 
yards in the Southwest 
have the system capabili-
ties to meet the unit train 
requirement.  Additionally, 
the Corporation is consid-
ering capital investments 
that would increase these 
capabilities at certain of 
these sales yards.  

The waterborne distribu-
tion network increases the 
Corporation’s exposure to 
certain risks, including, 
among other items, the 
ability to negotiate favor-
able shipping contracts, 
demurrage costs, fuel 
costs, barge or ship availability and weather disruptions.  
In 2004, the Corporation signed a long-term agreement 
that provides additional dedicated shipping capacity from 
its Bahamas and Nova Scotia operations to its coastal ports. 

Management expects the multiple transportation modes 

that have been developed with various rail carriers and via 

deepwater ship should provide the Corporation with the 

flexibility to effectively serve customers in the Southwest 

and Southeast.

Internal Expansion and Integration of Acquisitions 
The Corporation’s capital expansion, acquisition and 
greensite programs are focused on taking advantage of 
construction market growth through investment in both 
permanent and portable quarrying operations.  Recently, 
the Corporation completed the most extensive array of 
plant modernization and capacity expansion projects in 
its history.  While such projects generally increase capacity, 
lower production costs and improve product quality, they 

experience start-up costs in early years. Additionally, it may 
take time to increase shipments and absorb the increased 
depreciation and other fixed costs, particularly in a slow 
economy.  In addition, pricing may be negatively affected 
by the additional volume available in the market. Therefore, 
the full economic benefit of a capital project may not be 
realized immediately subsequent to its completion.  

The Corporation’s manage-
ment believes the overall 
long-term trend for the 
construction aggregates 
industry continues to 
be one of consolidation.  
Approximately 49% of the 
Corporation’s 2004 net 
sales were derived from 
acquisitions that have 
occurred since January 
1, 1995. However, the 
Corporation’s acquisition 
activity in 2004 and 2003 
has been lower than levels 
experienced in prior years 
due to the declining num-
ber of attractive opportuni-

ties in targeted markets.  During 2004, the Corporation 
completed the buyout of the remaining interest in an 
LLC from a majority member.  Additionally, effective 
January 1, 2005, the Corporation entered into a joint 
venture with Hunt Midwest in the Kansas City area.  

When acquired, new locations generally do not satisfy the 
Corporation’s internal safety, maintenance and pit devel-
opment standards.  In these cases, additional resources 
must be invested prior to the Corporation realizing the 
potential benefits of the acquisitions.  The initial focus on 
acquired locations is safety.  Additionally, the first repair 
and maintenance cycle, which normally occurs in the first 
quarter of each calendar year during the slowest sales and 
production volumes of the year, requires greater invest-
ment to upgrade the machinery and equipment to match 
the Corporation’s operational standards.  With any new 
operation, there is a risk regarding the ability to integrate 
the operations and achieve expected profitability.

2004 
(% of 2004 shipments)

79%
Truck

11%
Rail

10%
Water

1994
(% of 1994 shipments)

93%
Truck

7%
Rail

191.5 million tons 71.2 million tons

TRANSPORTATION Mode

Source: Corporation data
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The Corporation’s aggregates reserves on the average 
exceed 50 years of production based on current levels 
of activity.  However, some locations have more limited 
reserves and may not be able to expand.

Environmental Regulation and Litigation
The aggregates industry’s expansion and growth are 
subject to increasing challenges from environmental and 
political advocates who want to control the pace of future 
development and preserve open space.  Rail and other 
transportation alternatives are being supported by these 
groups as solutions to mitigate road traffic congestion and 
overcrowding.

The Clean Air Act, originally passed in 1963 and peri-
odically updated by amendments, is the United States’ 
national air pollution control program that granted the 
Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA”) the authority to 
set limits on the level of various air pollutants.  A defined 
geographic area must be below the limits set for six pollut-
ants to be in compliance with national ambient air quality 
standards.  Recently, environmental groups have been 
successful in lawsuits against the federal and certain state 
departments of transportation, asserting that highway 
construction in a municipal area should be delayed until 
the municipality is in compliance with the Clean Air Act.  
The EPA designates geographic areas as nonattainment 
areas when the level of air pollutants has exceeded the 
national standard.  Nonattainment areas receive deadlines 
to reduce air pollutants by instituting various control strat-
egies or face fines or control by the EPA.  Included in the 
nonattainment areas are several major metropolitan areas 
in the Corporation’s markets, including Charlotte, North 
Carolina; Greensboro/Winston-Salem/High Point, North 
Carolina; Raleigh/Durham/Chapel Hill, North Carolina; 
Atlanta, Georgia; Macon, Georgia; Indianapolis, Indiana; 
Houston/Galveston, Texas; Dallas/Fort Worth, Texas; and 
San Antonio, Texas.  Federal transportation funding 
through TEA-21 was directly tied to compliance with the 
Clean Air Act.  A successor federal highway bill may have 
similar provisions.

Other environmental groups have published lists of 
targeted municipal areas, including areas within the 
Corporation’s marketplace, for environmental and subur-
ban growth control.  The effect of these initiatives on the 

Corporation’s growth is typically localized. Further chal-
lenges are expected as these initiatives gain momentum 
across the United States.

The Corporation’s operations are subject to and affected 
by federal, state and local laws and regulations relating to 
the environment, health and safety and other regulatory 
matters.  Certain of the Corporation’s operations may, from 
time to time, involve the use of substances that are classi-
fied as toxic or hazardous within the meaning of these laws 
and regulations.  The Corporation regularly monitors and 
reviews its operations, procedures and policies for compli-
ance with these laws and regulations.  Despite these com-
pliance efforts, risk of environmental liability is inherent in 
the operation of the Corporation’s businesses, as it is with 
other companies engaged in similar businesses.

Environmental operating permits are, or may be, required 
for certain of the Corporation’s operations, and such 
permits are subject to modification, renewal and revo-
cation.  New permits, which are generally required for 
opening new sites or for expansion at existing operations, 
can take up to several years to obtain.  Rezoning and 
special purpose permits are becoming increasingly dif-
ficult to acquire.  Once a permit is obtained, the location 
is required to generally operate in accordance with the 
approved site plan.

The Corporation is engaged in certain legal and admin-
istrative proceedings incidental to its normal business 
activities (see Notes A and N to the audited consolidated 
financial statements on pages 17 through 21 and pages  
31 and 32, respectively).

Magnesia Specialties Business
Through its Magnesia Specialties business, the Corporation 
manufactures and markets magnesia-based chemicals prod-
ucts for industrial, agricultural and environmental applica-
tions, including wastewater treatment and acid neutraliza-
tion, and dolomitic lime for use primarily in the steel indus-
try.  Given the high fixed costs associated with operating the 
business, low capacity utilization negatively affects its results 
of operations.  Further, the production of certain magnesia 
chemical products and lime products requires the use of 
natural gas, coal and petroleum coke to fuel kilns.  Changes 
in the prices of these fuels can have a significant effect on the 
profitability of the Magnesia Specialties business.
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Magnesia Specialties’ products used within the steel 
industry accounted for approximately 48% of the busi-
ness’s net sales for 2004.   Accordingly, a portion of the 
product pricing structure is affected by current economic 
trends within the steel industry.  The U.S. steel industry 
ran at a strong pace in 2004, which is expected to con-
tinue through at least the first half of 2005.  However 
the long-term competitiveness of the U.S. steel industry 
remains in question. 

Approximately 14% of Magnesia Specialties’ revenues are 
derived from foreign jurisdictions, with no single country 
accounting for 10% or more of its revenues.  Magnesia 
Specialties sells its products in the United States, Canada, 
Mexico, Europe, South America and the Pacific Rim.  As a 
result of these foreign market sales, the business’s financial 
results could be affected by changes in foreign currency 
exchange rates or weak economic conditions in the for-
eign markets in which the business distributes its products. 
To mitigate the short-term effects of changes in currency 
exchange rates on operations, the U.S. dollar is principally 
used as the functional currency in foreign transactions.  

Approximately 98% of the Magnesia Specialties’ hourly 
employees are members of a labor union.  Union contracts 
cover employees at the Manistee, Michigan magnesia-
based chemicals plant and the Woodville, Ohio lime plant.  
The labor contract with the Manistee labor union will 
expire in August 2007, while the Woodville labor union 
contract expires in June 2006.

Structural Composite Products Business
The Corporation, through its wholly owned subsidiary, 
Martin Marietta Composites, Inc. (“MMC”), is engaged 
in developmental activities related to fiber-reinforced com-
posite technology.  MMC’s fiber-reinforced polymer (“FRP”) 
composite materials are manufactured from complex glass 
fabrics and polymer resins.  The fabrics are folded and 
formed to the desired structural shape, impregnated with 
resins and drawn under heat and tension through a heated 
die.  This produces an extremely hard structural shape that 
is cut to the desired length.  The component shapes are 
then assembled with adhesives to construct components for 
structural applications.  Composite technology and products 
offer weight reduction, corrosion resistance and other 
positive attributes compared with conventional materials.

MMC is targeting several industries for its FRP composite 
materials: infrastructure, which includes transportation, 
such as specialty trucks, truck trailers and railcar compo-
nents; military applications; bridge decks; and general 
construction applications.  As with any start-up oppor-
tunity, these activities are subject to uncertainty and 
risk, including development and implementation of the 
structural composites technological process and strate-
gic products for specific market segments and market 
acceptance of these products.

In 2001, MMC entered into a licensing agreement with 
Composittrailer N.V. of Belgium under which it will manu-
facture and market commercial specialty truck trailers in 
North America, utilizing fiber-reinforced composite mate-
rials.  The initial trailer models are an open-top van with, 
or without, a reciprocating slat floor and will target mar-
ket segments including municipal solid waste, recycling 
materials, wood chips and agriculture.  In future years, 
prototypes and models are expected to be produced for 
platform and refrigerated trailers.  MMC also signed a 
licensing agreement related to a proprietary composite 
sandwich technology, which is expected to play an important 
role in the product line related to flat panel applications.  
The first composite trailer manufactured by MMC was 
completed in 2003.

MMC’s line of DuraSpan® bridge decks offers several 
advantages over bridge decks made of conventional 
materials, including lighter weight and high strength; 
rapid installation that significantly reduces construction 
time and labor costs; and resistance to corrosion and 
fatigue that results in a longer life expectancy. To date, 
MMC has completed twenty-seven successful DuraSpan® 
installations in thirteen states and two foreign countries.  

MMC has a 185,000 square foot facility in Sparta, North 
Carolina, which contains the assembly and manufacturing 
hub for composite structures.  MMC is currently manufac-
turing bridge decks and composite sandwich flat panels 
and assembling specialty trailers at this facility.  Product 
trials and commercialization continue to be the near-term 
focus of MMC.  However, management believes that it is 
approximately six months behind in commercialization 
of the Structural Composite Products business. During 
2004, the Corporation incurred a loss of $10.7 million 
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from operations associated with developing this business.  
At December 31, 2004, this business had assets totaling 
approximately $15 million in addition to $7.5 million of 
off-balance sheet obligations, which were primarily lease 
obligations.

Internal Control and Accounting and Reporting Risk
In 2004, the Corporation devoted significant attention to 
establishing and documenting procedures and internal 
controls in compliance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act.  Section 404 requires management to assess 
the effectiveness of the Corporation’s system of internal 
control over financial reporting and to document its 
conclusion on management’s assessment on an annual 
basis, at a minimum.  The Corporation’s independent 
registered public accounting firm issued an unquali-
fied opinion on management’s assessment that the 
Corporation’s internal controls as of December 31, 2004 
were effective.  A system of internal controls over financial 
reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance, in 
a cost-effective manner, on the reliability of a company’s 
financial reporting and the process for preparing and 
fairly presenting financial statements in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles.  Further, a 
system of internal control over financial reporting, by its 
nature, should be dynamic and responsive to the chang-
ing risks of the underlying business.  Changes in the 
system of internal control over financial reporting could 
increase the risk of occurrence of a significant deficiency 
or material weakness.

The compliance efforts related to the assessment of 
internal controls over financial reporting will continue 
in 2005 and beyond.  In 2005, the Corporation expects 
to convert the financial accounting systems of the busi-
nesses acquired in the 1998 acquisition of Redland Stone 
Products Company, which are currently a part of the 
Southwest Division, and the Magnesia Specialties business 
to the Corporation’s enterprise-wide information system 
solution.  Management believes that the financial system 
conversion will provide a more centralized system of internal 
control over financial reporting for these businesses. 

Accounting rule-making, which may come in the form 
of accounting standards, principles, interpretations or 
speeches, has become increasingly more complex and 
generally requires significant estimates and assumptions in 
their interpretation and application.  Further, accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States continue 
to be reviewed, updated and subject to change by various 
rule-making bodies, including the Financial Accounting 
Standards Board and the Securities and Exchange 
Commission (“SEC”).  For example, the Emerging Issues 
Task Force (“EITF”) has reached a tentative conclusion that 
pre-production and post-production stripping costs should 
be capitalized as an investment in the mine and attributed 
to proven and probable reserves benefited in a systematic 
and rational manner.  However, the SEC has expressed seri-
ous concerns over the EITF’s tentative consensus and plans 
to offer its recommendations.  Further discussion is expect-
ed at the EITF’s March 2005 meeting.  The Corporation 
cannot predict whether the deliberations of the EITF will 
ultimately modify or otherwise result in new accounting 
standards or interpretations thereof that differ from the 
Corporation’s current practices (see section Application of 
Critical Accounting Policies on pages 53 through 60). 

Outlook 2005 
Based on current forecasts and indications of business 
activity, management has a positive outlook for 2005.  
Aggregates shipments volume is expected to increase 2 
percent to 4 percent, and aggregates pricing is expected 
to increase 3 percent to 4 percent.  Management antici-
pates another strong year in the Magnesia Specialties 
business, with pretax earnings in the range of $18 million 
to $20 million.  In the Structural Composite Products busi-
ness, management’s objective is to cut the 2004 start-up 
loss in half, and create a backlog of business that assures 
solid factory utilization and leads to profitability in 2006.  

Under this scenario, management expects 2005 net earn-
ings to range from $2.85 to $3.20 per diluted share.  For 
the first quarter, earnings are expected to range from 
a net loss of $0.10 per diluted share to net earnings of 
$0.05 per diluted share.
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OTHER FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Application of Critical Accounting Policies
The Corporation’s audited consolidated financial state-
ments include certain critical estimates regarding the 
effect of matters that are inherently uncertain.  These 
estimates require management’s subjective and complex 
judgments.  Amounts reported in the Corporation’s con-
solidated financial statements could differ materially if 
management had used different assumptions in making 
these estimates, resulting in actual results differing from 
those estimates.  Methodologies used and assumptions 
selected by management in making these estimates, as 
well as the related disclosures, have been reviewed by and 
discussed with the Corporation’s Audit Committee and 
independent auditors.  Management’s determination of the 
critical nature of accounting estimates and judgments may 
change from time to time depending on facts and circum-
stances that management cannot currently predict.

Impairment Review of Goodwill
Goodwill is required to be tested at least annually for 
impairment using fair value measurement techniques pre-
scribed by FAS 142, including present value of discounted 
cash flow techniques.  The impairment evaluation of intan-
gible assets is a critical accounting estimate because good-
will represents 49% of the Corporation’s total shareholders’ 
equity at December 31, 2004, the evaluation requires the 
selection of assumptions that are inherently volatile and an 
impairment charge could be material to the Corporation’s 
financial condition and its results of operations.

There is no goodwill associated with the Specialty Products 
segment.  Management determined the reporting units of 
the Corporation’s Aggregates division, which represent 
the level at which goodwill is tested for impairment under 
FAS 142, were as follows:  

• Carolina, which includes North Carolina;
• MidAmerica, which includes Ohio and Indiana; 
• MidAtlantic, which includes Virginia, West Virginia 

and Maryland;
• Northwest, which includes Iowa, Missouri, Kansas, 

Nebraska, Minnesota, Wyoming, Washington, 
Nevada, Wisconsin and California; 

• Southeast, which includes Georgia, South Carolina, 
Florida, Alabama, Mississippi and Tennessee; quarry 
operations and distribution yards along the Mississippi 
River system and Gulf Coast; and offshore quarry 
operations in the Bahamas and Nova Scotia; 

• Southwest, which includes Texas, Arkansas, Oklahoma 
and Louisiana; and

• Road paving business, which has operations in Arkansas.

In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting 
Standards No. 131, Disclosures about Segments of an 
Enterprise and Related Information, disclosures for the afore-
mentioned reporting units are consolidated for financial 
reporting purposes as they meet the aggregation criteria. 
The road paving business was acquired as complementary  
operations to aggregates and asphalt acquisition 
opportunities. This business has not been integrated into 
the core aggregates business and has had limited growth.  
During 2004, the Corporation disposed of its road paving 
operations in the Shreveport, Louisiana market.  There is 
no goodwill associated with the road paving business due 
to the write-off upon adoption of FAS 142. Any impact 
on reporting units resulting from organizational changes 
made by management is reflected in the succeeding 
evaluation.

Goodwill for each of the reporting units was tested for 
impairment by comparing the reporting unit’s fair value 
to its carrying value, which represents step 1 of a two-step 
approach required by FAS 142.  If the fair value of a report-
ing unit exceeds its carrying value, no further calculation is 
necessary.  A reporting unit with a carrying value in excess 
of its fair value constitutes a step 1 failure and leads to a 
step 2 evaluation to determine the goodwill write off.  If 
a step 1 failure occurs, the excess of the carrying value 
over the fair value does not equal the amount of the 
goodwill write off.  Step 2 requires the calculation of the 
implied fair value of goodwill by allocating the fair value 
of the reporting unit to its tangible and intangible assets, 
other than goodwill, similar to the purchase price alloca-
tion prescribed under Statement of Financial Accounting 
Standards No. 141, Business Combinations.  The remaining 
unallocated fair value represents the implied fair value of 
the goodwill.  If the implied fair value of goodwill exceeds 
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its carrying amount, there is no impairment. If the carrying 
value of goodwill exceeds its implied fair value, an impair-
ment charge is recorded for the difference.  Further, when 
performing step 2 and allocating a reporting unit’s fair 
value, assets having a higher fair value as compared to book 
value increase any possible write off of impaired goodwill.

In 2004, the impairment evaluation was performed as of 
October 1, which represents the ongoing annual evalua-
tion date.  The fair values of the reporting units were deter-
mined using a 15-year discounted cash flow model.  Key 
assumptions included management’s estimates of future 
profitability, capital requirements, a 10% discount rate and 
a 2% terminal growth rate.  The implied fair values for each 
reporting unit exceeded its respective carrying value.

The term of the discounted cash flow model is a significant 
factor in determining the fair value of the reporting units.  
A 15-year term was selected based on management’s 
judgment supported by quantitative factors, including 
the Corporation’s strong financial position, long history 
of earnings growth and the remaining life of underlying 
mineral reserves, currently estimated at over 50 years at 
current production rates.  Additional consideration was 
given to qualitative factors, including the Corporation’s 
industry leadership position and the lack of obsolescence 
risks related to the Aggregates division.

Future profitability and capital requirements are, by their 
nature, estimates. The profitability estimates utilized in 
the evaluation were generally consistent with the five-year 
operating plan prepared by management and reviewed by 
the Board of Directors.  The succeeding ten years (2009 
to 2018) of profitability were estimated using assumptions 
for price, cost and volume increases.  These future price 
and cost assumptions were selected based on a review of 
these trends during a recent fifteen-year period.  Volume 
increases were capped when shipments reached the cur-
rent production capacity, although additional capacity can 
be gained through increases in operating hours and capital 
infusion.  Capital requirements were estimated based on 
expected recapitalization needs of the reporting units.

The assumed discount rate was higher than the 
Corporation’s weighted-average cost of capital, which 
has been estimated to be approximately 7.0% to 7.5%.  
Further, recent historical data would support a terminal 

growth rate in the range of 3% to 4%.  However, a discount 
rate of 10% and a terminal growth rate of 2% were selected 
to better match the fair value of the reporting units to the 
Corporation’s enterprise value at the time of the evaluation.  
Management will continue to evaluate these assumptions 
in future evaluations based on the Corporation’s enterprise 
value.  A higher market price of the Corporation’s common 
stock will increase the enterprise value.

Price, cost and volume increases, profitability of acquired 
operations, efficiency improvements, the discount rate 
and the terminal growth rate are significant assumptions 
in performing the impairment test.  These assumptions 
are interdependent and have a significant impact on the 
results of the test.  

The Southwest reporting unit is significant to the evalu-
ation as $309 million of the Corporation’s goodwill at 
December 31, 2004 is attributable to this reporting 
unit.  During 2004, management made changes to the 
reporting unit’s cost structure that will improve operating 
results.  For the 2004 evaluation, the excess of fair value 
over carrying value was $30 million.  This reporting unit is 
the most sensitive evaluation as evidenced by the follow-
ing scenarios:

• An increase in the discount rate to 11% would have 
resulted in a step 1 failure.

• A decrease in the discount rate to 9% would have resulted in 
the fair value exceeding the carrying value by $122 million.

• If the present value of projected future cash flows were 
5% less than currently forecasted, the reporting unit 
would have failed step 1.

The failure of step 1 does not necessarily result in an 
impairment charge.  Rather, it requires step 2 to be com-
pleted.  The completion of step 2 would determine the 
amount of the impairment charge.  Possible impairment 
charges under various scenarios were not calculated.

Management believes that all assumptions used were 
reasonable based on historical operating results and 
expected future trends.  However, if future operating 
results are unfavorable as compared with forecasts, the 
results of future FAS 142 evaluations could be negatively 
affected. Additionally, mineral reserves, which represent 
the underlying assets producing the reporting units’ cash 
flows, are depleting assets by their nature.  The reporting 
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units’ future cash flows will be updated as required based 
on expected future cash flow trends.  Management does 
not expect significant changes to the valuation term, but 
will continue to evaluate the discount rate and growth 
rate for the 2005 evaluation.  Future annual evaluations 
and any potential write off of goodwill represent a risk to 
the Corporation.

Pension Expense-Selection of Assumptions
The Corporation sponsors noncontributory defined benefit 
retirement plans that cover substantially all employees and 
a Supplemental Excess Retirement Plan (“SERP”) for certain 
retirees (see Note J to the audited consolidated financial 
statements on pages 26 through 29).  These benefit plans 
are accounted for in accordance with Statement of Financial 
Accounting Standards No. 87, Employers’ Accounting for 
Pensions (“FAS 87”).  In accordance with FAS 87, annual 
pension expense (inclusive of SERP expense) consists of 
several components:

• Service Cost, which represents the present value of 
benefits attributed to services rendered in the current 
year, measured by expected future salary levels.

• Interest Cost, which represents the accretion cost on 
the liability that has been discounted back to its pres-
ent value.

• Expected Return on Assets, which represents the expect-
ed investment return on pension fund assets.

• Amortization of Prior Service Cost and Actuarial Gains 
and Losses, which represents components that are 
recognized over time rather than immediately, in 
accordance with FAS 87.  Prior service cost represents 
credit given to employees for years of service prior to 
plan inception.  Actuarial gains and losses arise from 
changes in assumptions regarding future events or 
when actual returns on assets differ from expected 
returns.  At December 31, 2004, the net unrecognized 
actuarial loss and unrecognized prior service cost were 
$54.7 million and $4.0 million, respectively.  Assuming 
the December 31, 2004 projected benefit obligation, 
approximately $2.5 million of amortization of these 
amounts will be a component of 2005 annual pen-
sion expense.  Any change in pension accounting may 
require immediate recognition of these unrecognized 
actuarial losses and prior service costs.

The components are calculated annually to determine 
the pension expense that is reflected in the Corporation’s 
results of operations.  

Management believes that the selection of assumptions 
related to the annual pension expense is a critical account-
ing estimate due to the high degree of volatility in the 
expense dependent on selected assumptions. The key 
assumptions are as follow:

• The discount rate is the rate used to present value the 
pension obligation and represents the current rate 
at which the pension obligations could be effectively 
settled.

• The rate of increase in future compensation levels is used 
to project the pay-related pension benefit formula and 
should estimate actual future compensation levels.

• The expected long-term rate of return on pension fund 
assets is used to estimate future asset returns and 
should reflect the average rate of long-term earnings 
on assets already invested.

Management’s selection of the discount rate is based on 
the current rate of return for high quality, fixed-income 
investments with maturities matching the payment of 
pension benefits that could be purchased to settle the 
obligations. The recent decline in the interest rate on 
high-quality corporate bonds has resulted in a lower dis-
count rate in 2004.  Of the three key assumptions, the 
discount rate is generally the most volatile and sensitive 
estimate.  Accordingly, a change in this assumption would 
have the most significant impact on the annual expense.

Management’s selection of the rate of increase in future 
compensation levels is generally based on the Corporation’s 
historical salary increases, including cost of living adjust-
ments and merit and promotion increases, giving con-
sideration to any known future trends.  A higher rate of 
increase will result in a higher pension expense.

Management’s selection of the expected long-term rate 
of return on pension fund assets is based on the historical 
long-term rates of return for investments in a similar mix 
of assets.  Given that these returns are long-term, there 
are generally not significant fluctuations from year to year.  
A higher expected rate of return will result in a lower 
pension expense.
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Assumptions are selected on December 31 for the succeeding 
year’s expense.  For the 2004 pension expense, the assump-
tions selected at December 31, 2003, were as follow:

Discount rate      6.25%
Rate of increase in future compensation levels 5.00%
Expected long-term rate of return on assets 8.25%

Using these assumptions, the 2004 pension expense was 
$11.5 million.  A change in the assumptions would have 
had the following impact on the 2004 expense:

• A change of 25 basis points in the discount rate would have 
changed 2004 expense by approximately $1.2 million.

• A change of 25 basis points in the expected long-term 
rate of return on assets would have changed the 2004 
expense by approximately $0.5 million.

For the 2005 pension expense, the assumptions selected 
were as follow:

Discount rate 6.00%
Rate of increase in future compensation levels 5.00%
Expected long-term rate of return on assets 8.25%

Using these assumptions, the 2005 pension expense is 
expected to be approximately $12.9 million based on cur-
rent demographics and structure of the plans.  Changes 
in the underlying assumptions would have the following 
estimated impact on the 2005 expense: 

• A change of 25 basis points in the discount rate would 
change the 2005 expense by approximately $1.3 million.

• A change of 25 basis points in the expected long-
term rate of return on assets would change the 2005 
expense by approximately $0.5 million.  

The recent recessionary economy and its impact on 
actual returns on assets have resulted in the Corporation’s 
pension plans being underfunded by $48.1 million at 
December 31, 2004. Although an underfunded plan 
indicates a need for cash contributions, the Employee 
Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (ERISA) and, 
more recently, Congressional changes in the timing 
and calculation of pension plan funding generally allow 
companies several years to make the required contribu-
tions.  During this period, improvements in actual returns 
on assets may decrease or eliminate the need for cash 
contributions.  The Corporation made voluntary pension 
plan contributions of $51 million in 2004 and total plan 

contributions of $21 million in 2003, of which $10 million 
was a voluntary contribution.

Estimated Effective Income Tax Rate
The Corporation uses the liability method to determine 
its provision for income taxes, as outlined in Statement of 
Financial Accounting Standards No. 109, Accounting for 
Income Taxes (“FAS 109”).  Accordingly, the annual provision 
for income taxes reflects estimates of the current liability for 
income taxes, estimates of the tax effect of book versus tax 
basis differences using statutory income tax rates and man-
agement’s judgment with respect to any valuation allow-
ances on deferred tax assets.  The result is management’s 
estimate of the annual effective tax rate (the “ETR”).

Income for tax purposes is determined through the appli-
cation of the rules and regulations under the U.S. Internal 
Revenue Code and the statutes of various state and local 
tax jurisdictions in which the Corporation conducts busi-
ness.  As prescribed by these tax regulations, as well as 
generally accepted accounting principles, the manner in 
which revenues and expenses are recognized for financial 
reporting and income tax purposes is not always the same.  
Therefore, these differences between the Corporation’s 
pretax income for financial reporting purposes and the 
amount of taxable income for income tax purposes are 
treated as either temporary or permanent depending on 
their nature.

Temporary differences reflect revenues or expenses that are 
recognized for financial reporting income in one period 
and taxable income in a different period.  Temporary dif-
ferences result from differences between the book and 
tax basis of assets or liabilities and give rise to deferred 
tax assets or liabilities (i.e., future tax deductions or future 
taxable income).  Therefore, when temporary differences 
occur, they are offset by a corresponding change in a 
deferred tax account.  As such, total income tax expense 
as reported on the Corporation’s consolidated statements 
of earnings is not changed by temporary differences.  For 
example, accelerated methods of depreciating machinery 
and equipment are often used for income tax purposes as 
compared with the straight-line method used for financial 
reporting purposes.  Initially, the straight-line method 
used for financial reporting purposes as compared with 
accelerated methods for income tax purposes will result 
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in higher current income tax expense for financial report-
ing purposes, with the difference between these methods 
resulting in the establishment of a deferred tax liability. 

The Corporation has deferred tax liabilities, primarily 
for property, plant and equipment and goodwill.  The 
deferred tax liabilities attributable to property, plant and 
equipment relate to accelerated depreciation and deple-
tion methods used for income tax purposes as compared 
to straight-line and units of production methods used for 
financial reporting purposes.  These temporary differences 
will reverse over the remaining useful lives of the related 
assets.  The deferred tax liabilities attributable to goodwill 
arise as a result of amortizing goodwill for income tax 
purposes but not for financial reporting purposes.  This 
temporary difference reverses when goodwill is written 
off for financial reporting purposes, either through divesti-
tures or an impairment charge.  The timing of such events 
cannot be estimated.

The Corporation has deferred tax assets, primarily for 
employee pension and postretirement benefits, valuation 
reserves, inventories and net operating loss carryforwards.  
The deferred tax assets attributable to pension and postre-
tirement benefits relate to deductions as plans are funded 
for income tax purposes as compared to deductions for 
financial reporting purposes that are based on accounting 
standards. The reversal of these differences will depend 
on the timing of the Corporation’s contributions to the 
related benefit plans as compared to the annual expense 
for financial reporting purposes. The deferred tax assets 
attributable to valuation reserves and inventories relate 
to the deduction of estimated cost reserves and various 
period expenses for financial reporting purposes that are 
deductible in a later period for income tax purposes. The 
reversal of these differences will depend on facts and cir-
cumstances, including the timing of deduction for income 
tax purposes for reserves previously established and the 
establishment of additional reserves for financial reporting 
purposes. At December 31, 2004, the Corporation had 
state net operating loss carryforwards of $103.2 million 
and related deferred tax assets of $6.9 million that have 
varying expiration dates.  These deferred tax assets have a 
valuation allowance of $5.7 million, which was established 
based on the uncertainty of generating future taxable 

income in certain states during the limited period that the 
net operating loss carryforwards can be carried forward.  

The Corporation’s estimated ETR reflects adjustments to 
financial reporting income for permanent differences.  
Permanent differences reflect revenues or expenses that 
are recognized in determining either financial reporting 
income or taxable income, but not both. An example 
of a material permanent difference that affects the 
Corporation’s estimated ETR is tax depletion in excess 
of basis for mineral reserves.  For income tax purposes, 
the depletion deduction is calculated as a percent of sales, 
subject to certain limitations.  As a result, the Corporation 
may continue to claim tax depletion deductions exceeding 
the cost basis of the mineral reserves, whereas the depletion 
expense for book purposes ceases once the value of the min-
eral reserves is fully amortized. The continuing depletion for 
tax purposes is treated as a permanent difference.  Another 
example of a permanent difference is goodwill established 
for book purposes from an acquisition of another company’s 
stock. This book goodwill has no basis for income tax pur-
poses.  If the goodwill is subsequently written off as a result 
of divestitures or impairment losses, the book deduction is 
treated as a permanent difference. Permanent differences 
either increase or decrease income tax expense with no off-
set in deferred tax liability, thereby affecting the ETR.

Percentage depletion allowances are the single largest 
recurring permanent deduction for the Corporation in cal-
culating taxable income.  Therefore, a significant amount 
of the financial reporting risk related to the estimated 
ETR is based on this estimate.  Estimates of the percent-
age depletion allowance are based on other accounting 
estimates such as sales and profitability by tax unit, which 
compound the risk related to the estimated ETR.   Further, 
the percentage depletion allowance may not increase or 
decrease proportionately to a change in pretax earnings. 

To calculate the estimated ETR for any year, management 
uses actual information where practicable.  Certain per-
manent and temporary differences are calculated prior to 
filing the income tax returns.  However, other amounts, 
including deductions for percentage depletion allowances, 
are estimated at the time of the provision. After estimating 
amounts that management considers reasonable under the 
circumstances, a provision for income taxes is recorded.  
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Each quarter, management updates the estimated ETR for 
the current year based on events that occur during the 
quarter.  For example, changes to forecasts of annual sales 
and related earnings, purchases and sales of business units 
and product mix subject to different percentage depletion 
rates are reflected in the quarterly estimate of the annual 
ETR.  As required by FAS 109, some events may be treated 
as discrete events and the tax impact is fully recorded in the 
quarter in which the discrete event occurs.  During 2004, 
the estimated ETR was changed in the third quarter primar-
ily to reflect the filing of the 2003 federal and state income 
tax returns that adjusted prior estimates of permanent and 
temporary differences and the evaluation of the deferred 
tax balances and the related valuation allowances.  At the 
end of the fourth quarter, certain estimates were adjusted 
to reflect actual reported annual sales and related earnings, 
filing of the remaining 2003 state income tax returns and 
any changes in permanent differences.  Historically, the 
Corporation’s adjustment of prior estimates of permanent 
and temporary differences has not been material to its 
results of operations or total tax expense.

All income tax filings are subject to examination by fed-
eral, state and local regulatory agencies, generally within 
three years of the filing date.  Since these examinations 
could result in adjustments to income tax expense, it is 
the Corporation’s policy to establish reserves for taxes 
that may become payable in future years as a result of 
an examination by the tax authorities.  Reserves for tax 
contingencies related to open years are estimated based 
upon management’s assessment of risk associated with 
differences in interpretation of the tax laws between man-
agement and the tax authorities.  These reserves contain 
estimated permanent differences and interest expense 
applied to both permanent and temporary contingen-
cies.  The tax reserves are analyzed quarterly and adjusted 
accordingly based on underlying facts and circumstances.  
The tax reserves are recorded in current income taxes pay-
able.  The Corporation’s open tax years that are subject to 
examination are 2001 through 2004, including 2000 for 
certain state and foreign tax jurisdictions.

The Corporation has established $14.2 million in reserves 
for taxes at December 31, 2004 that may become pay-
able in future years as a result of an examination by tax 

authorities.  The reserves are calculated based on probable 
exposures to additional tax payments related primarily to 
federal tax treatment of percentage depletion deductions, 
acquisition and legal entity transaction structuring and 
transfer pricing; and state tax treatment of federal bonus 
depreciation deductions and certain transaction gains.  If 
the open tax years are not examined by federal or state 
tax authorities, then the tax reserves will be reversed in 
the period in which the statute of limitations expires for the 
applicable tax year and recorded as a discrete event.  Of 
the total tax reserve, $6.3 million may reverse into earn-
ings, as a discrete event, during the third quarter of 2005 
if an examination of those returns is not begun within the 
statute of limitations or upon completion of an audit by 
state or federal tax authorities.  

For 2004, an estimated overall ETR of 31.2% was used 
to calculate the provision for income taxes, a portion of 
which was allocated to discontinued operations.  The esti-
mated ETR is sensitive given that changes in the rate can 
have a significant impact on annual earnings.  A change 
of 100 basis points in the estimated ETR would affect the 
2004 tax provision expense by $1.9 million.

The American Jobs Creation Act of 2004, signed by the 
President on October 22, 2004, enacted a variety of new 
business tax incentives that will benefit a broad spectrum 
of taxpayers, including U.S. manufacturers.  The primary 
piece of the legislation that benefits the Corporation is the 
tax relief for U.S. based manufacturing activities.  This tax 
benefit, the Production Activities Deduction, provides for 
a nine percent deduction (fully-phased in over five years) 
for a very broadly defined category of domestic production 
activities, subject to certain limitations. The Corporation 
estimates the production deduction benefit of the legisla-
tion will reduce income tax expense by approximately $1.0 
million to $2.0 million in 2005, subject to further technical 
interpretations to be issued in 2005.

Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment is a critical accounting pol-
icy due to the net balance representing 45% of total assets 
at December 31, 2004.  Useful lives of the assets can vary 
depending on factors including production levels, porta-
bility and maintenance practices.  Additionally, inclement 
weather can reduce the useful life of an asset.  Historically, 
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the Corporation has not recognized significant losses on 
the disposal or retirement of fixed assets.  

The Corporation evaluates aggregates reserves in several 
ways, depending on the geology at a particular location 
and whether the location is a potential new site (“greensite”), 
an acquisition or an existing operation. Greensites require 
a more intensive drilling program that is undertaken 
before any significant investment is made in terms of time, 
site development, or efforts to obtain appropriate zon-
ing and permitting.  The amount of overburden and the 
quality of the aggregates material are significant factors in 
determining whether to pursue opening the site.  Further, 
the estimated average selling price for products in a mar-
ket is also a significant factor in concluding that reserves 
are economically mineable.  If the Corporation’s analysis 
based on these factors is satisfactory, the total aggregates 
reserves available are calculated and a determination is 
made whether to open the location.

Reserve evaluation at existing locations is typically per-
formed to evaluate purchasing adjoining properties and, 
for quality control, calculating overburden volumes and 
mine planning.  Reserve evaluation of acquisitions may 
require a higher degree of sampling to locate any problem 
areas that may exist and to verify the total reserves.  The 
fact that these operating locations exist is indicative that 
the initial investment has already been made and that 
average selling price data is available.  

Well-ordered subsurface sampling of the underlying 
deposit is basic to determining reserves at any location.  
This subsurface sampling usually involves one or more 
types of drilling, determined by the nature of the material 
to be sampled and the particular objective of the sam-
pling.  The Corporation’s objectives are to insure that the 
underlying deposit meets aggregate specifications and the 
total reserves on site are sufficient for mining.  Locations 
underlain with hard rock deposits, such as granite and 
limestone, are drilled using the diamond core method, 
which provides the most useful and accurate samples of 
the deposit.  Selected core samples are tested for sound-
ness, abrasion resistance and other physical properties 
relevant to the aggregates industry.  The number of holes 
and their depth are determined by the size of the site and 

the complexity of the site-specific geology.  Geological 
factors that may affect the number and depth of holes 
include faults, folds, chemical irregularities, clay pockets, 
thickness of formations and weathering.  A typical spac-
ing of core holes on the area to be tested is one hole for 
every four acres, but wider spacing may be justified if the 
deposit is homogeneous.  

Locations underlain with sand and gravel are typically 
drilled using the auger method, whereby a 6-inch cork-
screw brings up material sampled from below.  Deposits 
in these locations are typically limited in thickness, and 
the quality and quantity of the deposit can vary both 
horizontally and vertically.  Hole spacing at these loca-
tions is approximately one hole for every acre to ensure a 
representative sampling.   

The geologist conducting the reserve evaluation makes 
the decision as to the number of holes and the spacing.  
Further, the estimated size of the deposit, based on U.S. 
geological maps, also dictates the number of holes used.

The generally accepted reserve categories for the aggre-
gates industry and the designations the Corporation uses 
for reserve categories are summarized as follows:

Proven Reserves – These reserves are designated using 
closely spaced drill data as described above and a 
determination by a professional geologist that the 
deposit is homogeneous based on the drilling results 
and exploration data provided in U.S. geologic maps, 
the U.S. Department of Agriculture soil maps, aerial 
photographs, and/or electromagnetic, seismic, or other 
surveys conducted by independent geotechnical engi-
neering firms. The proven reserves that are recorded 
reflect losses incurred during quarrying that result from 
leaving ramps, safety benches, pillars (underground), 
and the fines (small particles) that will be generated 
during processing.  The Corporation typically assumes 
a loss factor of 25%.  However, the assumed loss fac-
tor at coastal operations is approximately 50% due 
to the nature of the material.  The assumed loss fac-
tor for underground operations is 35% due to pillars. 
Proven reserves are reduced by reserves that are under 
the plant and stockpile areas, as well as setbacks from 
neighboring property lines.  
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Probable Reserves – These reserves 
are inferred utilizing fewer drill holes 
and/or assumptions about the eco-
nomically mineable reserves based 
on local geology or drill results from 
adjacent properties.

The Corporation’s proven and prob-
able reserves recognize reasonable 
economic and operating constraints 
as to maximum depth of overburden 
and stone excavation, and also include 
reserves at the Corporation’s inac-
tive and undeveloped sites, including 
some sites where permitting and zon-
ing applications will not be filed until 
warranted by expected future growth.  
The Corporation has historically been 
successful in obtaining and maintain-
ing appropriate zoning and permitting.

The Corporation expenses all exploration costs until prov-
en or probable reserves are established.  Mineral reserves, 
when acquired in connection with a business combina-
tion, are valued at the present value of royalty payments, 
using a prevailing market royalty rate that would have 
been incurred if the Corporation had leased the reserves 
as opposed to fee-ownership for the life of the reserves, 
not to exceed twenty years.

The Corporation uses proven and probable reserves as 
the denominator in its units-of-production calculation to 
amortize fee ownership mineral deposits.  During 2004, 
depletion expense was $6.0 million.

Inventory Standards
The Corporation values its finished goods inventories 
under the first-in, first-out methodology, using standard 
costs that are updated annually during the fourth quarter.  
For quarries, the standards are developed using produc-
tion costs for a twelve-month period, in addition to 
complying with the principle of lower of cost or market 
and adjusting, if necessary, for normal capacity levels and 
abnormal costs.  For sales yards, in addition to produc-
tion costs, the standards include a freight component for 
the cost of transporting the inventory from a quarry to 

the sales yard and materials handling 
costs.  Preoperating start-up costs are 
expensed and are not capitalized as 
part of inventory costs.  These stan-
dards are generally used to determine 
inventory values for the succeeding 
year.  

In periods in which production costs 
have changed significantly from the 
prior period, the updating of stan-
dards can have a significant impact on 
the Corporation’s operating results.

Liquidity and Cash Flows

Operating Activities
The primary source of the Corporation’s 
liquidity during the past three years has 
been cash generated from its operat-

ing activities.  Cash provided by its operations was $266.8 
million in 2004, as compared with $277.2 million in 2003 
and $203.6 million in 2002.  These cash flows were derived, 
substantially, from net earnings before deduction of certain 
noncash charges for depreciation, depletion and amortization 
of its properties and intangible assets.  Depreciation, depletion 
and amortization were as follow:

years ended December 31
(add 000)  2004  2003  2002______________________________________________________ 
Depreciation $ 121,477 $ 126,829 $ 125,817
Depletion  6,019  6,261  6,109
Amortization  5,363  6,516     6,770  ______  _________  _________ 
Total $ 132,859 $ 139,606 $ 138,696  ______  _________  _________   ______  _________  _________ 

The decrease of $10.3 million in cash provided by operat-
ing activities in 2004 as compared with 2003 was, among 
other things, due to the Corporation making contribu-
tions of $51.2 million to its pension plan in 2004, com-
pared with $21.1 million in 2003, both of which reduced 
operating cash flow.  During 2003, cash was positively 
affected by a significant reduction in inventory levels.  
During 2004, a reduction in accounts receivable as a 
result of a focus on collection and an increase in accounts 
payable due to timing of capital purchases both positively 
contributed to cash flow.    

$266.8

$252.9

$212.9
$203.6

$277.2

Operating  
Cash Flow

‘00 ‘01 ‘02 ‘03 ‘04

(in millions)

Source: Corporation data
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The increase in cash provided by operating activities in 
2003 as compared with 2002 of $73.6 million was, among 
other things, due to working capital control measures 
implemented in 2003 that resulted in a reduction of 
inventories and relatively flat accounts receivable despite 
an increase in net sales.  These provided a net source of 
cash compared with a use of cash in 2002.  Additionally, 
while 2003 earnings before the cumulative effect of the 
accounting change were comparable to 2002, the 2003 
earnings included a pretax gain on divestitures and the 
sale of assets of $4.4 million, compared with $24.2 million 
in 2002.  In accordance with generally accepted account-
ing principles, these gains on divestitures are deducted 
from earnings in determining net cash provided by oper-
ating activities.  Further, the 2002 divestitures included 
the write-off of nondeductible goodwill, which resulted 
in higher income tax payments in 2002.  Accounts pay-
able were a source of funds in 2003 compared with a use 
of funds in 2002.  These factors were partially offset by 
a $21.1 million increase in pension plan contributions in 
2003 compared with the prior year.  

Investing Activities
Net cash used for investing activities was $123.3 million in 
2004, $99.8 million in 2003 and $102.9 million in 2002.

The increase in 2004 as compared with 2003 was the 
result of increased capital expenditures related to plant 
modernization and mobile fleet expansion.  Additions to 
property, plant and equipment, excluding acquisitions, 
increased to $163.4 million in 2004 from $120.6 mil-
lion in 2003.  2002 capital expenditures were $152.7 
million.  Additionally, in 2004, the Corporation entered 
into operating leases with commitments of $7.4 million, 
primarily for mobile equipment in the ordinary course of 
business.  The obligations for these operating leases are 
included under the section Contractual and Off Balance 
Sheet Obligations on pages 63 and 64. Spending for prop-
erty, plant and equipment, exclusive of acquisitions, is 
expected to approximate $195.0 million in 2005.

The Corporation used $5.6 million in 2004 and $8.6 million 
in 2003 primarily for the purchase of the remaining inter-
est in a limited liability company in each year.  In 2002, 
the Corporation used $48.0 million for six acquisitions.  All 
acquisitions have been Aggregates division related.  The 

Corporation’s acquisition and capital expenditures reflect 
planned strategic and capital spending activities that are 
consistent with management’s strategy for investment and 
expansion within the consolidating aggregates industry.  

Proceeds from divestitures of assets include the cash from the 
sale of surplus land and equipment and primarily the divesti-
tures of several Aggregates division operations.  The divesti-
tures contributed pretax cash of $45.7 million, $29.5 million 
and $97.7 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Financing Activities
$107.0 million, $66.8 million and $109.7 million of cash 
was used for financing activities during 2004, 2003 and 
2002, respectively.  

The Corporation repaid net indebtedness of $1.1 mil-
lion in 2004 and $29.9 million in 2003, both excluding 
the impact of the interest rate of swaps.  In 2002, the 
Corporation repaid indebtedness of $74.7 million.  Net 
cash from financing activities excludes the debt obliga-
tions assumed in connection with acquisitions of $7.5 
million in 2002, which are reflected under the section 
Investing Activities on this page.

In May 2003, the Corporation terminated the interest rate 
swap agreements entered into in May 2002 and received a 
cash payment of $12.6 million, which represented the fair 
value of the swaps on the date of termination.  Additional 
information is contained in Note G to the audited consoli-
dated financial statements on pages 23 and 24.

In 2004, the Board of Directors approved total cash 
dividends on the Corporation’s common stock of $0.76 a 
share.  Regular quarterly dividends were authorized and 
paid by the Corporation at a rate of $0.18 a share for the 
first and second quarters and at a rate of $0.20 a share for 
the third and fourth quarters.  Total cash dividends were 
$36.5 million in 2004 and $33.7 million in 2003.

During 2004, the Corporation continued its common 
stock repurchase plan through open market purchases 
pursuant to authority granted by its Board of Directors.  
In 2004, the Corporation repurchased 1,522,200 shares 
at an aggregate price of $74.6 million as compared with 
331,100 shares at an aggregate price of $15.0 million in 
2003.  There were no shares repurchased in 2002.
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During 2004, the Corporation issued stock under its 
stock-based award plans, providing $3.8 million in cash.  
Comparable cash provided by issuance of common stock 
was $1.0 million and $0.6 million in 2003 and 2002, 
respectively.  The Corporation did not issue any shares of 
common stock for acquisitions in 2004 and 2003.  During 
2002, the Corporation issued approximately 244,300 
shares of common stock for acquisitions. 

Capital Structure and Resources
Long-term debt, including current maturities of long-
term debt and commercial paper, decreased to $714.6 
million at the end of 2004, from $718.1 million at the 
end of 2003.  The Corporation’s debt at December 31, 
2004 was principally in the form of publicly issued long-
term, fixed-rate notes and debentures.  The fair value of 
the interest rate swaps in effect, $1.0 million and $1.4 
million at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively, 
is included in the long-term debt balance.  Additionally, 
the unamortized portion of unwound swaps, $9.3 mil-
lion and $11.4 million, is included in the December 31, 
2004 and 2003 balance, respectively.  Net of available 
cash, which includes escrowed cash, and the effect of 
interest rate swaps, the Corporation’s debt-to-capitalization 
ratio was 32% at December 31, 2004 as compared 
with 34% at December 31, 2003 and is calculated as 
follows:  

December 31  
(add 000)    2004  2003______________________________________________________ 
Total Debt   $  714,631 $ 718,141
  Adjusted for:
 Effect of fair value of interest rate swaps  (10,235)  (12,830)
 Net cash in banks    (152,093)  (113,869)
 Cash held in escrow    (7,520)  (10,440)______________________________________________________ 
Adjusted debt    544,783  581,002
Shareholders’ equity    1,153,427  1,129,847______________________________________________________ 
Total capital   $ 1,698,210 $ 1,710,849________________________ 
Debt-to-capital capitalization, net 
  of available cash    32%  34%________________________ 
In May 2003, the Corporation terminated its interest rate 
swap agreements and received a cash payment of $12.6 
million, which represented the fair value of the swaps on 
the date of termination.  The Corporation also received 
accrued interest of $2.1 million, which represented the 
difference in the interest rate between the fixed interest 

received and the variable interest paid from the previous 
interest payment date to the termination date.  In accordance 
with generally accepted accounting principles, the 
carrying amount of the related Notes on the date of ter-
mination, which includes adjustments for changes in the 
fair value of the debt while the swaps were in effect, will 
be accreted back to its par value over the remaining life 
of the Notes.  The accretion will decrease annual interest 
expense by approximately $2 million until the maturity of 
the Notes in 2008.

In August 2003, the Corporation entered into new inter-
est rate swap agreements related to $100 million of the 
$200 million in principal amount of 5.875% Notes due 
in 2008.  The Corporation receives a fixed annual interest 
rate of 5.875% and pays a variable annual interest rate 
based on six-month LIBOR plus 1.50%.  The swap agree-
ments terminate concurrently with the maturity of the 
Notes.  The Corporation is required to record the fair value 
of the swap agreements and the change in the fair value 
of the related Notes in its consolidated balance sheet.  In 
accordance with accounting guidance, no net gain or loss 
is recorded for the change in fair values of the swap agree-
ments or the Notes.  At December 31, 2004, the fair value 
of the swap agreements was $1.0 million.

Shareholders’ equity increased to $1.153 billion at 
December 31, 2004 from $1.130 billion at December 31, 
2003.  The Corporation had a minimum pension liabil-
ity at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.  This 
liability resulted from unfavorable investment returns on 
pension plan assets in 2002, 2001 and 2000, coupled 
with a decrease in the discount rate.  In accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles, a direct charge 
to shareholders’ equity of $0.3 million and $1.3 million 
was recorded as other comprehensive loss at December 
31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

At December 31, 2004, the Corporation had $161.6 mil-
lion in cash and cash equivalents.  This cash, along with 
the Corporation’s internal cash flows and availability of 
financing resources, including its access to capital mar-
kets, both debt and equity, and its commercial paper 
program and revolving credit agreement, are expected to 
continue to be sufficient to provide the capital resources 
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necessary to support anticipated operating needs, cover 
debt service requirements, meet capital expenditures and 
discretionary investment needs and allow for payment of 
dividends for the foreseeable future.  The Corporation’s 
ability to borrow or issue securities is dependent upon, 
among other things, prevailing economic, financial and 
market conditions.

The Corporation’s senior unsecured debt has been rated 
“BBB+” by Standard & Poor’s and “A3” by Moody’s.  
The Corporation’s $275 million commercial paper pro-
gram is rated “A-2” by Standard & Poor’s and “P-2” by 
Moody’s.  In May 2004, Standard & Poor’s lowered its 
rating on the Corporation’s senior unsecured debt from 
“A-” to “BBB+”.  At the same time, Standard and Poor’s 
revised its outlook for the Corporation to stable from 
negative.  While management believes its credit ratings 
will remain at an investment-grade level, no assurance 
can be given that these ratings will remain at the above-
mentioned levels.

At December 31, 2004, the Corporation was authorized 
to repurchase up to approximately 3.8 million shares 
of its common stock for issuance under its stock award 
plans.  Management will consider repurchasing shares 
of its common stock from time to time as deemed 
appropriate.  The timing of such repurchases will be 
dependent upon availability of shares, the prevailing 
market prices and any other considerations that may, 
in the opinion of management, affect the advisability of 
purchasing the stock.

Contractual and Off Balance Sheet Obligations
In addition to long-term debt, the Corporation has a 
$275 million revolving five-year credit facility, syndicated 
through a group of commercial domestic and foreign 
banks, which supports a $275 million United States com-
mercial paper program.  The five-year agreement expires 
in August 2006 (see Note G to the audited consolidated 
financial statements on pages 23 and 24).  No borrowings 
were outstanding under the revolving credit agreement or 
commercial paper program at December 31, 2004.  

The Corporation, through its Magnesia Specialties busi-
ness, is a 50% member of a limited liability company.  
Each of the two members of the limited liability company 

has guaranteed 50% of its debt, each up to a maximum of 
$7.5 million based on repayment obligations under a loan 
facility.  At December 31, 2004, the Corporation recorded 
a liability of $4.8 million, which reflects its expected future 
contributions to the limited liability company to repay the 
debt and is included in the table of contractual obliga-
tions.  In connection with the limited liability company, 
Magnesia Specialties entered into a long-term supply 
agreement under which it will supply processed brine to 
the other member at a market rate.

At December 31, 2004, the Corporation’s recorded benefit 
obligation related to postretirement benefits totaled $58.9 
million.  These benefits will be paid from the Corporation’s 
assets.  The obligation, if any, for retiree medical payments 
is subject to the terms of the plan.

The Corporation is a minority member of an LLC whereby 
the majority member is paid preferred returns.  The 
Corporation does not have the right to acquire the 
remaining interest of the LLC until 2010.

In connection with normal, ongoing operations, the 
Corporation enters into market-rate leases for property, 
plant and equipment and royalty commitments principally 
associated with leased land.  Additionally, the Corporation 
enters into equipment rentals to meet shorter-term, non-
recurring and intermittent needs.  Amounts due under 
operating leases and royalty agreements are expensed in 
the period incurred.  Management anticipates that in the 
ordinary course of business, the Corporation will enter 
into additional operating leases for certain mobile and 
other equipment, as well as royalty agreements for land 
and mineral reserves during 2005.  

The Corporation has purchase commitments for prop-
erty, plant and equipment, which were $19.6 million 
as of December 31, 2004.  The Corporation also has 
other purchase obligations related to energy and 
service contracts, which totaled $26.7 million as of 
December 31, 2004.

In  January 2005, the Corporation repurchased 200,000 
shares of its common stock at an aggregate cost of $10.2 
million pursuant to an agreement that was entered into 
in 2004.
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The Corporation’s contractual commitments as of 
December 31, 2004 are as follow:

Notes A, G, J, L and N to the audited consolidated finan-
cial statements on pages 17 through 21; 23 and 24; 26 
through 29; 30; and 31 and 32, respectively, contain 
additional information regarding these commitments and 
should be read in conjunction with the above table.

Contingent Liabilities and Commitments
The Corporation has entered into standby letter of credit 
agreements relating to workers’ compensation and auto-
mobile and general liability self-insurance.  On December 
31, 2004, the Corporation had contingent liabilities guar-
anteeing its own performance under these outstanding 
letters of credit of approximately $24.6 million.  

In the normal course of business, at December 31, 2004, 
the Corporation was contingently liable for $129.8 million 
in surety bonds that guarantee its own performance and 
are required by certain states and municipalities and their 
related agencies.  The bonds are principally for certain 
construction contracts, reclamation obligations and min-
ing permits.  Four of these bonds, totaling $44.1 million, 
or 34% of all outstanding surety bonds, relate to specific 
performance for road projects currently underway.  The 
Corporation has indemnified the underwriting insurance 
company against any exposure under the surety bonds.  
In the Corporation’s past experience, no material claims 
have been made against these financial instruments.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures 
about Market Risk
As discussed earlier, the Corporation’s operations are highly 
dependent upon the interest rate-sensitive construc-

tion and steelmaking industries. 
Consequently, these market-
places could experience lower 
levels of economic activity in an 
environment of rising interest 
rates or escalating costs (see 
Business Environment section on 
pages 41 and 42).  Aside from 
these inherent risks from within 
its operations, the Corporation’s 
earnings are affected also by 
changes in short-term interest 
rates, as a result of its tempo-
rary cash investments, including 
money market funds and over-

night investments in Eurodollars; interest rate swaps; any 
outstanding commercial paper obligations; and defined 
benefit pension plans.

Interest Rate Swaps
In August 2003, the Corporation entered into interest 
rate swap agreements (the “Swaps”) for interest related 
to $100 million of the $200 million Notes due in 2008 to 
increase the percentage of its long-term debt that bears 
interest at a variable rate.  The Swaps are fair value hedges 
designed to hedge against changes in the fair value 
of the Notes due to changes in LIBOR, the designated 
benchmark interest rate.  The terms of the Swaps include 
the Corporation receiving a fixed annual interest rate of 
5.875% and paying a variable annual interest rate based 
on six-month LIBOR plus 1.50%.

The Corporation is required to record the fair value of 
the Swaps and the change in the fair value of the related 
Notes in its consolidated balance sheet.  In accordance 
with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 
133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging 
Activities, no gain or loss is recorded for the changes in fair 
values. At December 31, 2004, the fair market value of the 
Swaps was $1.0 million.

As a result of the Swaps, the Corporation has increased 
interest rate risk associated with changes in the LIBOR 
rate.  A hypothetical change in interest rates of 1% would 
change annual interest expense by $1.0 million and also 
change the fair market value of the debt covered by the 
Swaps by approximately $4 million.  

(add 000) Total < 1 yr. 1-3 yrs. 3-5 yrs. > 5 yrs.___________________________________________________________________________
ON BALANCE SHEET:
Long-term debt $ 704,396 $ 970 $ 126,817 $ 200,602 $ 376,007
Debt guarantee payments to LLC  4,800  1,200  2,400  1,200  —
Postretirement benefits  58,896  3,858  7,980  8,505  38,553
OFF BALANCE SHEET:
Preferred payments to LLC
  majority member  5,244  707  1,414  1,414  1,709
Operating leases  127,137  34,069  56,686  28,718  7,664
Royalty agreements  68,307  9,661  16,057  11,361  31,228
Purchase commitments
 -capital  19,621  19,621  —  —  —
Other commitments 
 -energy and services  26,765  17,176  9,589  —  —
Repurchases of common stock  10,230  10,230  —  —  —___________________________________________________________________________
Total   $ 1,025,396 $ 97,492 $ 220,943 $ 251,800 $ 455,161___________________________________
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Commercial Paper Obligations
The Corporation has a $275 million commercial paper 
program in which borrowings bear interest at a variable 
rate based on LIBOR.  At December 31, 2004, there were 
no outstanding commercial paper borrowings.

Pension Expense
The Corporation’s results of operations are affected 
by its pension expense.  Assumptions that affect this 
expense include the discount rate and, for the defined 
benefit pension plans only, the expected long-term rate 
of return on assets.  Therefore, the Corporation has inter-
est rate risk associated with these factors.  The impact 
of hypothetical changes in these assumptions on the 

Corporation’s annual pension expense is discussed in the 
section Application of Critical Accounting Policies on pages 
53 through 60.

Aggregate Interest Rate Risk  
The pension expense for 2005 is calculated based on 
assumptions selected at December 31, 2004.  Therefore, 
interest rate risk in 2005 is limited to the potential 
effect related to the interest rate swaps and outstand-
ing commercial paper.  Assuming no commercial paper 
is outstanding, which is consistent with the balance at 
December 31, 2004, the aggregate effect of a hypotheti-
cal 1% increase in interest rates would increase interest 
expense and decrease pretax earnings by $1.0 million.

Forward-Looking Statements – Safe Harbor Provisions
If you are interested in Martin Marietta Materials, Inc., stock, management recommends that, at a minimum, you read the Corporation’s 
current annual report and 10-K, 10-Q and 8-K reports to the SEC over the past year.  The Corporation’s recent proxy statement for the 
annual meeting of shareholders also contains important information.  These and other materials that have been filed with the SEC are 
accessible through the Corporation’s Web site at www.martinmarietta.com and are also available at the SEC’s Web site at www.sec.gov.   
You may also write or call the Corporation’s Corporate Secretary, who will provide copies of such reports.

Investors are cautioned that all statements in this annual report that relate to the future are forward-looking statements within the mean-
ing of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 and involve risks and uncer-
tainties, and are based on assumptions that the Corporation believes in good faith are reasonable but which may be materially different 
from actual results. Forward-looking statements give the investor our expectations or forecasts of future events.  You can identify these 
statements by the fact that they do not relate only to historical or current facts.  They may use words such as “anticipate,” “estimate,” 
“expect,” “project,” “intend,” “plan,” “believe,” and other words of similar meaning in connection with future events or future operating 
or financial performance.  Any or all of our forward-looking statements here and in other publications may turn out to be wrong.

Factors that the Corporation currently believes could cause actual results to differ materially from the forward-looking statements in this 
annual report include, but are not limited to, business and economic conditions and trends in the markets the Corporation serves; the level 
and timing of federal and state transportation funding; levels of construction spending in the markets the Corporation serves; unfavorable 
weather conditions; changes in environmental and other governmental regulations; ability to recognize increased sales and quantifiable sav-
ings from internal expansion projects; ability to successfully integrate acquisitions quickly and in a cost-effective manner and achieve antici-
pated profitability; energy costs; rail and water transportation availability and costs, and their effect on the Corporation’s ability to improve 
its margins as a result of its distribution network; continued strength in the steel industry markets served by the Corporation’s Magnesia 
Specialties business; successful development and implementation of the structural composite technological process and strategic products 
for specific market segments and market acceptance of these products; unanticipated costs or other adverse effects associated with structural 
composite revenue levels, products pricing, and cost associated with manufacturing ramp-up; the Corporation’s reevaluation of the viability 
of the Structural Composite Products business; possible disruption in commercial activities related to terrorist activity and armed conflict, 
such as reduced end-user purchases relative to expectations; and other risk factors listed from time to time found in the Corporation’s filings 
with the Securities and Exchange Commission.  Other factors besides those listed here may also adversely affect the Corporation and may 
be material to the Corporation.  The Corporation assumes no obligation to update any forward-looking statements.

For a discussion identifying some important factors that could cause actual results to vary materially from those anticipated in the for-
ward-looking statements, see the Corporation’s Securities and Exchange Commission filings including, but not limited to, the discussion 
of “Competition” in the Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition 
and Results of Operations” on pages 34 through 65 of the 2004 Annual Report and “Note A:  Accounting Policies” and “Note N:  
Commitments and Contingencies” of the “Notes to Financial Statements” on pages 17 through 21 and pages 31 and 32, respectively, of 
the audited consolidated financial statements included in the 2004 Annual Report.  



Quarter 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
First $  7,356 $14,080 $  6,685  $13,282 $ (179) $ (2,309) $ 0.00 $ (0.05)

Second 3,520 23,110 3,311  21,711 (196) (74) 0.00 (0.00)

Third 4,136 23,459 3,878 22,463 485 (309) 0.01 (0.01)

Fourth 1,963 5,097 1,916  4,267 874 (4,052) 0.01 (0.08)__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
Totals $16,975 $65,746 $15,790 $61,723 $  984 $ (6,744) $ 0.02 $ (0.14)_________________________________________

Quarter 2004 20031 2004 20031 2004 2003 2004 2003_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
First $(0.14) $(0.29) $(0.14)  $(0.29) $ 0.18 $ 0.15 $50.69 $43.84 $32.01 $26.10

Second 0.93 0.81 0.92  0.81 0.18 0.18 $47.41 $41.31 $38.05 $27.36

Third 1.12 0.93 1.11  0.93 0.20 0.18 $46.41 $41.27 $39.97 $33.10

Fourth 0.77 0.60 0.77  0.60 0.20 0.18 $53.91 $43.36 $48.00 $36.45______________________________________________________________________
Totals $ 2.68 $ 2.05 $ 2.66 $ 2.05 $ 0.76 $ 0.69_________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
Quarter 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
First $  344,871 $  310,287 $  302,211 $ 270,030 $  34,306 $ 22,717 $ (6,545) $(14,018) $ (6,545) $(20,892) 

Second 467,547 449,225 412,462 394,881 104,817 99,591 44,715 39,650 44,715 39,650

Third 503,187 494,037 445,679    433,265 110,766 103,349 54,003 45,520 54,003 45,520

Fourth 444,008 430,999 390,975 377,970 92,301 83,872 36,990 29,345 36,990 29,345____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
Totals $1,759,613 $1,684,548 $1,551,327 $1,476,146 $ 342,190 $309,529 $129,163 $100,497 $129,163 $ 93,623_________________________________________
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Q U A R T E R L Y  P E R F O R M A N C E  
(unaudited)

1 Earnings per common share are before the cumulative effect of an accounting change. In 2003, the Corporation recorded a $0.14 per basic and diluted 
share charge as the cumulative effect of adopting FAS 143.

The following presents total revenues, net sales, net earnings (loss) and earnings (loss) per diluted share attributable to discontinued operations:

 Per Common Share_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
                             Stock Prices                                      _______ ________________________________                       
 Basic Earnings Diluted Earnings Dividends  Paid High Low High Low____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

    Earnings (Loss) before  
    Cumulative Effect  
 Total Revenues Net Sales Gross Profit of Accounting Change Net Earnings (Loss)

 Total Revenues Net Sales Net Earnings (Loss) Earnings (Loss) per Diluted Share__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

(add 000, except per share)

(add 000, except per share)
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F I V E  Y E A R  S U M M A R Y

(add 000, except per share)

 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
Consolidated Operating Results
Net sales $1,551,327 $1,476,146 $1,400,386 $1,375,391 $1,211,287 
Freight and delivery revenues 208,286   208,402 188,167 197,682 170,841  
   Total revenues 1,759,613 1,684,548 1,588,553 1,573,073 1,382,128
Cost of sales, other costs and expenses 1,337,704 1,287,769 1,226,604 1,180,601 1,018,658
Freight and delivery costs 208,286  208,402 188,167 197,682 170,841 
   Cost of operations 1,545,990 1,496,171 1,414,771 1,378,283 1,189,499
 213,623 188,377 173,782 194,790 192,629
Other operating (income) and expenses, net (12,969) (7,078) (4,709) (12,077) (4,583)
Earnings from Operations 226,592 195,455 178,491 206,867 197,212
Interest expense  42,954 42,587 44,028 46,792 41,895
Other nonoperating (income) and expenses, net (1,084) 429 11,476 3,777 (3,991)
Earnings from continuing operations before taxes on income 
   and cumulative effect of change in accounting principle 184,722 152,439 122,987 156,298 159,308
Taxes on income 56,543 45,198 32,161 53,094 53,846
Earnings from continuing operations before 
   cumulative effect of change in accounting principle 128,179 107,241 90,826 103,204 105,462
Discontinued operations, net of taxes        984 (6,744) 6,989 2,158 6,565
Earnings before cumulative effect of 
    change in accounting principle 129,163 100,497 97,815 105,362 112,027
Cumulative effect of change in accounting
   for asset retirement obligations        –– (6,874) –– –– ––
Cumulative effect of change in accounting
   for intangible assets        –– –– (11,510) –– ––
Net Earnings $   129,163 $     93,623 $     86,305 $   105,362 $   112,027 
Basic Earnings Per Common Share:   
Earnings from continuing operations before cumulative  
   effect of change in accounting principle $       2.66 $         2.19 $        1.87 $         2.16 $        2.26
Discontinued operations 0.02 (0.14) 0.14 0.04 0.14
Earnings before cumulative effect of change        
   in accounting principle        2.68 2.05 2.01 2.20 2.40
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle            –– (0.14) (0.24) –– ––
Basic Earnings Per Common Share $       2.68 $         1.91 $        1.77 $         2.20 $        2.40 
Diluted Earnings Per Common Share: 
Earnings from continuing operations before cumulative  
   effect of change in accounting principle $       2.64 $         2.19 $        1.86 $         2.15 $        2.25
Discontinued operations        0.02 (0.14) 0.14 0.04 0.14
Earnings before cumulative effect of change        
   in accounting principle        2.66 2.05 2.00 2.19 2.39
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle            –– (0.14) (0.23) –– ––
Diluted Earnings Per Common Share $       2.66 $         1.91 $        1.77 $         2.19 $        2.39
Pro forma earnings, assuming nonamoritization of goodwill 
provision of FAS 142 adopted on January 1, 2000:
   Net earnings    $   124,612 $  127,094
   Earnings per diluted share    $         2.59 $        2.71
Cash Dividends Per Common Share $       0.76 $         0.69 $        0.58 $         0.56 $        0.54
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet Data  
Current deferred income tax benefits $      5,750 $     21,603 $    21,387 $    19,696 $    16,750
Current assets – other 618,503 589,048 511,782 491,949 412,277
Property, plant and equipment, net 1,065,215 1,042,432 1,067,576 1,082,189 914,072
Goodwill, net 567,495 577,586 577,449 571,186 374,994
Other intangibles, net 18,642 25,142 31,972 35,782 34,462
Other noncurrent assets 80,247 63,414 55,384 39,191 92,910
Total $2,355,852 $2,319,225 $2,265,550 $2,239,993 $1,845,465
Current liabilities – other $   202,843 $   221,683 $   200,936 $   209,765 $   154,377
Current maturities of long-term debt and commercial paper 970 1,068 11,389 4,490 45,155
Long-term debt and commercial paper 713,661 717,073 733,471 797,385 601,580
Pension and postretirement benefits 88,241 76,917 101,796 81,650 84,950
Noncurrent deferred income taxes 139,179 116,647 101,018 95,859 80,170 
Other noncurrent liabilities 57,531 55,990 33,930 28,632 15,947
Shareholders’ equity 1,153,427 1,129,847 1,083,010 1,022,212 863,286
Total $2,355,852 $2,319,225 $2,265,550 $2,239,993 $1,845,465
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MARTIN MARIETTA AGGREGATES 
Raleigh, North Carolina

Stephen P. Zelnak, Jr., President 
Philip J. Sipling, Executive Vice President 
Donald M. Moe, Senior Vice President 

MIDEAST DIVISION 
Raleigh, North Carolina

NORTHWEST DIVISION 
Des Moines, Iowa

MARTIN MARIETTA MAGNESIA SPECIALTIES, LLC 
Raleigh, North Carolina

MARTIN MARIETTA COMPOSITES, INC. 
Raleigh, North Carolina 

SOUTHEAST DIVISION 
Atlanta, Georgia

SOUTHWEST DIVISION 
San Antonio, Texas

P R I N C I P A L  O P E R A T I N G  E L E M E N T S
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Standing (left to right):
Janice K. Henry
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial 
Officer and Treasurer

Jonathan T. Stewart
Senior Vice President, Human Resources

Stephen P. Zelnak, Jr.
Chairman, Board of Directors 
President and Chief Executive Officer

Philip J. Sipling
Executive Vice President

Anne H. Lloyd
Vice President, Controller and  
Chief Accounting Officer

Seated (left to right)
David S. Watterson
Vice President and Chief 
Information Officer

Roselyn R. Bar
Vice President, General Counsel  
and Corporate Secretary 

Daniel G. Shephard
Senior Vice President, Business 
Development 

C O R P O R A T E  D I R E C T O R Y :  Corporate Officers

C O R P O R A T E  D I R E C T O R Y :  Operating Officers

Front Row (left to right)
Daniel G. Shephard
Senior Vice President and Regional Vice President,  
MidAmerica Region

J. Michael Pertsch
Senior Vice President and President, Southeast Division

Middle Row (left to right)
Donald M. Moe
Senior Vice President and President, Carolina Division

Robert C. Meskimen
Senior Vice President and President, Northwest Division

Back Row (left to right)
Bruce A. Vaio
Senior Vice President and President, Southwest Division

George S. Seamen
Vice President, Operations Services and Regional  
Vice President, MidAtlantic Region
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Stephen P. Zelnak, Jr.
Chairman, Board of Directors 
President and Chief Executive Officer
Martin Marietta Materials, Inc.

Mr. Zelnak has served as President and  
CEO of Martin Marietta Materials since 
1993. In 1997, the Board of Directors  
elected Mr. Zelnak Chairman of the Board. 

Mr. Zelnak joined Martin Marietta Corporation in 1981 and has 
been responsible for the Aggregates operations since 1982. He 
served as president of the Materials group from 1992 until the 
formation of Martin Marietta Materials in 1993. Mr. Zelnak is also a 
Director of Beazer Homes USA, Inc.

Marcus C. Bennett
Retired Executive Vice President and  
Chief Financial Officer
Lockheed Martin Corporation

Mr. Bennett served as Executive Vice President 
and Chief Financial Officer of Lockheed Martin 
Corporation from July 1996 until his retire-
ment on January 31, 1999. He continues to 

be a Director of Lockheed Martin Corporation, a position he has held 
since March 1995. Lockheed Martin Corporation is a technology 
company engaged in the research, design, development, manufac-
ture and integration of advanced technology systems, products and 
services. From March 1995 until July 1996, he served as Senior Vice 
President and Chief Financial Officer of Lockheed Martin Corporation 
and from 1988 until 1995 he served as Vice President and Chief 
Financial Officer of Martin Marietta Corporation. He also served as 
a Director of Martin Marietta Corporation from 1993 to 1995. Mr. 
Bennett joined Martin Marietta Corporation in 1959. 

William E. McDonald
Retired Senior Vice President,  
Customer Service Operations
Sprint Corporation

Mr. McDonald served as Senior Vice President, 
Customer Service Operations, of Sprint 
Corporation until his retirement on October 
13, 2000. He was previously President and 

Chief Executive Officer of Sprint Mid-Atlantic Operations from 
1993 through 1997 and President and Chief Executive Officer 
for Sprint/United Telephone-Eastern from 1988 to 1993. Sprint 
Corporation provides telecommunications services for individuals, 
businesses and local telephone services.

Sue W. Cole
Regional Chief Executive Officer
Mid-Atlantic Region
U.S. Trust Company, N.A.

Ms. Cole is Regional Chief Executive Officer 
for the Mid-Atlantic Region of U.S. Trust 
Company, N.A., which provides investment 
and wealth management services for per-

sonal and corporate clients. She is also a Director of Unifi, Inc., the 
world’s largest producer and processor of textured yarn, headquar-
tered in North Carolina. Ms. Cole was the 2003-2004 Chair of the 
North Carolina Citizens for Business and Industry, the state’s major 
business association.

Frank H. Menaker, Jr.
Senior Vice President and General Counsel
Lockheed Martin Corporation

Mr. Menaker has served as Senior Vice 
President and General Counsel of Lockheed 
Martin Corporation since July 1996. He 
served as Vice President and General 
Counsel of Lockheed Martin Corporation 

from March 1995 to July 1996, as Vice President of Martin 
Marietta Corporation from 1982 until 1995 and as General 
Counsel of Martin Marietta Corporation from 1981 until 1995. 
Lockheed Martin Corporation is a technology company engaged in 
the research, design, development, manufacture and integration of 
advanced technology systems, products and services. 

C O R P O R A T E  D I R E C T O R Y :  Board of Directors

Laree E. Perez
Managing Partner
The Medallion Company, LLC

Ms. Perez is the Managing Partner in The 
Medallion Company, LLC, an investment 
management company. She also serves on 
the Board of Directors of Reliant Energy.   
From February 1996 until September 2002,  

she was Vice President of Loomis, Sayles & Company, L.P. Ms. 
Perez was co-founder of Medallion Investment Company, Inc. and 
served as President and Chief Executive Officer from November 
1991 until it was acquired by Loomis Sayles in 1996.
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EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

Mr. Zelnak, Chairman
Mr. Bennett 
Mr. McDonald 
Mr. Reed

FINANCE COMMITTEE

Mr. Sansom, Chairman
Mr. Bennett 
Mr. Rediker 
Mr. Vinroot 
Mr. Zelnak

C O R P O R A T E  D I R E C T O R Y :  Board of Directors

William B. Sansom
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
The H. T. Hackney Co.

Mr. Sansom has served as the Chairman and 
Chief Executive Officer of The H.T. Hackney 
Co. since May 1983. The H.T. Hackney Co. is 
a wholesale distributor of consumer goods. 
During 1979 to 1983, he served in Tennessee 

State Government, first as Commissioner of Transportation and 
then as Commissioner of Finance and Administration.

He has also previously served on the Board of Directors of the 
National Crushed Stone Association. Mr. Sansom is a Director of First 
Tennessee National Corporation and Astec Industries, Inc.

Richard A. Vinroot
Partner
Robinson, Bradshaw & Hinson, P.A.

Mr. Vinroot has been a member of the law 
firm of Robinson, Bradshaw & Hinson, P.A. in 
Charlotte, North Carolina since 1969. 

From 1991 to 1995, Mr. Vinroot served as 
Mayor of Charlotte, North Carolina.

Dennis L. Rediker
President and Chief Executive Officer 
The Standard Register Company

Mr. Rediker has served as President and Chief 
Executive Officer of The Standard Register 
Company since June 2000. The Standard 
Register Company provides data manage-
ment solutions ranging from document man-

agement to fulfillment services to consulting and e-business solutions 
for a variety of industries. Prior to joining The Standard Register 
Company in 2000, he was Chief Executive Officer of English China 
Clay. Mr. Rediker also currently serves as Volunteer Chairman of the 
National Composites Center.

James M. Reed
Retired Vice Chairman and  
Chief Financial Officer
Union Camp Corporation

Mr. Reed served as Chief Financial Officer of 
Union Camp Corporation from 1977 and as 
Vice Chairman of the Board of Union Camp 
Corporation from 1993 until his retirement 

on November 30, 1997.  Union Camp Corporation (now merged 
with International Paper Company) is a worldwide provider of 
paper, packaging and forestry products.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Bennett, Chairman
Ms. Cole 
Ms. Perez 
Mr. Menaker 
Mr. Reed 
Mr. Sansom

ETHICS, ENVIRONMENT, SAFETY  
AND HEALTH COMMITTEE

Mr. Menaker, Chairman
Ms. Perez 
Mr. Rediker 
Mr. Sansom 
Mr. Vinroot

C O R P O R A T E  D I R E C T O R Y :  Board Committees 

MANAGEMENT DEVELOPMENT  
AND COMPENSATION COMMITTEE

Mr. McDonald, Chairman
Ms. Cole 
Mr. Reed 

NOMINATING AND CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

Mr. Reed, Chairman
Ms. Cole 
Mr. McDonald



INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

Ernst & Young LLP 

3200 Beechleaf Court 

Raleigh, North Carolina  27604-1063

CORPORATE HEADQUARTERS

2710 Wycliff Road 

Raleigh, North Carolina  27607-3033 

Telephone: (919) 781-4550

INVESTOR RELATIONS

Martin Marietta Materials’ press releases and filings 

with the Securities and Exchange Commission  

can be accessed via the Corporation’s Web site.

Telephone: (919) 783-4658 

Email: investors@martinmarietta.com 

Web site Address: www.martinmarietta.com

CORPORATE CODE OF ETHICS

Martin Marietta Materials’ Code of Ethics and 

Standards of Conduct booklet is posted on the 

Corporation’s Web site, www.martinmarietta.com.

CERTIFICATIONS

The Corporation has filed with the Securities and 

Exchange Commission as Exhibits to its latest Annual 

Report on Form 10-K Section 302 Certifications 

made by the Corporation’s Chief Executive Officer 

and Chief Financial Officer regarding the quality of the 

Corporation’s public disclosure. The Corporation 

has also submitted to the New York Stock Exchange 

a certification made by the Corporation’s Chief 

Executive Officer regarding compliance with the 

Exchange’s corporate governance listing standards.

Photography by: Patrick H. Corkery 
  Peter Damroth
  Michael Back

G E N E R A L  I N F O R M A T I O N

NOTICE OF PROXY

A formal notice of the Annual Meeting of Shareholders 

of the Corporation, together with a proxy, will be 

mailed to each shareholder approximately four weeks 

prior to the meeting. Proxies will be requested by the 

Board of Directors at the meeting.

ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K

Shareholders may obtain, without charge, a copy of 

Martin Marietta Materials’ Annual Report on Form 

10-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange 

Commission for the fiscal year ended December 31, 

2004, by writing to:

Martin Marietta Materials, Inc. 

Attention: Corporate Secretary  

2710 Wycliff Road 

Raleigh, North Carolina  27607-3033

TRANSFER AGENT & REGISTRAR

Wachovia Bank, N.A. 

Corporate Trust Operations 

1525 West W. T. Harris Boulevard – Bldg. 3C3 

Charlotte, North Carolina  28288-1153 

Telephone: (800) 829-8432 

www.wachovia.com/shareholderservice

Inquiries regarding your account records, issuance 

of stock certificates, distribution of dividends and 

IRS Form 1099 should be directed to Wachovia 

Bank, N.A.

COMMON STOCK

Listed: New York Stock Exchange 

Stock Symbol: MLM
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